
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Environment and Community Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date:  Thursday, 25 March 2021 

Time:  5.00 pm 

Venue:  This a virtual meeting and therefore there is no physical location for 
this meeting. 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies for Absence  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes  

 To follow 

4    Public Questions  

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment 
and City Centre 

5    Market Square Project: Consultation Draft Vision and 
Concept Design  

 Report to follow on second circulation agenda 

6    Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management 
Plan 2021-2026 (Pages 3 - 144) 

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Communities 

7    Cambridge Corn Exchange Heating System (Pages 145 - 
150) 

8    Storey's Field Centre Future Management 
Arrangements 

(Pages 151 - 
154) 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee Members: Davies 
(Chair), Collis (Vice-Chair), Barnett, Hadley, Matthews, O'Reilly, Payne and 
Summerbell 

Alternates: Gehring, McGerty, Sheil and Todd-Jones 

Executive Councillors: Massey (Executive Councillor for Transport and 
Community Safety), Moore (Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre) and Smith (Executive Councillor for 
Communities) 

 

Information for the public 

Details how to observe the Committee meeting will be published no later than 
24 hours before the meeting. 

 
Members of the public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting, 
except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items, by following 
the link to be published on the Council’s website.   
 

Any person who participates in the meeting in accordance with the Council’s 
public speaking time, is deemed to have consented to being recorded and to 
the use of those images (where participating via video conference) and/or 
sound recordings for  webcast purposes.  When speaking, members of the 
public should not disclose any personal information of any individual as this 
might infringe the rights of that individual and breach the Data Protection Act. 
  
If members of the public wish to address the committee please contact 
Democratic Services by 12 noon two working days before the meeting. 
 

For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

 Guidance for how to join virtual committees run via Microsoft Teams: 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/have-your-say-at-committee-meetings  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk 

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 

 

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/have-your-say-at-committee-meetings
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


 

 Report page no. 1       Agenda page no. 

 

Item 

CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY AND CARBON  

MANAGEMENT PLAN 2021-2026 

 

 
 
Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents a revised Climate Change Strategy covering the 

period from 2021-2026 for approval, following public consultation in 
autumn 2020. The revised strategy sets out the Council’s approach to: 
reducing its own carbon emissions; supporting residents, businesses 
and organisations in Cambridge to reduce their emissions; and helping 
the city adapt to the predicted changes in climate. The revised strategy 
builds on what the Council has achieved to date, but sets out new 
ambitions in the context of the Climate Emergency, including working 
more with residents, communities, businesses and institutions. 

 
1.2 The report also presents a new Carbon Management Plan for 2021-

2026 for approval. The Carbon Management Plan sets out in more 
detail how the Council will reduce its direct carbon emissions from its 
corporate buildings and fleet vehicles towards net zero carbon.  

To:  
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee     25/03/2021 
 
Report by:  
David Kidston, Strategy and Partnerships Manager 
Tel: 01223 457143, Email: david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

Abbey, Arbury, Castle, Cherry Hinton, Coleridge, East Chesterton, King's 

Hedges, Market, Newnham, Petersfield, Queen Edith's, Romsey, 

Trumpington, West Chesterton 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 Report page no. 2       Agenda page no. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
 

1. Approve the Council’s Climate Change Strategy for 2021-2026. 

2. Approve the Council’s Carbon Management Plan for 2021-2026. 
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The Council has had three previous Climate Change Strategies since 

2008, covering the periods 2008-2012, 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. The 
Council has also had two previous Carbon Management Plans, 
covering the periods from 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. Annual reports on 
progress in delivering actions and projects identified in these strategies 
and plans have been presented to meetings of the Environment and 
Community Scrutiny Committee.   

 
3.2 The revised Climate Change Strategy takes into account the key 

findings from public consultation and engagement on a draft framework 
for the strategy, which was agreed by the Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and City Centre at the Environment and 
Community Scrutiny Committee meeting on 1 October 2020. 

 
3.3 Consultation and engagement on the strategy has included: 
 

 5 online workshops during November 2021, which were attended by 
a total of 75 residents. 3 of the workshops focused on specific 
themes in the strategy (housing, waste and sustainable food, and 
climate change adaptation) and 2 of the workshops covered the 
strategy as a whole. Each workshop included presentations by 
Council officers and University of Cambridge experts, followed by a 
facilitated discussion with participants. 

 An online consultation survey, which was completed by 252 
residents. The key issues raised by respondents to this survey are 
summarised in Appendix 1 to this report. 

 3 “Climate Change Forum” meetings between August 2020 and 
January 2021 with local environmental groups including Cambridge 
Carbon Footprint, Transition Cambridge, Cambridge Sustainable 
Food, Carbon Neutral Cambridge, and Friends of the Earth. 

Page 4



 Report page no. 3       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 Regular meetings with Cambridge Zero (the University of 
Cambridge’s new climate change initiative) and meetings other 
University of Cambridge and Anglia Ruskin academics with climate 
change expertise. 

 A workshop with key businesses and institutions in Cambridge on 28 
January 2021. 

 Producing a net zero carbon animation, which was used to promote 
the workshops and the survey on the Council’s social media 
accounts. We also promoted the workshops and survey via all 
residents associations, members of local environmental groups, and 
to University of Cambridge staff and students.  
 

4. Implications 
 

a) Financial Implications 
 
Funding for projects included in the Carbon Management Plan comes from a 
number of different funding sources, including the Council’s Climate Change 
Fund and existing General Fund or Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
budgets for delivering services.  The Climate Change Fund was established 
in 2008 to fund measures that will reduce the carbon footprint of the Council’s 
buildings, fleet and services. The Climate Change Fund has contributed a 
total of £1.4 million to projects delivered since 2008/09.  
 
As noted in the new Carbon Management Plan, the schemes that the Council 
will need to invest in to reduce its emissions in future will potentially have a 
much higher capital cost, and the net savings on energy costs will not always 
cover the capital costs of some of the works 
 
The Council will therefore make further allocations to the Climate Change 
Fund to deliver Carbon Management Plan projects through the Council’s 
annual budget setting process. The Council will also seek Government 
funding for projects in the Carbon Management Plan, as opportunities arise. 
For example, in January 2021 the Council secured £1.7 million from the first 
round of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme for carbon reduction 
measures at Parkside Pools and Abbey Pools. 
 
The actions contained in the wider Climate Change Strategy will be funded 
through primarily through existing budgets for delivering key services. These 
fall within the General Fund or the HRA depending on the services involved. 
 

Page 5



 Report page no. 4       Agenda page no. 

 

 

We will also seek Government and other external funding sources for specific 
climate change initiatives, where this is available. For example, the 
installation of 20 electric charging points for taxis is being delivered with a 
combination of funding Government, the Greater Cambridge Partnership. In 
January 2021, we led a £2 million Cambridgeshire-wide bid to the Green 
Homes Grant Local Delivery Scheme for energy efficiency work in Council 
homes, housing association homes and private homes. 
 
In the Budget Setting Report for 2021/22, the Council committed to using a 
percentage of the Council’s reserves to invest in innovative “green 
investments” to facilitate measures to offset climate change. The Council will 
announce the percentage during the course of the coming financial year 
when we have greater certainty as to our future financial position post Covid. 
 

b) Staffing Implications 
 
Lead officers have been identified for projects in the Climate Change Strategy 
and Carbon Management Plan who have the capacity to deliver the projects 
within the stated timescales.  
 
The Climate Change Officer co-ordinates the overall delivery of the Climate 
Change Strategy and Carbon Management Plan, with support from the 
Environment Policy and Project Group, which is a corporate group that 
includes many of the lead officers. The BSR 2021/22 has provided for an 
additional Climate Change Officer post, to help progress policy, projects and 
community engagement initiatives. 
 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) of the Climate Change Strategy and 
Carbon Management Plan has been carried out and is published on the 
Council’s website: https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-
assessments  
 
The EqIA did not identify any negative equality impacts from actions and 
projects identified in the strategy.  
 

d) Environmental Implications 
 
The Climate Change Strategy and the Carbon Management Plan will have a 
high positive impact on the environment by setting out a planned approach to: 

Page 6

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-assessments


 Report page no. 5       Agenda page no. 

 

 

reducing the Council’s carbon emissions; setting high standards for residents, 
businesses and organisations to reduce their carbon emissions and manage 
climate risks; and working in partnership with, influencing and learning from 
other organisations to address the causes and effects of climate change.  
 

e) Procurement Implications 
 
Recent projects identified in the Carbon Management Plan (including  LED 
lighting installations in car parks, the Guildhall energy efficiency works and 
the programme of solar PV installations) have been delivered through the 
national REFIT 3 framework. The Council signed access agreements to allow 
it to make use of the RE-FIT framework specifically designed for energy 
performance contracting. This allowed us to access Bouygues Group PLC as 
a contractor to identify and deliver energy efficiency projects. The principle 
benefit of this arrangement is that Bouygues have guaranteed the energy 
savings predicted for the projects they have delivered for the Council (subject 
to the new equipment being managed within defined limits).  
 
In April 2020, Cambridgeshire County Council led a consortium of local 
authorities including Cambridge City Council to procure a partner for future 
energy efficiency and renewable energy schemes. Bouygues were appointed 
as the contractor through this process and will deliver future projects on an 
energy performance contracting basis.  
 
Under this agreement, the Council commissioned Bouygues to carry out a 
high-level assessment to identify measures needed to reduce carbon 
emissions from its corporate buildings to as close to net zero carbon as 
possible. The Council has also procured a number of other studies from 
different companies which have informed the Climate Change Strategy, 
including a net zero carbon study for the new Local Plan, and studies looking 
at environmental standards for the Council’s existing and new Council 
housing. 
 
The Climate Change Strategy also identifies a number of specific actions to 
ensure that climate change issues are considered as part of the Council’s 
procurement and contract management arrangements. 
 

f) Community Safety Implications 
 
The Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management Plan have minimal 
impact on Community Safety 
 

Page 7



 Report page no. 6       Agenda page no. 

 

 

5. Background papers 
 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

 Bouygues Energies and Services, 2021, Cambridge City Council Net Zero 
Carbon Assessment report. The report is published on the Council’s 
website here: https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/carbon-management-plan  

 

6. Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – Findings from public consultation and engagement on the 
draft Climate Change Strategy. 

 Appendix 2 – Climate Change Strategy 2021-2026  

 Appendix 3 – Climate Change Strategy Action Plan 2021-2026 

 Appendix 4 – Carbon Management Plan 2021-2026 
 

7. Inspection of papers 
 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact David Kidston, Strategy and Partnerships Manager, tel: 01223 
457043, email: devid.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk 
 
  

Page 8

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/carbon-management-plan
mailto:devid.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk


 Report page no. 7       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Findings from public consultation and engagement on the 
draft Climate Change Strategy 
 
Reducing carbon emissions from homes 

1. Which steps have you (or your landlord if you are renting your home) already 

taken to reduce energy usage from your homes, and which steps would you 

consider taking? (multiple choice question) 

 

 

 

2. The national Committee on Climate Change advises that to get to net zero 
carbon emissions, most homes will need to switch to renewable sources of 
heating and electricity in the future. Have you (or your landlord if you are renting 
your home) considered installing renewable energy systems in your home? 
(multiple choice question) 

 

 
 
 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Regularly switching off lights and…

Reducing temperature on the thermostat

Buying energy efficient appliances

Draught proofing windows and doors

Loft insulation

Cavity wall insulation

External insulation (where no cavities…

Other

Would not consider doing Would consider doing Already done

7%

18%

79%

73%

14%

9%

0% 10%20%30%40%50%60%70%80%90%

Replacing gas heating with
renewable heating systems (e.g.

heat pumps)

Generating renewable electricity
(e.g. solar PV, solar thermal

systems)

Would not consider doing Would consider doing Already done

Page 9



 Report page no. 8       Agenda page no. 

 

 

3. Are there any barriers or concerns that would make it difficult to reduce energy 
usage, install energy efficiency measures, or install renewable heating or energy 
systems in your home? (free text question) 
  

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

80% of respondents identified at least one 

barrier, including:  

 High cost of some measures (44% of 

respondents commented that cost was 

a barrier) 

 Viability of solar panels due to the 

shape or orientation of roofs 

 Solar panels seen as visually 

unappealing by some respondents 

 Difficulty of applying energy efficiency 

and renewable heating solutions in 

older homes, listing buildings and 

properties in conservation areas 

 Lack of information about technologies 

e.g. heat pumps 

 Availability of good, reliable renewable 

energy installers, including installers 

registered to deliver Green Homes 

Grant-funded improvements 

 Lack of knowledge of which 

green/renewable energy suppliers to 

contact - could the Council lists all the 

suppliers that supply energy from 

renewable sources? 

 Tenants whose landlords are not willing 

or able to make improvements 

 

 The Council is promoting the 

Cambridgeshire-wide Solar Together 

scheme, which enables residents to 

purchase solar PV panels and battery 

storage at significant discounts and 

from approved suppliers. 

 We will be commissioning a retrofit 

study to identify what energy efficiency 

and renewable energy and low carbon 

heating measures would need to be 

installed for different property 

archetypes in Cambridge to reach 

different carbon emissions standards. 

As part of the study, we will produce 

guidance for residents on measures 

would be most effective in different 

property types, including older homes, 

listed buildings and properties in 

conservation areas.  

 As energy suppliers and the sources of 

their supply change over time, it would 

be difficult for the Council to maintain  

up-to-date information on this. 

However, there are a number of 

commercial price comparison sites 

which provide information on different 

green energy provides and tariffs 

available.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 Report page no. 9       Agenda page no. 

 

 

4. As part of our new Climate Change Strategy, we are planning to take the actions 
listed below to help reduce carbon emissions from homes in Cambridge. Which 
ones do you think are most important? (multiple choice question) 

 

 
 

5. One of the five objectives for the Council’s current Climate Change Strategy is 
“reducing energy consumption and emissions from homes and businesses in 
Cambridge by promoting energy efficiency measures, sustainable construction, 
renewable energy sources, and behaviour change”. Do you think this should be 
retained as an objective for the Council’s new Climate Change Strategy for 2021-
2026? (multiple choice question) 

 

 
 

39%

49%

51%

63%

69%

76%

78%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Promoting the Cambridge Climate Change
Charter to residents (which identifies steps to

reduce energy usage and provides…

Promoting discounted solar PV purchase
schemes to residents

Bidding for Government funding for energy
efficiency improvements to private homes

Taking enforcement action against private
landlords if properties do not meet the
national Minimum Energy Efficiency…

Building new Council homes to high
environmental sustainability standards

Making energy efficiency improvements to
existing Council homes

Setting high environmental sustainability
standards for new homes (subject to national

planning policies)

68.9%

25.3%

3.7%
1.2% 0.8%

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 11



 Report page no. 10       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Reducing carbon emissions from transport 
 
6. Which forms of transport do you or your family use regularly? (multiple choice 

question) 
 

 
 

7. Are there any barriers or concerns that would make it difficult for you or your 
family to travel by active or lower carbon transport options, including public 
transport, cycling and walking? What are these? 

 

Comments from consultation 
survey 
 

City Council response 

Respondents identified the 

following barriers to cycling and 

walking in Cambridge: 

 Safety around cycling and 

insufficient car-free cycle 

lanes (noted by over 20% of 

respondents). 

 Poor maintenance of 

footpaths and cycle lanes 

 Vehicles obstructing 
pavements and poor road 
design 

 Secure parking for bikes 

 Heavy/bulky shopping  

 Health, disability and age 

The City Council has limited direct responsibility for 

cycling and walking infrastructure in Cambridge. The 

Council works with partners who have a direct role 

in relation to cycling and walking infrastructure, 

including the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority, Cambridgeshire County 

Council and the Greater Cambridge Partnership.  

 

The Council is one of the key partners in GCP, 

which is making major improvements to the cycling 

and walking network in Cambridge, including: public 

transport and active travel corridor schemes, 12 

cycling and walking ‘greenways’, and cross-city 

cycling routes,. These schemes include a mixture of 

off road routes and segregated cycle lanes. 

 

In recent years the Council has invested in 

increased cycling parking, both on street and in 

Council car parks, and is currently working in 

4%

6%

6%

8%

21%

29%

59%

82%

91%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%100%

Electric car (or other private vehicle)

Other

Hybrid car (or other private vehicle)

Taxi

Bus

Train

Petrol or diesel car (or other private vehicle)

Cycling

Walking

Page 12



 Report page no. 11       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation 
survey 
 

City Council response 

partnership with Cambridge County Council to 

provide 30 electric cargo bikes (with Government 

funding) for use by residents, businesses and 

organisations when transporting bulky goods. 

  

Overall, 30% of respondents 

identified at least one of the 

following barriers  

to bus and other public transport 

usage: 

 Poor frequency and reliability 

of buses 

 Long journey times for buses 

 Limited network/insufficient 

routes  

 High cost of travel by public 

transport (still cheaper to buy 

and run a car than use public 

transport) 

 Lack of multimodal transport 

 Heavy/bulky shopping  

The City Council does not have direct responsibility 

for cycling and walking infrastructure in Cambridge. 

The Council works with partners who have a direct 

role in relation to cycling and walking infrastructure, 

including the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority, Cambridgeshire County 

Council and the Greater Cambridge Partnership. 

 

The Council is a key partner in the GCP, which is 

implementing a major programme of public transport 

improvements, including:  

 

 4 public transport corridor schemes linking 

growing communities to the north, south east, 

east and west 

 Improvement schemes at Milton Road and 

Histon Road 

 improving park and ride bus connections to 

walking and cycling networks, allowing 

sustainable, multi-modal travel 

 A City Access project promoting measures to 

encourage commuters away from cars, reduce 

city centre congestion, and improve access by 

sustainable transport to the city centre and key 

employment sites 

 A Future Bus Network vision for a competitive, 

reliable future network. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 13



 Report page no. 12       Agenda page no. 

 

 

8. The national Committee on Climate Change advises that to get to net zero 

carbon emissions, most vehicles will need to be electric in the future. If you do 

not currently travel by electric or hybrid vehicle, are there any barriers that would 

discourage you or your family from switching to an electric vehicle? 

   

 
 
In addition to the list in the survey, 22% of respondents identified a number of additional 

barriers to switching to electric vehicles (EVs), including: 

 Sustainability of EVs: electricity generation, manufacture and disposal of cars and 
batteries (this issue was the most frequently raised) 

 Embedded carbon in current car (which discourages purchase of a new vehicle) 

 Recharging time 

 Lack of information on EVs, including range, costs, battery life and future taxation 

 Lack of availability of electric-only car clubs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6%

14%

22%

30%

45%

48%

60%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Running cost of electric vehicles

Not applicable – I do not drive

Other (please specify)

Range per charge of electric vehicles

Access to electric charging points at
home

Access to charging points in public
locations

Cost of purchasing electric vehicles

Page 14



 Report page no. 13       Agenda page no. 

 

 

9. As part of our new Climate Change Strategy, we are planning to take the actions 
listed below to help reduce carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge. 
Which ones do you think are most important? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26%

28%

44%

64%

64%

66%

84%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Promoting the Cambridge Climate Change Charter to
residents (which identifies steps to reduce your carbon

footprint and provides information)

Providing electric cargo bikes for use by residents,
local businesses and Council services (following a

joint bid for Government funding with Cambridgeshire
County Council)

Increasing the number of electric taxis licensed in the
city through taxi licensing requirements and installing
further electric charging points for taxis (with Council

and Government funding)

Increasing the availability of public electric vehicle
charging points, by bidding for Government funding for
on-street charging points and exploring opportunities

to provide charging points in Council car parks

Requiring electric vehicle charging points in new
developments as part of local planning policy

Considering transport issues as part of planning
policies on the location of new development

Making improvements to key bus, cycling and walking
routes through the Greater Cambridge Partnership

(which the Council is a partner in)

Page 15



 Report page no. 14       Agenda page no. 

 

 

10. One of the five objectives for the Council’s current Climate Change Strategy is 
“reducing emissions from transport by promoting sustainable transport, 
reducing car travel and traffic congestion, and encouraging behaviour change.” 
Do you think this should be retained as an objective for the Council’s new 
Climate Change Strategy for 2021-2026? 

 

 
 

 
Reducing consumption of goods, promoting sustainable food and reducing waste 

 
11.  Have you or your family considered taking any of the following steps to reduce 

consumption of goods and waste? 
 

 
 

72%

18%

7%

2% 1%

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

64%

68%

69%

75%

83%

85%

88%

94%

99%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Composting

Buying more sustainably produced food

Repairing clothes, electrical items or other goods

Buying more seasonal or locally produced food

Reducing the amount of meat we eat

Swapping, donating or selling unwanted goods

Recycling food waste

Recycling garden waste

Recycling household waste (paper, glass, cans,
plastic etc)

Already do Would consider doing Would not consider doing

Page 16



 Report page no. 15       Agenda page no. 

 

 

12. Are there any barriers or concerns that would make it difficult for you or your  
family to reduce consumption of food and other goods, or recycle waste? 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

Issues with recycling included: 

 

 Too much packaging (this was the most 

common concern) 

 Unclear recycling labelling 

 Reducing green bin collections in winter 

or insufficient green bins 

 Issues with recycling in flats, including 

lack of space in flats for multiple bins 

and lack of access to a full range of 

recycling options  

 Lack of garden/garden too small for 

composting 

 The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste 

service will work with industry bodies 

an individual businesses to reduce 

packaging and make products more re-

useable and recyclable. 

 The Council provides information on 

which materials can be recycled in 

leaflets, on its website and in 

Cambridge Matters. The Government’s 

forthcoming National Strategy on 

Recycling and Waste is likely to set out 

more consistent standards for recycling 

label nationally. 

Issues with reducing consumption 

included: 

 lack of information/advice on range of 

topics to help reduce consumption and 

waste 

 high cost of repairing and scarcity of 

repairers compared to buying new 

 

 The Council has produced a Greening 

Your Home Guide which includes 

advice on steps to reduce consumption 

and waste. As part of the new strategy 

we will revise, update and promote the 

guide. The new Cambridge Climate 

Change Charter also includes 

commitments and advice to reduce 

waste and consumption. 

 The Council has provided funding for 

Cambridge Carbon Footprint to run a 

number of repair cafes and support 

other community organisations to set 

up repair cafes. 

In relation to sustainable food, some 

respondents identified the higher cost of 

local or more seasonal and/or sustainable 

food as a barrier. 

 

 The Council recognises that some 

sustainable and local foods can be 

more expensive, and that this may 

influence consumer choices, but does 

not have any control or influence over 

prices set by producers and retailers. 

 
 
 

Page 17



 Report page no. 16       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
 

13. As part of our new Climate Change Strategy, we are planning to take the actions 
listed below to help reduce consumption of goods, promote sustainable food, 
and encourage recycling. Which ones do you think are most important? 

 

 
 

  
14. One of the five objectives for the Council’s current Climate Change Strategy is 

“Reducing consumption of resources, increasing recycling and reducing waste.” 
Do you think this should be retained as an objective for the Council’s new 
Climate Change Strategy for 2021-2026? 

 

 
 
 
 
 

34%

52%

60%

68%

72%

88%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Promoting the Cambridge Climate Change
Charter to residents

Continuing communications campaigns to
promote recycling, re-use and waste reduction

by households in Cambridge.

Working with Cambridge Sustainable Food to
promote sustainable food to residents

Reducing plastic usage and waste at events
such as the Big Weekend and Cambridge Folk

Festival

Supporting voluntary and community groups to
run repair, swap and reuse events

Providing recycling and green waste collection
services for residents

74%

22%

3% 0% 1%

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 18



 Report page no. 17       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
 
Additional comments on reducing carbon emissions in Cambridge 

 
15.  Bearing in mind the funding, powers and influence available to Cambridge City 

Council, are there any other actions that we should prioritise to help reduce 
carbon emissions from homes, transport, food and other goods, and waste in 
Cambridge? 

 
Respondents suggested a large number of additional actions that the Council could 

prioritise (many of which are outside the City Council’s control). We have summarised the 

most frequent suggestions in the table below.  

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

71 respondents suggested actions relating 

to transport, including a wide range of 

measures to support cyclists and 

pedestrians, and improve public transport. 

The most frequent suggestions were: 

 more pedestrian only areas 

 improve footpaths 

 blanket speed limit of 20mph across 

city to make all roads safe for cycling 

and walking  

 reduce city centre parking and increase 

parking charges 

 support better cycling infrastructure 

including cycle racks and cycle paths 

 expand residents parking areas across 

city 

 periodic closure of streets to motorised 

traffic 

 encourage train companies to use 

electric trains’ 

 work with Stagecoach and other bus 

operators to make all buses electric or 

hydrogen 

 Use more cargo bikes  

 Use more electric vehicles 

The City Council does not have direct 

responsibility for cycling and walking and 

public transport infrastructure in 

Cambridge. The Council works with 

partners who have a more direct role. 

 

The Council is one of the key partners in 

GCP, which is making major improvements 

to the cycling and walking network in 

Cambridge, including:  

 

 public transport and active travel 

corridor schemes.  

 4 public transport and active travel 

corridor schemes linking growing 

communities to the north, south east, 

east and west 

 12 cycling and walking ‘greenways’, 

and cross-city cycling routes. 

 Improvement schemes at Milton Road 

and Histon Road 

 improving park and ride bus 

connections to walking and cycling 

networks, allowing sustainable, multi-

modal travel 

 Investing in piloting electric buses 

 A City Access project promoting 

measures to encourage commuters 

away from cars, reduce city centre 

Page 19



 Report page no. 18       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

 Prevent motorised access to areas of 

city 

 More car free developments 

congestion, and improve access by 

sustainable transport to the city centre 

and key employment sites 

 

The Council has taken, or is taking, the 

following actions directly: 

 

 Implementing 20 mph zones on a range 

of streets across the city. 

 investing in increased cycling parking, 

both on street and in Council car parks.  

 working in partnership with Cambridge 

County Council to provide 30 electric 

cargo bikes (with Government funding) 

for use by residents, businesses and 

organisations when transporting bulky 

goods. 

 purchasing 12 electric vans and 1 

electric refuse collection vehicle (RCV) 

to date. 

 committing in June 2020 to procure 

Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) 

when replacing vans and trucks in the 

Council’s fleet (where there is a 

suitable ULEV alternative and the 

infrastructure allows) 

 seeking to replace all Refuse Collection 

Vehicles (RCVs) with low carbon 

alternatives (electric or hydrogen) at the 

point when they are due for 

replacement.  

 taking a range of actions set out in the 

Climate Change Strategy to increase 

EV charging infrastructure for residents. 

 build new Council housing 

developments with a target of less than 

one car parking space per home to 

encourage travel by walking, cycling or 

public transport, subject to individual 

development requirements. 

Page 20



 Report page no. 19       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

23 respondents suggested actions relating 

to homes and other buildings: including 

measures to support energy efficiency and 

renewables. The most frequent 

suggestions were:  

 reduce lighting and heating of public 

buildings. 

 improve doors and windows and 

increase insulation and renewables and 

on council properties. 

 encouraging home retrofits to improve 

energy efficiency. 

 work with landlords to improve energy 

efficiency of rental properties 

 use local, low embodied carbon 

materials for refurbishments. 

 new housing developments to be run 

on renewables 

The Council has taken, or is taking, a 

range of action relating to the points raised 

by respondents: 

 Through its Carbon Management Plan, 

the Council has invested £1.4m in 

carbon reduction projects to its building, 

including LED lighting installation and 

heating improvements. As part of the 

new carbon Management Plan, the 

Council has identified a number of low 

carbon heating projects. 

 Investing £4.3 million in improving 

energy efficiency of Council properties 

under previous Climate Change 

Strategies, and committing a further 

£2.5 million from 2020/21 for 

improvements. 

 Bidding for funding to retrofit private 

homes. In December 2020, we led a 

successful £3.2 million 

Cambridgeshire-wide partnership bid to 

the first round of the Government’s new 

Green Homes Grant Local Authority 

Delivery (LAD) scheme. 

 Taking enforcement action from April 

2021 against landlords and property 

managers whose properties do not 

meet the national Minimum Energy 

Efficiency Standards (MEES) for 

privately rented homes. 

 A number of recent Council housing 

development schemes have included 

renewable energy provision, including 

solar panels and heat pumps, and in 

January 20211, the Council committed 

                                      
1 For further information, see the report to the Council’s Environment and Community Services Committee: 
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s54468/HSC%20new%20programme%20update%20report
%20Jan%2021i.pdf 

Page 21

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s54468/HSC%20new%20programme%20update%20report%20Jan%2021i.pdf
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s54468/HSC%20new%20programme%20update%20report%20Jan%2021i.pdf


 Report page no. 20       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

to build homes in its new 1000 homes 

programme to Passivhaus standards, 

19 respondents suggested actions relating 

to waste and recycling, covering both 

domestic and business waste. The most 

frequent suggestions were: 

 motivate better segregation of waste by 

residents 

 set up community composting facilities 

 publish annually the amount of food 

waste sent to landfill by residents 

 better access to recycling points, for 

example for electrical goods  

 more information about recycling 

especially for visitors (both longer-stay 

students and short-stay tourists) 

 provide more waste and recycling bins 

in public places 

 

 There are two ways of motivating better 

segregation of waste by residents: 

education and physical collection of 

different items. During 2020 the Shared 

Waste Service has carried out trials of 

separate food waste collections from 

selected households to encourage 

segregation of food waste. We hope to 

be able to expand this. In addition to 

this, the service runs at least two 

campaigns a year to motivate and 

inspire resident to sort their rubbish and 

recycle, and regular reminders are sent 

via Cambridge Matters magazine about 

4 times a year. 

 The Council has previously funded 

composting workshops for residents 

through the Sustainable City Grants. 

 There are 25 recycling points across 

Cambridge providing access for a 

range of materials. Although only 4 of 

these collect electrical items at present, 

we have plans to extend this service.  

Electrical goods can be also be 

recycled at household recycling centres 

provided by Cambridgeshire County 

Council. The nearest centres to 

Cambridge are in Milton and Thriplow. 

 The Council provides list of what can 

be recycled on its website and a cut-out 

and keep guide in most editions of 

Cambridge Matters. The Council also 

runs regular communications 

campaigns on recycling issues and 

delivers an updated service leaflet to all 

households once a year, in the autumn 

to help educate the new influx of 

Page 22



 Report page no. 21       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

students, in particular, that arrive at that 

time. 

 There are litter and recycling bins at 

numerous locations across the city. If 

residents think there are not enough 

bins in a street or park, they can 

suggest a location for a new bin via the 

Council website: 

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/litter-

and-dog-bins  

11 respondents suggested actions relating 

to on communication and engagement, 

primarily around the provision of 

information on low carbon goods and 

services as well as the impact they have. 

The most frequent suggestions were: 

 carry out a behaviour change/public 

education campaign to promote 

sustainable behaviours/ways of living  

 share messages from individuals who 

are making a difference  

 awareness building campaigns on 

impact of climate change 

 provide better information/data to 

support residents in taking action 

 focus on promoting changes that will 

have the most impact on carbon 

emissions 

 host an educational eco-fair on Parkers 

Piece 

Communicating and engagement is a key 

theme of the new Climate Change 

Strategy. We will also explore innovative 

ways of communicating and engaging with 

residents and businesses to encourage 

positive behaviour change and low-carbon 

living. 

Action to date has included: 

 Using social media, Cambridge Matters 

and Open Door, and the Council 

website to highlight steps that residents 

and businesses can take.  

 Communications campaigns on specific 

issues, including recycling and reducing 

food waste.   

 Producing a Greening Your Home 

Guide to encourage low-carbon living. 

 Launching and promoting the 

Cambridge Climate Change Charter, 

which enables residents and 

businesses to calculate their carbon 

footprint, access resources and make 

specific pledges to reduce their 

emissions.  

 Producing bite-size films and 

animations, including a recent net zero 

animation  

Page 23

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/litter-and-dog-bins
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/litter-and-dog-bins


 Report page no. 22       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

 Funding voluntary and community 

groups to hold a range of community 

events to encourage home energy 

improvements, sustainable food, and 

circular economy activities.  

10 respondents suggested actions relating 

to sustainable agriculture and food. The 

most frequent suggestions were: 

 increase allotments, plant more fruit 

trees and supporting a local food 

growing culture  

 support the establishment of 

community farms 

 exclude beef and lamb from food 

served in council venues’ 

 ensure tenders for council events give 

priority to those with sustainable 

catering policy 

 

 The Council directly manages 120 

existing allotments at 8 sites, and there 

are a further 14 sites managed by 

allotment societies. The Council also 

supports meanwhile growing spaces 

and take-up of new allotments and 

community gardens in new housing 

developments to encourage residents 

to grow their own food.  

 The Sustainable Design and 

Construction Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) to encourage 

developers to incorporate food growing 

in new housing and non-residential 

development (e.g. providing fruit trees, 

roof top gardens and growing space as 

part of landscape design). 

 The Council has supported the Co-

Farm community farm, providing grant-

funding during the Covid-19 response. 

 As a district Council, we procure limited 

amounts of food (principally in 

sheltered housing schemes, and some 

community centres and leisure 

centres). Where possible, we 

incorporate sustainable food principles 

in food procurement, but we do not 

exclude meat. 

 We encourage providers at events in 

Cambridge, where we have an 

influence, to use sustainable food 

practice, where appropriate. The 

Cambridge Folk Festival has won the 

Green Festival award, and the Council 

has reviewed its approach to 

Page 24



 Report page no. 23       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

sustainability at the Big Weekend and 

Corn Exchange events. 

 
  

16. As part of our Climate Change Strategy, the City Council will seek to influence 
other organisations. What actions should other organisations (including national 
Government, local government, universities, local companies and employers) 
take to help reduce carbon emissions from homes, transport, food and other 
goods, and waste in Cambridge?  

 
Those organisations most frequently referenced included: central government, businesses 

and universities. Some respondents also suggested actions that they saw as the 

responsibility of “everyone”. 

 

Actions for central Government included: 

 incentives to drive positive change and carbon taxing to penalise high carbon 

emissions  

 set baseline and targets for every government department  

 reduce electricity costs for heating 

 funding land purchases to protect from development 

 

Actions suggested for businesses included: 

 Large companies taking responsibility and playing their part in reducing carbon 

emissions 

 Identifying a plan to reduce/eliminate fossil fuel usage for their business  

 A network of businesses and other organisations to promote joint effort and share ideas  

 Providing incentives for cycling/walking to work and working from home 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

Some respondents suggested actions 

relating to partnerships with other 

organisations: 

 Collaborate with other organisations to 

have a greater impact at city level  

 Greater collaboration with local 

authority partners to achieve 

 Cooperating and collaborating with 

businesses and institutions is a key 

theme of the new Climate Change 

Strategy. 

 Since July 2017 the Council convened 

6 meetings of a City Leaders Climate 

Change group, which brought together 

businesses, universities, public sector 

organisations and voluntary and 

Page 25



 Report page no. 24       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

economies of scale for low carbon 

projects 

 Partner with other councils to lobby 

government for funding, for example in 

relation to public transport, planning 

and building control measures to 

secure decarbonisation, and 

engagement with residents and 

businesses on decarbonisation 

 Establish an award scheme for 

sustainable local businesses 

 Establish a ‘rent-a-roof’ solar power 

scheme  

community groups to explore how 

emissions in the city can be reduced. 

We also organised a consultation 

workshop with major businesses and 

institutions on 28 January 2021 as part 

of the development of the new strategy. 

 The Council works collaboratively with 

other Councils and institutions, and will 

seek further opportunities to do so, as 

part of the new Climate Change 

Strategy. For example, we are working 

with Councils and other partners in the 

Greater Cambridge Partnership to 

deliver a range of sustainable transport 

improvements. We have previously 

worked with Councils across 

Cambridgeshire to deliver retrofit 

activities through the Green Deal, and 

have led a successful partnership bid 

for funding from the Green Homes 

Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme. 

 As part of the new strategy, we will 

collaborate with other Council through 

groups such as the UK 100 to lobby 

government collectively on climate 

change issues. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 Report page no. 25       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 
17. The Council’s current Climate Change Strategy for 2016-2021 includes an 

aspiration for the Council to be net zero carbon by 2050. This is consistent with 
the national target set by Government, and the advice of the national Committee 
on Climate Change and the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC). 

 
In February 2019, the Council declared a climate emergency. In its climate 
emergency declaration, the Council called on government, industry and 
regulators to implement the necessary changes to enable Cambridge and the 
rest of the UK to reach net zero carbon by 2030. 
 
What date do you think Cambridge should aim to reach net zero carbon by? 

 
 
 
Of the 17% of people who selected ‘other – please specify’, the most common 
responses were: 
 

 As soon as possible (4.9%) 

 2025 (4.5%) 

 I don’t know what’s realistic (1.6%) 

 The trajectory is more important (0.8%) 

 Net zero is impossible or unnecessary (0.8%) 
  

18. Why do you think Cambridge should aim to reach net zero carbon by this date? 
 

Of the 211 responses to this question, the most common were: 
 

 Time is running out, the planet/our/our children’s lives depend on it (23.9%) 

 Cambridge should be a leader (11.3%) 

 The date needs to be (or is) realistic or achievable (10.4%) 

 Because the costs of delay are too high/damage is already great (9.0%) 

64%8%

6%

2%

3%

17%

2030

2035

2040

2045

2050

Other

Page 27



 Report page no. 26       Agenda page no. 

 

 

 Cambridge has declared/it is a climate emergency (8.0%) 

 It should be easier for Cambridge than other places (individual wealth/strong 
economy/type of economy/ university/research/ innovation/etc) (7.1%) 

 Ambitious/short timescales drive faster change (5,2%) 

 Cambridge should aim high and be ambitious (3.8%) 
 
 

Managing the effects and impacts of climate change 

 
19. In addition to reducing carbon emissions, as part of the Council’s Climate 

Change Strategy, the Council will also take action to manage the predicted 

impacts of climate change on Cambridge. Which of the actions listed below do 

you think are most important?  

 

 

 
20. Bearing in mind the funding, powers and influence available to the Council, are 

there any other actions that we should take to manage the impacts of Climate 
Change in Cambridge?  

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

Many of the responses to this question 

related to increasing vegetation and 

enhancing the natural environment. The 

most common responses were: 

 plant more trees and protect trees, 

particularly so fewer are lost to 

development 

 consider re-wilding green space and 

creating sustainable ecosystems 

 The Council is implementing its tree 

strategy, which focuses on managing 

over 30,000 trees on Council land 

sustainably and protecting and 

enhancing the 210,000 trees that exist 

on private land. The Council is 

increasing the number of trees through 

tree planting activities, and has 

launched a major project to significantly 

increase the tree canopy in Cambridge. 

28%

54%

87%

89%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%100%

Providing advice to residents on how to
reduce health risks during heatwaves and

minimise flood risks

Working with Cambridgeshire County
Council and other partners to manage

climate change-related flood risks.

Exploring opportunities to manage climate
risks through policies in the new Local Plan

Increasing the number of trees and using
parks and open spaces to help regulate

temperatures.

Page 28



 Report page no. 27       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

 put more funding into parks, green 

spaces and wild places (to increase 

biodiversity) 

 plant drought resistant bedding 

 reduce/limit verge and grass cutting – 

promoting biodiversity and soil quality 

 

 The Council manages 12 Local Nature 

Reserves to protect the best wildlife 

habitats in the city, and has created 

long grass and meadow areas across 

15 acres of formal parks to create 

habitats for wildlife. 

 The Council has increased planting of 

perennial plants, which require less 

watering, on Council-owned and 

maintained parks and open spaces. 

 The Council will be using a new “cut 

and collect” machine to maintain road 

verges, which will reduce cuttings left 

on verges and improve the fertility of 

the soil for wildlife 

 

Many of the responses to this question 

related to promoting water efficiency, water 

quality and flooding. The most common 

responses were: 

 promote water efficiency measures and 

rainwater harvesting  

 catch rain runoff on sunken verges 

before draining into sewers 

 install sustainable drainage schemes 

 encourage retrofitting of green walls 
and roofs 

 tighter controls/prevention on new 

development in flood-risk areas or on 

flood plains  

 promote drought-tolerant planting 

 focus on water quality, particularly 

protecting the River Cam and the 

aquifer 

  

The current Local Plan: 

 requires major developers to prepare a 

sustainability statement which includes 

focus on efficient water use, water re-

use and recycling, and water 

management and conservation. 

 includes a water efficiency policy 

requiring new housing developments to 

meet a standard of 110 litres/person/ 

day or lower. Some developments are 

going beyond this standard using 

rainwater harvesting systems to further 

reduce potable water use.  

 Policies on surface water management 

to reduce flood risk from new 

developments, including requirements 

for Sustainable Drainage Systems 

(SuDs), permeable paving and 

surfaces, and green and brown roofs 

on all flat roofs, which can help slow 

down surface water run-off and reduce 

the risk of flooding. 

Page 29



 Report page no. 28       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Comments from consultation survey 
 

City Council response 

 Policies on flood risk to ensure that new 

developments are not at risk from 

flooding, and that they do not increase 

the risk of flooding elsewhere. 

 

Measures to increase water efficiency 

(including the potential use of communal 

rainwater harvesting/reuse schemes) are 

included in the Cambridge Sustainable 

Housing Design Guide, which sets 

standards for new Council homes and is 

promoted to private developers. 

 

The Council is also undertaking 

watercourse restoration projects to 

improve their flow and storage capacity 

and deliver wider biodiversity benefits, and 

will be delivering a major project to 

improve chalk streams.  

Some of the responses to this question 

related measures to reduce overheating in 

buildings. The most common responses 

were: 

 retrofit or replace council homes at risk 

from overheating 

 promote passive cooling 

Measures to reduce overheating are 

included in the Cambridge Sustainable 

Housing Design Guide, which sets 

standards for new Council homes and is 

promoted to private developers 

 
 

21. As part of our Climate Change Strategy, the Council will seek to influence other 
organisations. What actions should other organisations (including national 
Government, local government, universities, and businesses) take to help 
manage the impacts of climate change in Cambridge?  

 
Those organisations most frequently referenced included: central government, businesses 

and universities. Some respondents also suggested actions that they saw as the 

responsibility of “everyone”. 

 
Actions for central Government included: 

 committing to maintain flood defences 

 comprehensive strategy for heatwaves to protect vulnerable people 

 Tighter rules around removal of trees 
 

Page 30



 Report page no. 29       Agenda page no. 

 

 

Actions suggested for businesses included: 

 Landowners to plant more trees using local volunteers 
 
Actions suggested for Universities included: 

 Supporting community research into climate change issues 

 Rewilding University land, including lawns 
 
 
22. One of the five objectives for the Council’s current Climate Change Strategy is 

“Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the impacts 
of climate change.” Do you think this should be retained as an objective for the 
Council’s new Climate Change Strategy for 2021-2026? 

 
 

 

52%
35%

10%

1% 1%

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX 2 - Cambridge City Council Climate Change Strategy 2021-26 

 

Executive Summary 

 

There is clear scientific evidence that our climate is changing as a direct result of human 

activity, and the impacts of climate change are already being felt across the world.  If the 

current rate of global heating continues, the effects for humanity and biodiversity will be 

catastrophic, and the window for taking action to limit these effects is reducing rapidly.   

 

The whole world will need to change what it produces and consumes, and how, and 

Cambridge City Council is conscious of the role it can play in this global effort.  The 

Council is clear that this should be a just transition to a zero carbon world, ensuring that 

those most vulnerable and at risk from climate change are engaged and supported. 

 

Climate change has been a key priority for the Council for at least fifteen years, since 

signing the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change in 2006, and over this period we 

have delivered a wide range of projects and activities to help reduce carbon emissions. 

This strategy sets out the Council’s revised and updated approach for the Council’s work 

over the next 5 years to help mitigate climate change and build local resilience in 

Cambridge to the impacts of climate change.   

 

We have taken a thorough, evidence-based approach to this revised strategy, building on 

national research and data, and commissioning our own studies and modelling on low 

carbon homes and buildings and wider issues such as water, biodiversity and trees. 

 

Leading local action on climate change 

 

The Council is keen to play a community leadership role on climate change issues 

including through taking action to reduce our own emissions, which is where we have the 

greatest degree of control and impact. Over the past 6 years (from 2014/15 – 2019/20), 

emissions from our corporate buildings, fleet and business travel reduced by 28.9%.  

 

This reduction was partly achieved by greening of the national grid, and partly through the 

Council investing over £1.4m in 66 carbon reduction projects, including significantly 

reducing electricity usage through solar PV panels and LED lighting at 10 key buildings, 

and starting to electrify our vehicle fleet. The Council is one of the first in the UK to 

purchase an electric refuse collection vehicle, and we have introduced 12 electric vans to 

our fleet so far. 

 

In this strategy we set an ambitious target to reduce the Council’s direct carbon emissions 

from our corporate buildings (including swimming pools, office buildings, car parks, 

sheltered housing schemes, community centres, arts venues and the crematorium) our 

fleet vehicles (including vans, trucks and refuse vehicles), and business travel to net zero 

Page 33



2 
 

carbon emissions by 2030.  Some parts of the Carbon Management Plan to achieve this 

are costed and funded – others will need development and exploration in coming years. 

 

The Council can also provide community leadership by reducing carbon emissions from 

procured good and services, from property it owns (including Council homes and 

commercial properties), and by using its policy and regulatory powers (such as planning 

policy, building control and licensing) to promote high standards. 

 

While the Council can show community leadership by taking action in the areas where it 

has greatest control or influence, our direct carbon emissions account for just 1.1% of the 

total in Cambridge. The actions and choices of residents, businesses and institutions in 

Cambridge –- in relation to energy use in homes and buildings, transport, food and waste 

make the greatest contribution to carbon emissions in the city. These choices are made 

within the context of national and international governmental policies and private sector 

business models. A collective effort will therefore be needed by everyone in the city and 

beyond if we are to reach net zero carbon. 

 

Over the next 5 years, we will focus on encouraging more residents to make more choices 

and decisions with low carbon impacts through increased engagement and communication 

activities, and cooperating and collaborating with communities, businesses and institutions 

in Cambridge to develop shared solutions to climate change.  

 

While carbon emissions from Cambridge are reducing steadily (by 33% from 2005-2018), 

they need to reduce much more rapidly if the city is to make its contribution to limiting 

global temperature increases and averting the worst effects of climate change. In this 

strategy we share: 

 

a vision for Cambridge to be net zero carbon by 2030, subject to Government, 

industry and regulators implementing the necessary changes to enable the city and 

the rest of the UK to achieve this 

 

This vision recognises that it will be extremely challenging for Cambridge as a city to reach 

net zero carbon without national Government putting in place a much more ambitious 

policy framework and greater investment to drive the changes needed to reach net zero 

carbon. As part of this strategy, we will work with others, including the UK 100 grouping of 

local authorities to lobby Government for greater, more co-ordinated and more rapid 

action. For example: 

 

 Retrofitting’ private homes in Cambridge to a net zero standard could cost around 

£1.75 billion, but to date Government has only allocated £2 billion funding for the 

whole UK for the Green Homes Grant. 

 Government has announced that all new production cars will have to be electric by 

2030, but many cars on the road will still be petrol or diesel long after this, so a much 

Page 34



3 
 

earlier implementation date would needed if Cambridge (and the UK) were to be able 

to reach net zero carbon by 2030.  

 Government intervention is needed in sectors where a city council like Cambridge’s 

has little or no influence, such as aviation, shipping, agriculture and power generation. 

 

Our strategic approach, and the detailed actions within it, will continue to evolve and 

develop as more information and opportunities emerge in the coming years, not least from 

the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Climate Change Commission; Government policies 

and investments, including those arising from the COP26 inter-governmental conference; 

the Cambridge-Oxford Arc spatial framework; and our collaboration with local partners 

such as Cambridge Zero. 

 

Objectives and action 

 

Through this revised and updated strategy, we have set 6 key objectives, informed by our 

understanding of our spheres of influence, and a wide range of ambitious actions to help 

deliver them: 

 

1. Reducing carbon emissions from City Council buildings, land, vehicles and 

services  

 

Our new Carbon Management Plan 2016-2021 sets out a broad approach to reducing the 

Council’s direct carbon emissions to net zero by 2030, primarily through shifting from gas 

heating to low carbon heating in our corporate buildings, and a commitment to purchase 

ultra-low emission vehicles (vans, trucks and refuse collection vehicles) when they are due 

for replacement (where viable), which could lead to a fully electric Council fleet by 2028.   

 

In January 2021, we secured £1.7m funding from Government for a major scheme to 

install heat pumps, additional solar PV panels and other energy efficiency funding at 

Parkside Pools Abbey Pools, which will reduce carbon emissions from the Council’s 

swimming pools, which are the single biggest source of energy use on our estate, by more 

than 440 tonnes per year,. 

   

We know that some of our buildings will be extremely challenging to decarbonise, 

particularly where their site, structure and listed building status mean current low-carbon 

heating solutions may not be viable.  We will work to explore more innovative solutions 

with local partners for those hard-to-treat buildings.   

 

There may be a limit to the decarbonisation that can be achieved, and in this case we will 

seek to identify credible carbon offsetting or carbon sequestration actions to achieve net 

zero carbon. The Council has the Council committed to using a percentage of the 

Council’s reserves to invest in innovative “green investments” to facilitate measures to 

offset climate change. 

Page 35



4 
 

   

2. Reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions from homes and 

buildings in Cambridge  

 

Homes in Cambridge account for around 31% of total carbon emissions from the city1. 

Businesses and institutions are responsible for 49% of carbon emissions from the city, 

primarily from buildings. We will help reduce emissions from homes and buildings by: 

 

 Improving existing Council homes by investing £2.5 million from 2020/21 to 2022/23 to 

improve the energy efficiency of the lowest-rated Council homes. 

 Building 1000 new homes to Passivhaus standards (where technically feasible and 

subject to funding) and targeting net zero carbon standards for Council homes built 

from 2030 onwards. 

 Bidding for funding to retrofit private homes. In December 2020, we led a successful £2 

million Cambridgeshire-wide partnership bid to the Government’s new Green Homes 

Grant Local Authority Delivery (LAD) scheme, which will fund energy efficiency 

improvements to 278 properties including 66 Cambridge City Council homes. 

 Promoting group-buying schemes, such as the Cambridgeshire-wide Solar Together 

scheme, which enables Cambridge residents to purchase solar PV panels and battery 

storage at significant discounts. 

 Carrying out an innovative net zero carbon study to consider the planning policies and 

targets that would be needed to achieve net zero carbon new homes and buildings in 

the new Greater Cambridge Local Plan (subject to the constraints of the national 

planning policy framework). 

 Supporting residents to make well-informed low carbon choices about their home and 

other emissions, through the Cambridge Climate Change Charter and a broader 

engagement programme 

 Engaging and encouraging businesses to invest in their buildings through meetings, 

workshops, communications materials and the Climate Change Charter. 

 

3. Reducing carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge  

 

Transport accounted for 20% of carbon emissions in Cambridge in 2018.2 We will help 

reduce carbon emissions from transport through: 

 

 Existing regulations requiring all taxis to be Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) or 

zero emissions vehicles by 2028, which is the earliest date set by any UK Council. 

                                            
1 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and regional 
carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2018 
2 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and regional 
carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2018 

Page 36



5 
 

 Completing installation of 18 rapid and 3 fast electric charge points for taxis in 

Cambridge by 2021, with funding from Government, the Council and the Greater 

Cambridge Partnership GCP). 

 Installing electric vehicle charging points in Council car parks and property and working 

with Cambridgeshire County Council to pilot on-street charging for residents. 

 Promoting walking, cycling and the use of public transport across a range of settings 

including schools, colleges, workplaces and communities. 

 Acting as a key partner in the GCP, which is implementing a major programme of 

sustainable transport improvements, including: public transport and active travel 

corridor schemes, 12 cycling and walking ‘greenways’, cross-city cycling routes, 

improved park and ride connections, and investment in zero emission buses. 

 

4. Reducing consumption of resources, reducing waste, and increasing 

recycling in Cambridge  

 

Solid waste disposal accounts for 3.7% of carbon emissions in Cambridge, but this figure 

is much higher when taking into account the production and transport of goods which are 

ultimately thrown away. We will help reduce carbon emissions from waste by promoting a 

more circular economy based around reusing, repairing and recycling materials: 

 

 Rolling out a large-scale trial of separate food waste collections in the north of 

Cambridge and considering extending this to other areas of the city. 

 Continuing communications campaigns to encourage residents to recycle and reduce 

contamination, linking these to national campaigns and messaging. 

 Encouraging businesses to take up recycling collections and re-use food waste and 

engaging with companies to reduce packaging and make it more recyclable. 

 Supporting local voluntary groups to run community events on repairing and re-using 

goods and materials. 

 

5. Promoting sustainable food 

 

The food system as a whole accounts for between 21% and 37% of total global 

greenhouse gas emissions.3 As part of its community leadership role, the Council aims to 

work to promote sustainable food in Cambridge. We will take a range of action including: 

 

 Supporting the efforts of the Cambridge Sustainable Food Network to secure Sliver 

Award status for the city from the national Sustainable Food Cities Network. 

                                            
3 IPCC, 2019, Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate 

change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas 
fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems  

Page 37



6 
 

 Continue to fund local voluntary and community groups to deliver community events 

and activities to promote sustainable food to local communities and businesses. 

 Maintain existing occupancy rates of allotments and community gardens, support 

meanwhile growing spaces and use planning policies to secure additional food growing 

spaces in new developments. 

 Working in partnership with local voluntary and community groups to address food 

poverty, including working with Cambridge Food Poverty Alliance and Cambridge 

Sustainable Food to develop a food re-distribution hub. 

 

6. Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the 

impacts of climate change 

 

The Council has an important role to play in building the resilience of communities and 

businesses to the predicted local impacts of climate change, including water shortages, 

overheating and flooding. We will take a range of actions, including: 

 

 Implementing existing Local Plan policies on water efficiency, sustainable drainage 

systems (SuDS), and permeable paving and surfaces, and developing policies in the 

new Greater Cambridge Local Plan to manage water-supply and flood risks and 

address potential overheating in new developments. 

 Measures to increase water efficiency (including the potential use of communal 

rainwater harvesting/reuse schemes) and reduce overheating in new Council homes.  

 Developing an Environmental Management System for the Environmental Services 

activity including reducing water consumption on open spaces and public toilets. 

 Increasing the number of trees in Cambridge through tree planting activities, including 

a major tree canopy project. 

 Commissioning a biodiversity audit and developing a new Biodiversity Strategy to 

increase biodiversity at Local Nature reserves, Council land and private landholdings. 

 Making improvements to local watercourse habitats as part of the Greater Cambridge 

Chalk Stream project.  

 

In addition to these committed actions, we will continue to explore new, more complex and 

ambitious approaches to  monitoring, understanding and reducing emissions and adapting 

to change, including potentially data-led and AI projects and models such as “doughnut 

economics”.   

Most importantly, it is clear that Cambridge City Council cannot realise our vision on our 

own – all businesses, organisations and households will need to play their part – and we 

are keen to work co-operatively, collaboratively and in partnership with all those who share 

our ambition for practical joint action to deliver tangible benefit, and to lobby collectively for 

change from national and regional governments and businesses. 

Page 38



7 
 

Cambridge City Council - Climate Change Strategy 2021-2026 

 

 

Introduction 

 

Evidence of climate change 

 

The scientific evidence that the Earth’s climate is changing as a direct result of human 

activity is clear and incontrovertible. Average global temperatures reached 1 degree above 

pre-industrial (1850) levels for the first time in 2015. Temperatures have been rising most 

rapidly since the millennium, with the UN’s World Meteorological Office (WMO) identifying 

that 20 of the hottest years on record occurred during the past 22 years4. The Met Office 

has reported that the 10 hottest years in the UK since 1894 have all occurred since 20025.  

 

If the current rate of global heating continues, the effects for humanity and biodiversity will 

be catastrophic, and the window for taking action to limit these effects is reducing. At the 

twenty first session of the Conference of the Parties (COP21) to the United Nations 

Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC) in 2015 in Paris, national 

governments committed to limit global temperature increases to well below 2°C above pre-

industrial levels, and to pursue efforts to limit increase to 1.5°C 6. To achieve this, parties 

to the agreement agreed to reach net zero global emissions of greenhouse gases in the 

second half of this century.  

 

With policies currently put in place by national governments, it is projected that 

temperatures will reach about 3.0°C above pre-industrial levels by 21007. In June 2019, 

the UK Government amended the 2008 Climate Change Act to include a commitment to a 

100% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. 

 

The impacts of climate change 

 

At a global level, projected global temperature increases over the next 80 years would lead 

to mass species extinctions, food and water insecurity, further increases in extreme 

weather events, flooding of coastal cities as a result of sea levels rising, and health 

impacts such as increasing prevalence of malaria.  

 

The effects of climate change are already being felt in Cambridge. For example, 

Cambridge experienced the highest temperature ever recorded in the UK of 38.7°C during 

the July 2019 heatwave. The three most likely effects of climate change for Cambridge 

                                            
4 https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2019/02/06/last-four-years-have-hottest-record-un-says/  
5 https://www.itv.com/news/2019-07-31/uks-10-hottest-years-on-record-have-occurred-since-2002-met-office   
6 UNFCC, 2015, Paris Agreement, Article 2, p2 
7 UK Climate Change Committee. 2019, Net Zero: The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming p13 

Page 39

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2019/02/06/last-four-years-have-hottest-record-un-says/
https://www.itv.com/news/2019-07-31/uks-10-hottest-years-on-record-have-occurred-since-2002-met-office


8 
 

include8: increases in flood events; water shortages and droughts; and increased summer 

temperatures. The likely impacts of these changes include: decreases in human and non-

human health and wellbeing, damage to built and green infrastructure, and increased 

demand and costs for public services. These all create an imperative for action on the part 

of all those who have agency over energy consumption production and distribution, carbon 

emissions and mitigation and adaptation interventions. 

 

Opportunities 

 

While climate change presents very significant challenges, there are a number of 

opportunities to respond with greater impact created by recent developments: 

 

 Building on an increased public awareness and acceptance that climate change is 

occurring, and that change is needed to reduce carbon emissions. For example, a 

survey in October 2019 found that almost two-thirds of people agreed that the climate 

emergency was the biggest issue facing humankind, with only 7% disagreeing9. The 

twenty-sixth session of the Conference of the Parties (COP26) to the United Nation 

Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC in Glasgow in 2021 is likely to 

further raise public awareness and influence national policy on climate change. 

 Building on increased public awareness of the effects of climate change and the 

need to adapt to them. For example, in the context of both the climate emergency and 

Covid-19, the health and wellbeing benefits of trees, green space and other green 

infrastructure received high levels of public interest and support. 

 Sustaining the low-carbon impacts of changes in behaviour during the Covid-19 

lockdown. As the recovery from Covid-19 begins, there is potentially an opportunity to 

build on and sustain impacts such as reduced emissions from transport, increased 

home working in some sectors of the economy, and the public health benefits of 

reduced air pollution.  

 Building a green recovery from the impacts of Covid-19 and furthering the transition to 

a low carbon economy. The national Climate Change Committee notes that the 

pandemic (and measures taken to respond to it) have led to significant job losses, falls 

in GDP and drops in business investment, both in the UK and globally. This suggests 

that there is considerable spare capacity in the economy and that investing in a low 

carbon economy could help support the UK’s recovery. For example, the Committee’s 

proposed programme to retrofit buildings alone would require over 200,000 extra full-

                                            
8 Climate UK, A Summary of Climate Change Risks for East England: to coincide with the publication of the 

UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA), 2012 

9 Guardian, 2019, ‘Climate Crisis affects how majority will vote in UK election – poll’ 
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/30/climate-crisis-affects-how-majority-will-vote-in-uk-
election-poll 

Page 40

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/30/climate-crisis-affects-how-majority-will-vote-in-uk-election-poll
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/30/climate-crisis-affects-how-majority-will-vote-in-uk-election-poll


9 
 

time workers in that sector.10 Cambridge is potentially well placed to play a role in this 

transition, given the presence of Cleantech businesses and University research 

expertise and capacity in the city.  

 Falling costs of key low-carbon technologies, such as the price for electricity 

generated by offshore wind and the cost of solar PV panels and electric vehicles.  

These cost reductions are driven by scale manufacturing, investor confidence and 

‘learning-by-doing’ during deployment11.  

 Increasing national net zero carbon commitments. Since the UK Government a 

national target for net zero carbon emissions by 2050, China, the EU, Japan and South 

Korea have all announced Net Zero emissions targets for 2050 or soon after (2060 in 

the case of China). The US also recommitted to the Paris Agreement in January 2021. 

These commitments should help drive greater climate action, help demonstrate future 

markets in low-carbon products, and drive down the costs of low-carbon 

technologies12. 

 

Carbon emissions in Cambridge 

 

As shown in the charts below, the latest available carbon dioxide emissions estimates, 

produced by BEIS show that total emissions in Cambridge have declined steadily over the 

last 13 years. As shown in Figure 1, total emissions from Cambridge reduced by a third 

(33%), from 779.7 ktCO2 in 2005 to 521.5 ktCO2 in 2018.  

 

Figure 1: Total Carbon Emissions in Cambridge 2005-2018 (ktCO2)  

 

                                            
10 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p23 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/  
11 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p20 
12 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p20 

Page 41

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/


10 
 

Source: Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and 

regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 201813 

As shown in Figure 2 below, per capita emissions have reduced by 38% over the same 

period in Cambridge, from 6.6 ktCO2 to 4.1 ktCO2. The chart uses population estimates 

for Cambridge produced by Cambridgeshire County Council14, which take account of 

population growth in the city as a result of new housing development, rather than 

estimates by the Office for National Statistics, which do not.  

Figure 2: Per Capita Carbon Emissions in Cambridge 2005-2018 (ktCO2) 

 

 
Source: Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and 

regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 201815 

 

It should be noted that, while the Council, residents and partners in the city have taken a 

range of action over this period, the reduction in emissions from Cambridge (and other 

cities) in more recent years has been driven primarily by reduced use of coal in electricity 

generation and the increased use of renewable energy generation at a national level. By 

2019, 48.5% of electricity in the national grid was generated from zero carbon sources 

(wind, solar, hydro and nuclear)16, and this share is likely to increase further given planned 

investments in North Sea off-shore wind and the Government’s commitment to turn off all 

UK coal fired power stations by 2024. 

 

 

                                            
13 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-
national-statistics-2005-to-2018  
14 Cambridgeshire County Council population estimates for Cambridge can found here: 
https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/population/population-
forecasts/?geographyId=3f57b11095784e27969369a52f7854ef&featureId=E05002702 
15 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-
national-statistics-2005-to-2018  
16 https://news.sky.com/story/more-power-came-from-renewable-energy-than-fossil-fuels-in-uk-in-2019-
11898806 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/population/population-forecasts/?geographyId=3f57b11095784e27969369a52f7854ef&featureId=E05002702
https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/population/population-forecasts/?geographyId=3f57b11095784e27969369a52f7854ef&featureId=E05002702
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://news.sky.com/story/more-power-came-from-renewable-energy-than-fossil-fuels-in-uk-in-2019-11898806
https://news.sky.com/story/more-power-came-from-renewable-energy-than-fossil-fuels-in-uk-in-2019-11898806


11 
 

Sources of carbon emissions in Cambridge 

 

As shown by Figure 3 below, the carbon emissions estimates produced by BEIS suggest 

that the three main sources of emissions in 2018 in Cambridge were: 

 49% - energy consumption from industrial and commercial properties (including 

businesses, the two universities and public sector bodies such as councils, health and 

other education bodies). 

 31% - domestic sources (primarily heating, lighting and appliances in homes). 

 20% - emissions from transport (including cars and other private vehicles, goods 

traffic and public transport).  
 

Figure 3: Sources of Carbon Emissions in Cambridge in 2018 (ktCO2) – BEIS data 

 

 
Source: Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and 

regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 201817 

 

We have also used the SCATTER18 tool to provide a more detailed breakdown of 

emissions by different subsectors in Cambridge. The data is slightly different to the BEIS 

data presented above, because it includes emissions from subsectors such as aviation, 

waste disposal, electricity generation. The SCATTER inventory shows that the biggest 

contributors to carbon emissions from the industrial and commercial sector are:  

 

 23% - Institutional buildings, including the Universities, Colleges, hospitals, local 

authorities, museums, and other public organisations. 

 16% - Industrial buildings facilities and processes 

 7% - Commercial buildings and facilities 

                                            
17 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-
national-statistics-2005-to-2018  
18 SCATTER was developed by BEIS, Nottingham City Council, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
and the Tyndall Centre for Climate Research at the University of Manchester and Anthesis Group. It 
generates a local greenhouse gas emissions inventory following the Global Protocol for City-wide 
Greenhouse Gas emissions. For more information see: https://scattercities.com/   

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://scattercities.com/


12 
 

The independent national Climate Change Committee advises national Government on 

targets and delivery, and measures progress towards net zero. The Committee suggests 

that, with recent UK carbon emissions reductions coming primarily from the transition away 

from coal-fired power to renewable energy sources, future UK reductions must come from 

buildings, industry, transport, agriculture and phasing out gas-fired power.19  

 

This Cambridge City Council Climate Change Strategy focusses on reducing carbon 

emissions from the key sources of emissions in the city, including homes, institutional 

buildings, industrial and commercial buildings, transport, and waste disposal. 

 

Figure 4 – Sources of carbon emissions by subsector in Cambridge (kt CO2e) 

 

 
Source: SCATTER carbon emissions inventory for Cambridge, 2021 

 

Net zero carbon vision for Cambridge 

 

While carbon emissions from Cambridge have reduced steadily in recent years, we 

recognise they will need to reduce much more rapidly in future years to help avert the 

worst impacts of climate change, and in the context of planned future growth of the city. It 

is clear that the climate emergency requires action now to reduce global emissions. 

 

In agreeing its previous Climate Change Strategy in March 2016, the Council set an 

aspiration for the city of Cambridge to achieve net zero carbon status by 2050.  This 

timescale is consistent with: 

 

 the United Nations’ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) special report 

in 2018, which found that in order to limit global temperature increases to 1.5°C  “global 

                                            
19 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p14 

26%

23%

15%
1%

7%

13%

8%

4%

1%
1% 1%

Residential buildings

Institutional buildings and facilities

Industrial buildings and facilities

Industrial processes

Commercial buildings and facilities

Road transport

Aviation

Solid waste disposal

Electricity generation

Livestock

Waste water

Page 44



13 
 

net human-caused emissions of carbon dioxide (CO2) would need to fall by 45% from 

2010 levels by 2030, reaching ‘net zero’ around 2050.”20 

 the revised, legally-binding target for the UK to be net zero carbon by 2050 announced 

by the Government in June 2019. The current national target was informed by the 

recommendations of the UK’s independent Climate Change Committee, which found 

that 2050 was the most credible date for achieving net zero carbon emissions across 

the whole of the UK economy21. In its sixth carbon budget report, the Climate Change 

Committee recommended that, in order to achieve net zero carbon by 2050, the UK 

reduce its carbon emissions by 68% by 2030 and 78% by 2035 (from 1990 levels)22. 

 

As part of the development of this new Climate Change Strategy, we have considered the 

latest evidence on whether the Council’s net zero carbon aspiration should be revised.  

 

Figure 5 – CO2 reductions pathway in Cambridge proposed by the Tyndall Centre 

 

 
Source: Tyndall Centre, 2021, Setting Climate Commitments for Cambridge  

 

Researchers at the University of Manchester’s Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 

Research have calculated a carbon budget and a net zero carbon target for Cambridge23. 

The budget and target are based on Cambridge making a “fair” contribution to achieving 

the Commitments in the Paris Climate Change Agreement to limit global temperature 

increases to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels, and to pursue efforts to limit 

                                            
20 See: https://www.un.org/en/sections/issues-depth/climate-change/ 
21 UK Climate Change Committee, 2019, Net Zero: The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming 
22 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p13 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/  
23 Kuriakose, Jones, Anderson, Broderick & McLachlan, 2021, Setting Climate Commitments for Cambridge 
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000008/print/  

Page 45

https://www.un.org/en/sections/issues-depth/climate-change/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000008/print/


14 
 

increase to 1.5°C 24. The Tyndall Centre identifies that Cambridge would need to reach 

zero or near zero carbon emissions no later than 2043 (Figure 5 shows a 95% reduction 

by this date). It notes that this reduction would require national and local action. 

 

As part of the public consultation on this strategy, we sought residents’ views on their net 

zero carbon aspirations for the city. 77% of the 242 respondents to the public consultation 

survey felt that Cambridge should aim to be net zero carbon by 2030. 

 

Whilst this is likely to be extremely challenging (and would require a very significant step 

change in Government policy, investment and regulation), it is consistent with the council’s 

ambition as expressed in the February 2019 declaration of a Climate Emergency, in which 

the Council adopted a motion calling on Government, industry and regulators to implement 

the necessary changes to enable Cambridge and the rest of the UK to reach net zero 

carbon by 2030. 

 

To show community leadership, in this revised Strategy we are: 

 Setting a target to reduce the Council’s direct carbon emissions (from our 

corporate buildings, our vehicles and business travel) to net zero by 203025. 

 

We are also:  

 Sharing vision for Cambridge to be net zero carbon by 2030, subject to 

Government, industry and regulators implementing the necessary changes to 

enable the city and the rest of the UK to achieve this26.  

 

While the Council will play a community leadership role, and can use its policies and 

regulatory powers to influence emissions in specific sectors, this vision recognises that 

achieving net zero in Cambridge will require: 

 

 businesses, institutions and individuals in the city to make radical changes and make 

hard choices about how they do business and how they live their lives.  

 national Government to adopt much more ambitious and coordinated policies on 

climate change making much greater use of its regulatory and market-shaping powers 

and provide much greater investment in low carbon solutions.   

 

 

 

                                            
24 UNFCC, 2015, Paris Agreement, Article 2, p2 
25 Our corporate buildings are ones which the Council owns and is responsible for the energy usage, 
including swimming pools, office buildings, car parks, sheltered housing schemes, community centres, the 
Corn Exchange and the crematorium. The target does not include buildings which the Council owns but 
where tenants are responsible for the energy usage, such as Council homes and commercial properties. See 
Objective 1 for further information on the Council’s direct carbon emissions and our plans to reduce them to 
net zero 
26 This vision is consistent with the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency in February 2019 

Page 46



15 
 

Pathway to net zero carbon for the Council’s direct emissions 

 

We are taking an evidence-based approach to identify a potential pathway to net zero 

carbon, both for the Council’s direct carbon emissions and for carbon emissions from the 

city of Cambridge. 

 

With regard to the Council’s direct carbon emissions (from our corporate buildings and our 

vehicles), we: 

 have carried out a review of our fleet vehicles and committed to procure Ultra Low 

Emission Vehicles (ULEV) when replacing vans and trucks in the Council’s fleet (where 

there is a suitable ULEV alternative and the infrastructure allows).  

 will seek to replace all Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) with low carbon alternatives 

(electric or hydrogen) at the point when they are due for replacement.  

 have commissioned Bouygues to carry out a high-level study to establish what types of 

carbon reduction measures would be needed to reduce the Council’s direct carbon 

emissions to net zero carbon, and what level of capital investment would be required. 

The study focused on the 29 biggest buildings in the Council’s estate, which are 

responsible for 83.6% of total emissions from Council buildings and 63% of the 

Council’s total carbon emissions (including emissions from fleet vehicles and business 

mileage). 

 

The commitments above could lead to a fully electric Council van and truck fleet by 2028, 

and a fully electric or hydrogen fleet of Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service of RCVs 

by 2028. This would address the vast majority of direct carbon emissions from the 

Council’s vehicle fleet, which accounted for 23% of the Council’s total direct carbon 

emissions in 2019/20. There may be some residual carbon emissions from specific types 

of vehicles (such as ride-on lawn mowers) where there are currently no alternatives to 

diesel engines available in the market. 

 

The Bouygues high-level study found that it would be possible for the Council to reduce its 

direct emissions from its 29 largest buildings by 69% by 2030 and 87% by 2050, primarily 

through major capital investment in low carbon heating measures (such as Ground Source 

and Air Source Heat Pumps) where feasible, with additional LEDs, solar PV, BEMS and 

other measures at some sites. The focus on heat pumps would help switch energy 

consumption from gas (which generates high levels of carbon emissions) to electricity 

(which will progressively be decarbonised at a national level through renewable energy). 

 

The chart at Appendix A provides an indicative illustration of what the impact on the 

Council’s carbon emissions could be, if we were able to implement all the  potential carbon 

reduction measures identified by Bouygues, and assuming that these have the impact 

suggested by the modelling in the high-level study. The chart also provides an indication of 

Page 47



16 
 

how these reductions could compare with the carbon emissions pathway proposed by the 

Tyndall Centre above. 

 

The Bouygues study suggests that, while the majority of the Council’s current carbon 

emissions can be removed, it will be challenging to reach absolute zero carbon emissions 

across all the buildings in the scope of the study. This is primarily because the site, 

structure and listed status of some buildings (the Guildhall and Corn Exchange) mean that 

low-carbon heating solutions are not currently viable at these buildings, and there is likely 

to be residual gas consumption at the crematorium from the existing gas-powered 

cremators until viable, low carbon alternatives become available in the market 

 

We will actively pursue all feasible opportunities to decarbonise our buildings over the next 

10 years and have set out a range of planned projects for the next 5 years in the Council’s 

new Carbon Management Plan. However, once carbon emissions have been reduced as 

far as possible within the constraints of existing buildings, it is likely that the remaining 

carbon emissions from buildings identified through the Bouygues study will need to be 

addressed through credible carbon offsetting or carbon sequestration measures in order 

for the Council to reach net zero carbon by 2030.  

There are a range of potential carbon off-setting approaches, which we will explore in 

more detail as part of the implementation of the new Climate Change Strategy. In the 

Budget Setting Report for 2021/22, the Council committed to using a percentage of the 

Council’s reserves to invest in innovative “green investments” to facilitate measures to 

offset climate change. The Council will announce the percentage during the course of the 

coming financial year when we have greater certainty as to our future financial position 

post Covid. 

 
Developing a pathway to net zero carbon for city-wide emissions 

 

To help develop a pathway to net zero carbon for wider emissions from Cambridge, the 

Council has also commissioned a number of studies looking at how we can achieve zero 

carbon homes in Cambridge:  

 Existing Council homes – we have commissioned an exert consultancy to carry out a 

study to establish how existing Council homes could be retrofitted to meet three 

different carbon emissions standards (Local Plan Plus, Passivhaus, and net zero 

carbon). 

 New Council homes – we commissioned Buro Happold to assess the implications of 

building new Council homes to different carbon emissions standards. Based on this 

work, the Council has agreed to target the Passivhaus standard for new Council homes 

built from 2021 onwards where feasible and viable, and to target net zero carbon 

homes standards for new Council homes built from 2030 onwards.  

Page 48



17 
 

 Existing homes and buildings - we will shortly be commissioning a study to identify 

what energy efficiency and renewable energy measures would need to be retrofitted to 

different types of private homes in Cambridge to reach different carbon emissions 

standards. 

 New homes and buildings – as part of the development of the new Greater 

Cambridge Local Plan, the Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Service has 

commissioned Bioregional and Etude to carry out a net zero carbon study, which is 

considering the planning policies that would be needed to achieve net zero carbon new 

homes and buildings (subject to the constraints of the national planning policy 

framework). The first element of this study was completed in November 202027. 

We have also used the ClimateView system28 to help identify the broad changes that 

would be needed in Cambridge in different subsectors of carbon emissions (e.g. housing, 

transport, industry and waste) if the city is to reach net zero carbon. In this strategy we 

have referred to ClimateView data for Cambridge, to illustrate how different interventions 

by the Council and other stakeholders relating to housing, transport and waste could help 

the city to reach net zero carbon emissions. 

 

Unlike the BEIS carbon emissions data referred to above, which uses national data on 

carbon emissions and disaggregates this to provide an estimate of local carbon emissions, 

ClimateView provides a “bottom-up” approach.  It takes local data on housing, transport 

and waste, and uses this to model the potential impact of different interventions (e.g. 

heating homes using renewable energy sources, shifting journeys from cars to cycling, 

walking and public transport etc) on total direct carbon emissions from the city. Where 

local data is not currently available, ClimateView uses assumptions based on data from 

comparable cities.  

 

Carbon budgets for Cambridge 

 

The Tyndall Centre identifies that Cambridge would need to: 

 

 Stay within a maximum cumulative carbon budget of 3.6 million tonnes of carbon 

dioxide (MtCO2) from energy only for the period of 2020 to 2100. Limiting total carbon 

emissions in this period to this amount would enable Cambridge to achieve its share of 

the carbon budgets needed to deliver the commitments of the Paris agreement29. If 

emissions from Cambridge continue at 2017 levels, this budget would be reached by 

2027. 

                                            
27 Bioregional, 2020, Greater Cambridge Local Plan - Strategic spatial options appraisal: implications for 
carbon emissions https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/1421/gclp-strategic-spatial-options-
assessment-implications-for-carbon-emissions-nov2020.pdf 
28 https://www.climateview.global/  
29 Based on a global carbon budget of 900 GtCO2, taken from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC) Special Report 

Page 49

https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/1421/gclp-strategic-spatial-options-assessment-implications-for-carbon-emissions-nov2020.pdf
https://www.greatercambridgeplanning.org/media/1421/gclp-strategic-spatial-options-assessment-implications-for-carbon-emissions-nov2020.pdf
https://www.climateview.global/


18 
 

 Stay with a maximum cumulative carbon budget of 4.6 million tonnes of carbon 

dioxide (MtCO2) from energy only for the period of 2018 to 2100. Limiting total carbon 

emissions in this period to this amount would enable Cambridge to achieve its share of 

the current national carbon budgets set by the Climate Change Act. 4.2 MtCO2 of this 

budget would be for the period from 2018 to 2032, during which time carbon emissions 

would need to fall rapidly. 

 

This strategy sets out how the Council can provide leadership in relation to reducing 

carbon emission from the city of Cambridge. As part of the implementation of this strategy 

we will work partners to understand the implications of these suggested carbon budgets 

for the city and identify collaborative actions to reduce carbon emissions from the city. 

 

Cambridge City Council approach to tackling climate change 

 

Climate change has been a key priority for the Council for more than a decade. The 

Council made a formal commitment to tackling climate change by signing the Nottingham 

Declaration on Climate Change in September 2006 and reaffirmed this commitment by 

signing the LGA’s Climate Local commitment in 2012. In February 2019, the Council 

declared a climate emergency. 

  

The Council has produced three Climate Change Strategies to date, covering the periods 

from 2008-2012, 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. These strategies set out the Council’s 

strategic approach to reducing its own carbon footprint, and supporting residents, 

businesses and organisations in the city to reduce their emissions.  

 

We recognise the scale and urgency of the challenge. Achieving net zero carbon will 

require a step change in the Council’s approach, but it will also require much greater 

investment and regulation by Government, action by businesses across all sectors and 

significant behaviour change by residents. 

 

Community leadership and our spheres of influence 

 

It is important that the Council’s new Climate Change Strategy shows ambition and 

leadership, whilst recognising its sphere of influence and the role that other organisations 

and individuals need to play. The Council itself is only directly responsible for 1.1% of 

carbon emissions in Cambridge, so we will need to work with central Government, other 

tiers of local government, businesses, organisations and residents to reduce city-wide 

carbon emissions, including in the context of the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Climate 

Change Commission’s reports and the UK Government’s work in preparation for the 

COP26 inter-governmental conference in December 2021.   

 

The diagram on the next page (see Figure 6) illustrates the levels of influence that the 

Council has over different factors that impact on climate change. Given the varying 

Page 50



19 
 

degrees of influence highlighted in Figure 6, the Council can provide community leadership 

on climate change mitigation and adaptation issues in a number of different ways. These 

include: 

 

1. Direct action - taking action to reduce carbon emissions and adapt to climate change 

in the areas where it has most direct control or influence, including the Council’s 

corporate buildings and vehicles, and in criteria for procurement and grant funding. 

2. Property improvement - making energy efficiency improvements to Council homes 

and commercial properties, which will help reduce carbon emissions by housing and 

commercial tenants; and building new council homes to ambitious environmental 

standards. 

3. Service delivery - taking action through the services it delivers (including managing 

Council homes, planning, environmental health, and recycling and waste collection). 

4. Place-shaping – using the Council’s policy and regulatory powers (including planning 

policy, licensing, building control, and environmental health regulations) to require 

particular standards to help reduce emissions and adapt to climate change, as far as 

national policy and guidance allows. 

5. Cooperation and collaboration – working closely with partners in the city, including 

communities, businesses, voluntary groups and academics. 

6. Communicating and engaging - encouraging and support businesses and residents 

to make choices and take actions to reduce their emissions and adapt to climate 

change.  

7. Influencing - Seeking to influence policy and funding decisions by national 

Government, the CPCA and GCP, and local partners; and to encourage local partners 

and groups to join forces in making our case to Government and others.   

 

The following chapters of the strategy will set out how the Council will use this approach to 

address its key objectives on climate change. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 51



20 
 

Figure 6: Cambridge City Council’s spheres of influence in relation to climate 

change 

 

Page 52



21 
 

Influencing Government Investment and Policy on Climate Change 

 

Reaching net zero carbon in Cambridge and the UK will require the Government to lead a 

much greater national programme of investment. The independent national Climate 

Change Committee recommends that low carbon investment by Government, private 

companies and individuals must scale up to £50 billion each year to deliver Net Zero.30 The 

largest investment increases are needed for low-carbon power capacity, retrofit of 

buildings and batteries and infrastructure for electric vehicles.31 While this requires up-front 

capital investment, the Committee suggests that more efficient, low carbon technologies 

will ultimately generate significant fuel savings, which in time will cancel out the investment 

costs entirely32.  

 

There is also a need for national Government to put in place a much more ambitious policy 

framework to drive the changes needed to reach net zero carbon. The UK Climate Change 

Committee states that a net-zero carbon target “is not credible unless policy is ramped up 

significantly”33 and recommends that Government policy “must provide a clear direction to 

millions of people and businesses in the UK, shifting incentives to favour low-carbon 

options and tackling barriers to action.”34 Policies need to provide long-term clarity to 

consumers and give confidence to investors. 

 

There is a need for more significant Government investment and more ambitious policies 

in the following areas, if Cambridge and the UK are to reach net zero carbon: 

 

 Retrofitting existing private homes – The UK Climate Change Committee 

recommends that a 30-year national investment programme is needed to fully 

decarbonise the UK’s homes. Estimates of the average investment needed to fully 

decarbonise each home range from £10,00035 to £35,00036 per home. It would 

therefore cost in the order of £440 million to £1.75 billion to retrofit all 44,000 private 

properties in Cambridge to a net zero carbon standard. In autumn 2020, the 

Government made available £2 billion for the whole country to retrofit the poorest 

performing homes.  

 Electric vehicles – Government has recently introduced a requirement for all new cars 

to be electric from 2030. However, petrol and diesel cars will still be on sale for the next 

nine years, and existing polluting vehicles will continue to be on the roads long after 

                                            
30 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p13  
31 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p20  
32 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p5  
33 UK Climate Change Committee, 2019, Net Zero: The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming 
34 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p13 and p21 
35 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p23 
36 Green Alliance, 2020, Reinventing Retrofit: how to scale up home energy efficiency in the UK, page 15 
https://www.green-alliance.org.uk/resources/reinventing_retrofit.pdf – the report notes that costs of the 
Energie Sprong whole house retrofit approach could reduce to £35,000 per home by 2025 

Page 53

https://www.green-alliance.org.uk/resources/reinventing_retrofit.pdf


22 
 

this date37. A much earlier date for new car production would be needed for Cambridge 

and the rest of the UK to reach net zero carbon by 2030. The Council is taking a range 

of action to increase the number of electric vehicle charging points in Cambridge, but 

much greater national policy interventions are needed to help overcome barriers such 

as higher purchase prices and ‘range anxiety’ and to stimulate market provision of 

consistent and coherent deployment of EV infrastructure.. 

 Decarbonisation of energy generation – the national Climate Change Committee 

has recommended that UK electricity production would need to be net zero carbon by 

2035 for the UK to reach net zero by 2050.38 While significant progress has been made 

towards decarbonising electricity generation through investment in renewable energy 

sources, the Committee recommends that continued investment in offshore wind is 

needed to achieve this, growing from the Government’s promised 40GW by 2030 to 

100GW or more. Significant investment will also be needed in low carbon heating 

systems in buildings to reduce carbon emissions from gas consumption.  

 

If Cambridge and the UK is to reach net zero carbon, there is also a need for more 

ambitious Government policy and investment to drive decarbonisation of sectors of the 

economy which Councils have little or no influence over. These include:  

 

 Agriculture and food – There is a need for greater policy intervention by Government 

to reduce carbon emissions from agriculture and food. While the Council is working 

with local partners to encourage consumers and businesses in Cambridge to purchase 

sustainable, local food, as an urban district Council, we cannot directly influence, to any 

significant extent, carbon emissions from agriculture and food production, which range 

from excessive use of fossil-fuel based fertilisers and insecticides, to emissions from 

food transportation.  

 Aviation and shipping – There is a need for greater policy intervention in transport 

sectors that are regulated at the national level, such as aviation and shipping. The UK 

Climate Change Committee recommends that Government should provide support for 

the aviation sector to develop sustainable fuels, electrified planes, and limit aviation 

growth39. There is also a need for investment in carbon-capture and storage technology 

to offset sectors such as aviation and shipping which will be very hard to fully 

decarbonise. The Committee estimates that the annual costs of removing emissions 

from the atmosphere are potentially between £10 billion and £20 billion annually by 

205040.  

 Industry – the UK Climate Change Committee estimates that decarbonising UK 

industry would cost between £5 billion and £10 billion annually. While companies could 

                                            
37 Cars stay on the road an average of 14 years from their first sale to scrapping. 
https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/sustainability/average-vehicle-age/ 
38 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero  
39 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, page 30 
40 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, page 29 

Page 54

https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/sustainability/average-vehicle-age/


23 
 

make this investment and pass on some of these costs to consumers, there is a need 

for incentives to encourage the transition and financial support for companies that are 

exposed to international competition to ensure a level playing field41. 

 

The Council will seek to influence Government policy on these and other issues through 

collaborating with other Councils through partnerships such as UK 100, a network of local 

authority leaders which s campaigning on climate change issues. For example, in 

September 2020, the Council joined 23 other Council’s in supporting the UK 100’s five-

point Resilient Recovery Declaration42, which was being submitted to the Chancellor’s 

Spending Review and called for: 

  

1. A long-term government led plan to retrofit homes across the country, which are 

some of the leakiest in Europe.  

2. A new duty for Ofgem to support the delivery of Net Zero as part of a renewable, 

locally planned electricity grid. 

3. Creation of a Net Zero Development Bank to increase private investment in 

renewable technologies. 

4. A commitment to providing seamless access to electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure across the UK and to ensure the UK is world leader in developing low 

emissions vehicles.  

5. New powers for mayors and local authorities to deliver Net Zero.  

 

Cooperating and collaborating with communities, businesses and institutions  

 

While the Council will show community leadership by taking action in the areas where it 

has greatest control or influence, it is the actions and choices of residents, businesses and 

institutions in Cambridge in relation to heating, lighting and energy use in homes and 

buildings, transport, food and waste that make the greatest contribution to carbon 

emissions in the city.  

 

Over the next 5 years, the Council will focus on cooperating and collaborating with 

communities, businesses and institutions in Cambridge to develop shared solutions to 

climate change.  

 

Since July 2017 the Council convened 6 meetings of a City Leaders Climate Change 

Group, which brought together businesses, universities, public sector organisations and 

voluntary and community groups to explore how emissions in the city can be reduced. 

Through themed meetings, members of the group shared good practice, opportunities and 

challenges relating to different aspects of the climate change emergency, including 

                                            
41 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p29 
42 https://uk100.gn.apc.org/projects/resilient_recovery_taskforce  

Page 55

https://uk100.gn.apc.org/projects/resilient_recovery_taskforce


24 
 

housing, waste and the circular economy. In future we will explore opportunities to build 

citywide climate change and sustainability partnerships and deliver more collaborative 

projects and initiatives. 

 

As part of the development of the strategy, we have started the process of working more 

collaboratively with key sectors of our community, including: 

 

 Businesses – organising a consultation workshop with major businesses and 

institutions on 28 January 2021.  

 Voluntary and community groups – establishing a “Cambridge Climate Change 

Forum” with local groups including Cambridge Carbon Footprint, Transition Cambridge, 

Cambridge Sustainable Food, Carbon Neutral Cambridge, and Friends of the Earth 

and holding 3 meetings since August 2020. 

 Academics – meeting regularly with Cambridge Zero (the University of Cambridge’s 

new climate change initiative) and securing a Cambridge Zero post-doctoral intern to 

assist with the development of the strategy. 

 

Going forward we anticipate further developing these collaborative strands, and in due 

course potentially bringing them together in an annual Cambridge Climate Summit or 

similar event.  

 

A number of major institutions in Cambridge have already made commitments to reduce 

their carbon emissions. For example: 

 

 Anglia Ruskin University has committed to reduce its carbon emissions to zero by 

2045, including indirect emissions43.  

 Cambridgeshire County Council has committed to taking all 69 buildings that it owns 

or occupies off fossil fuel heating by 202344.  

 The University of Cambridge has set a Science Based Target for carbon reduction, 

committing to reduce its energy-related carbon emissions to absolute zero by 2048, 

with a steep 75% decrease on 2015 emissions by 203045. 

  

Communicating and engaging with residents and businesses 

 

The Climate Change Committee notes that, while “a large part of reaching Net Zero is a 

technological and investment challenge”, it also “requires a fundamental response from 

people: as consumers, workers, homeowners, tenants and landlords, motorists, farmers, 

citizens and families.” The Committee notes “many people can make low-carbon choices, 

                                            
43 https://aru.ac.uk/news/aru-pledges-to-cut-carbon-to-zero-by-2045  
44 https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/news/plans-to-make-carbon-reduction-one-of-councils-top-strategic-
objectives  
45 https://www.cam.ac.uk/news/university-of-cambridge-adopts-science-based-target-for-carbon-reduction  

Page 56

https://aru.ac.uk/news/aru-pledges-to-cut-carbon-to-zero-by-2045
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/news/plans-to-make-carbon-reduction-one-of-councils-top-strategic-objectives
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/news/plans-to-make-carbon-reduction-one-of-councils-top-strategic-objectives
https://www.cam.ac.uk/news/university-of-cambridge-adopts-science-based-target-for-carbon-reduction


25 
 

about how they travel, how they heat their homes, what they buy and what they eat.”46 

 

As shown by Figure 7 below, the UK Climate Change Committee has identified that 60% 

of the scenarios needed to achieve net zero carbon would require a combination of low 

carbon technologies and behavioural or societal changes.  

 

Figure 7 - Proportion of emissions reductions from technologies and 

societal/behavioural changes 

 

 
Source: UK Climate Change Committee 

 

The Council and other public sector partners have a clear role in helping to provide the 

infrastructure needed to support behaviour change towards lower carbon living, ranging 

from supporting the roll-out of electric charging infrastructure to help accelerate the switch 

to electric vehicles, to making improvements to cycling and walking routes around the city. 

However, as part of this strategy we will also explore further innovative ways of 

communicating and engaging with residents and businesses to encourage positive 

behaviour change and low-carbon living, building on the Cambridge Climate Change 

Charter that the Council commissioned Cambridge Carbon Footprint to develop. 

 

Communications and engagement methods may include: 

 Continuing to use existing corporate communications channels (e.g. social media, 

Council residents’ magazines Cambridge Matters and Open Door, and the Council 

website) to highlight steps that residents and businesses can take.   

 Continuing to promote the Cambridge Climate Change Charter47, which enables 

residents and businesses to calculate their carbon footprint, access resources and 

make specific pledges to reduce their emissions. The Council commissioned 

Cambridge Carbon Footprint (CCF) to develop the Charter, and the website was 

                                            
46 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p13 & 25  
47 For more information and to sign the Charter, please visit: https://cambridgecarbonfootprint.org/charter/ 

38%

53%

9%

Low carbon
technologies (not
requiring behaviour
change)

Measures with a
combination of low
carbon technologies
and societal behviour
change

Largely societal or
behavioural changes

Page 57

https://cambridgecarbonfootprint.org/charter/


26 
 

launched on 7 September 2020. CCF have since carried out a range of resident and 

business events to promote the Charter.  

 Producing bite-size films and animations. We recently commissioned a net zero 

animation48 to help engage residents in the public consultation on this strategy, and we 

will explore opportunities to use similar films in future to engage residents and 

encourage behaviour change. 

 Carrying out communications campaigns on specific issues. For example the Greater 

Cambridge Shared Waste service will continue to carry out communications campaigns 

with messaging linked to national campaigns such as ‘Love Food Hate Waste’. 

 Using frontline Council staff to promote key climate change messages to residents and 

businesses. For example, 3C Building Control staff visit 15,000 sites per year and can 

engage with homeowners and landlords on energy efficiency matters, while housing 

officers will be progressively visiting all Council tenants to carry out tenancy audits and 

could highlight energy and carbon reduction messages. 

 Working with voluntary and community groups to hold joint virtual and in-person 

engagement events for residents on climate change issues.  

 Promoting sources of external grant funding for climate change measures to residents 

(such as the Green Homes Grant) and businesses (such as the Eastern New Energy 

grant scheme for SMEs). 

 

We will explore the use of Citizens Assemblies and Citizens Juries on climate change at 

the national and local level to assess whether these models, or others, would be likely to 

significantly add to our understanding of the issue or secure widescale public engagement 

on climate change; and at what cost. 

 

Climate Change, social justice and “doughnut economics” 

 

Through our work to deliver this strategy, we will also explore how the “doughnut 

economics” model49 can help us build on our work with businesses, partners, academics 

and community groups to develop a shared understanding and approach to address 

climate change, and its relationship with the council’s Anti-Poverty Strategy objectives. The 

key concepts relating to doughnut economics are summarised at Appendix B. 

 

This strategy recognises and responds to social justice issues relating to climate change 

(represented by the inner ring of the doughnut). The UK Climate Change Committee 

suggests it will be essential to secure public support for a just transition to a low carbon 

future, and that this will only be possible if people and communities perceive the transition 

to be “fair”. This means that vulnerable people will needed to be supported to meet the 

costs of the transition, employees in carbon intensive industries will need to be supported 

to develop skills needed in new low carbon industries, and businesses are supported to 

                                            
48 Animation: https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/consultations/climate-change-strategy-consultation  
49 For more information on Doughnut Economics see: https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/ 

Page 58

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/consultations/climate-change-strategy-consultation
https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/


27 
 

meet the costs of the transition50. It will also be important to support vulnerable people to 

reduce risks posed by climate change, as they are likely to be most affected. 

  

We will also use the “doughnut economics” model to explore the links between climate 

change and other aspects of the “ecological ceiling” represented by the outer ring of the 

doughnut, including planning, natural capital, biodiversity net gain, and air pollution. 

 

Objectives 

 

The objectives for the Council’s action to address climate change for 2021-2026 are listed 

below.   

1. Reducing carbon emissions from City Council buildings, land, vehicles and services  

2. Reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions from homes and buildings in 

Cambridge  

3. Reducing carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge  

4. Reducing consumption of resources, reducing waste, and increasing recycling in 

Cambridge  

5. Promoting sustainable food 

6. Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the impacts of 

climate change 

 

The following sections of the strategy and the actions in the action plan set out in more 

detail how the Council will work towards these five objectives, in collaboration with local 

residents, communities, businesses and institutions. However, we recognise that this does 

not represent the complete jigsaw, and we will remain very open to learning from other 

Councils, institutions and research and building additional actions into our plan, where 

these would make a tangible difference and can be delivered within our resources, or 

those of other stakeholders.  

 

In particular this will include exploring further the following issues: 

 Carbon budgets, building on the Tyndall Centre research outlined above.  

 Science-based targets, learning from the experience of the University of Cambridge 
and others.  

 Carbon offsetting and carbon sequestration – as outlined above, exploring what the 
most viable and credible options might be, if needed, for any residual carbon emissions 
that cannot be addressed through carbon reduction measures.  

 Hydrogen as an alternative energy source, including engaging with Hydrogen East to 
develop our understanding of what may be feasible in due course in this region. 

 Community energy schemes (subject to market/regulatory/technological 

developments). 

                                            
50 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p23 

Page 59



28 
 

Objective 1 – Reducing carbon emissions from City Council buildings, land, 

vehicles and services  

 

Council direct emissions from buildings   

 

As outlined above, one of the ways that the Council can show community leadership on 

climate change is to reduce carbon emissions from the sources that it controls directly. 

These include Council buildings and land (where the Council owns the building or land and 

pays the energy bills), Council vehicles and business travel (travel by staff in their own 

vehicles for business purposes). 

 

The Council has produced two previous Carbon Management Plans, covering the periods 

from 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. Through these plans, the Council has implemented 66 

carbon reduction projects on its own buildings, land and vehicle fleet. These projects have 

been funded through a total of over £1.4m in contributions from the Council’s dedicated 

Climate Change Fund since 2008/09, as well as investment from planned maintenance 

and service budgets.   

 

Figure 8 – Percentage of total City Council Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions from 

different assets 2019/20 

 

 
 

 

Source: Cambridge City Council Greenhouse Gas Report 2019/20 

 

We have targeted carbon reduction projects in the areas of activity which contribute most 

to the Council’s emissions. As shown by Figure 8 above, in 2019/20 the largest sources of 

emissions were the Council’s 5 swimming pool and leisure facilities (26%), the council’s 

vehicle fleet (23%), sheltered housing communal areas (13%), offices and administrative 

buildings (9%), and car parks (8%). 

 

Page 60



29 
 

The 66 Carbon Management Plan projects implemented to date have included: 

 

 Solar PV installations at 11 buildings (Guildhall, Mandela House, Waterbeach Depot, 

Parkside Pools, Abbey Pools, Kings Hedges Learner Pool, the Crematorium, Buchan 

Street Neighbourhood Centre, Brandon Court, Whitefriars, and New Street Hostel). 

 A solar thermal system at Abbey Pools, which heats water for the swimming pools, 

showers and other facilities. 

 LED lighting at 10 buildings and sites (the Guildhall, Mandela House, Grand Arcade 

car park, Grafton East car park, the Corn Exchange, Abbey astroturf pitches, Stanton 

House, School Court, Rawlyn Court and Whitefriars). Motion sensors were also 

installed at many of these sites. 

 Voltage optimisation at 4 sites (the Guildhall, Mandela House, Abbey Pools and 

Grafton East car park). 

 Comprehensive energy efficiency works at the Guildhall, including a Combined Heat 

and Power plant (CHP), new Building Energy Management System (BEMS), 

mechanical works to improve the efficiency of the heating and hot water system, roof 

insulation and secondary glazing. 

 A range of different energy efficiency improvements at different swimming pools 

including: installing an air source heat pump at Kings Hedges Learner Pool, pool 

covers; Building Energy Management Systems (BEMS), Variable Speed Drives, 

refurbishment of an existing Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plant and heating units 

in the air ventilation systems. 

 Upgrading boilers at Mandela House, Abbey Pools, Cherry Hinton Village Centre, the 

Meadows Community Centre and Ross Street Community Centre to condensing 

boilers. 

 

From October 2016, the Council signed up to a green energy tariff. This means that 100% 

of the electricity used in Council buildings (except outsourced leisure centres, other than 

Parkside Pool) comes from renewable sources, which includes solar, wind and hydro/wave 

energy. In 2019/20 our green tariff saved 1,432 tonnes of CO2. However, we have not 

included this saving in our total reported carbon emissions, as Government guidance 

recommends that local authorities report gross emissions rather than net emissions. In 

future the Council will explore the potential to source lower carbon gas. 

 

We have developed a new Carbon Management Plan for 2021-2026, which sets out how 

the Council intends to reduce carbon emissions from its buildings, land and vehicles over 

the next five years. The plan identifies a list of projects to be implemented or explored 

during for the next five years and a broader approach for reaching net zero carbon 

emissions by 2030. 

 

As part of the development of the new Carbon Management Plan, we commissioned 

Page 61



30 
 

Bouygues to carry out a high-level study to establish what types of carbon reduction 

measures would be needed to reduce the Council’s direct carbon emissions from buildings 

to net zero carbon, and what level of capital investment would be required.  

 

The study focused on the 29 largest buildings in the Council’s estate, which are 

responsible for 83.6% of total emissions from Council buildings and 63% of the Council’s 

total carbon emissions (including emissions from fleet vehicles and business mileage). As 

shown by figure 9 below, the Bouygues high-level study found that it would be possible for 

the Council to reduce its direct emissions from these 29 buildings by 69% by 2030 and 

87% by 2050. 

 

Figure 9 – Bouygues estimates of potential carbon emissions reduction from City 

Council corporate buildings (compared against current baseline position) 

 

 
 

As the Council has already invested in measures to reduce electricity consumption from its 

buildings (e.g. LED lighting, solar PV, voltage optimisation), Bouygues recommended 

major capital investment in low carbon heating measures (such as Ground Source and Air 

Source Heat Pumps) where feasible, with additional LEDs, solar PV, BEMS and other 

measures at some sites. The focus on heat pumps would help switch energy consumption 

from gas (which generates high levels of carbon emissions) to electricity (which will 

progressively be decarbonised at a national level through renewable energy). 

 

The Bouygues study suggests that, while the majority of the Council’s current carbon 

emissions can potentially be removed, it will be challenging to reach absolute zero carbon 

emissions across all the buildings in the scope of the study. This is primarily because the 

site, structure and listed status of some buildings (the Guildhall and Corn Exchange) mean 

that low-carbon heating solutions are not currently viable at these buildings, and there is 

likely to be residual gas consumption at the crematorium from the existing gas-powered 

cremators until viable, low carbon alternatives become available in the market 

Page 62



31 
 

 

The study also suggests that, while over the next 10 years the national electricity grid will 

be decarbonised to a very significant extent through the replacement of fossil-fuels with 

renewable energy generation, it is unlikely that electricity generation will be fully 

decarbonised within this period. It is likely therefore, that there will be some limited, 

residual emissions associated with electricity from the national grid used by the Council. 

We will actively pursue all feasible opportunities to decarbonise our buildings over the next 

10 years, including exploring potential opportunities for partnership projects to address 

carbon emissions from the hardest-to-treat buildings. However, once carbon emissions 

have been reduced as far as possible within the constraints of existing buildings, it is likely 

that the remaining carbon emissions from buildings identified through the Bouygues study 

will need to be addressed through credible carbon offsetting or carbon sequestration 

measures in order for the Council to reach net zero carbon by 2030.  

There are a range of potential carbon off-setting approaches, which we will explore in 

more detail as part of the implementation of the new Climate Change Strategy. In the 

Budget Setting Report for 2021/22, the Council committed to using a percentage of the 

Council’s reserves to invest in innovative “green investments” to facilitate measures to 

offset climate change. The Council will announce the percentage during the course of the 

coming financial year when we have greater certainty as to our future financial position 

post Covid. 

 

The study carried out by Bouygues found it would cost approximately £10.5m to 

implement the carbon reduction projects needed for the Council to reach net zero carbon 

for its buildings.  Once the running costs and maintenance costs of these schemes are 

included, Bouygues estimate that the total cumulative additional costs of the carbon 

reduction measures will broadly be around £38.4m between 2021 and 2050. This is 

because the ongoing maintenance costs and electricity costs to run the pumps and are 

higher than the maintenance and running costs of gas boilers.  

In December 2020, the Council successfully applied for £1.7m from the Government’s 

Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund for projects that would significantly reduce carbon 

emissions at Parkside and Abbey Pools, and pave the way for potential future projects to 

bring those facilities’ emissions down towards net zero.  Measures will include air source 

and ground source heat pumps and solar panels to provide low carbon heating and 

renewable energy, alongside energy efficiency measures such as LED lighting, insulation, 

digital fans, and upgrades to the buildings’ energy management and control systems. 

The Council will apply for any future funding that is available from Government and other 

sources for low carbon heating and other solutions, but if such external funding is not 

forthcoming the Council will need to consider how it can meet the costs of such schemes 

at the swimming pools and other Council buildings. 

Page 63



32 
 

Council direct carbon emissions from fleet vehicles and business travel 

 

As part of our previous Carbon Management Plans, we have taken steps to reduce carbon 

emissions from our fleet vehicles and business travel, including: 

 

 Replacing existing fleet vehicles with more fuel-efficient Euro 6 vehicles at the end of 

their life span and introducing 12 electric vehicles to the Council’s fleet. 10 of these 

vehicles are vans and trucks used by the Council’s Environmental Services and 

Repairs and Maintenance service. The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste service has 

purchased one of the first electric Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) in the country.   

 Using software solutions to implement more efficient routes, and reduce fleet 

mileage and associated fuel consumption and carbon emissions in the Greater 

Cambridge Shared Waste Service and the Council’s Environmental Services. 

 Taking steps to reduce carbon emissions from business travel by Council staff, 

including improving the condition of 22 existing pool bikes, purchasing 4 electric pool 

bikes and installing electric vehicle charge points at Waterbeach depot for use by staff. 

 

As highlighted above, the Council: 

 

 Committed in June 2020 to procure Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) when 

replacing vans and trucks in the Council’s fleet (where there is a suitable ULEV 

alternative and the infrastructure allows). This could lead to a fully electric van and 

truck fleet by 2028.  

 Will seek to replace all Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) with low carbon alternatives 

(electric or hydrogen) at the point when they are due for replacement. 

 

The Greater Cambridge Shared Waster Service is planning to purchase 3 further electric 

RCVs in 2021/22 for use in Cambridge. The service is also working with a vehicle 

manufacturer that is currently trialling hydrogen-fuelled RCVs in mainland Europe to 

explore the option of extending the trial to Greater Cambridge. 

 

Progressively replacing existing fleet vehicles with electric vehicles (particularly electric 

RCVs) will require a higher initial capital investment compared to purchasing replacement 

diesel, but it is anticipated that the “whole life” costs for electric vehicles are likely to be 

comparable to diesel vehicles, due to lower running costs for electric vehicles. 

 

Carbon emissions reduction targets for the Council’s buildings, land and vehicles 

In March 2016, we set a target to reduce the Council’s own emissions by 15-20% between 

2014/15 and 2020/21 in the Carbon Management Plan 2016-2021. As shown by Figure 10 

below, the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions reduced by 28.9% from 2014/15 to 

Page 64



33 
 

2019/20. Total gross emissions reduced by 2,320 tCO2e in this period, from 8,041 tCO2e in 

2014/15 to 5,721 tCO2e in 2019/20. 

 

Figure 10 - Cambridge City Council Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tCO2e) 

 

 
Source: Cambridge City Council Greenhouse Gas Report 2019/20 

 

The reduction in the Council’s emissions from  2014/15 to 2019/20 is partly due to steps 

that the Council has taken, including rationalising its office accommodation, investing in 

energy efficiency and renewable energy measures in its buildings, and reducing carbon 

emissions from its fleet vehicles. The reduction in the Council’s emissions from was also 

partly due to decarbonisation of the electricity supply at the national level in recent years, 

which meant that the electricity used by the Council became steadily greener.  

 

We know that we will need to reduce the Council’s direct carbon emissions rapidly in the 

coming years in order to reach net zero carbon. We have set a target to reduce the 

Council’s direct carbon emissions (from our corporate buildings and our vehicles) 

to net zero by 2030. 

 

 

Commercial property 

 

The Council can also show community leadership on climate change by making 

improvements to Council-owned commercial buildings. These are occupied by tenants 

who control energy usage and pay the energy bills, other than some communal areas. The 

Council owns a range of such properties in Cambridge, and it has developed a 

Commercial Property Energy Efficiency Plan, which aims to make all of its commercial 

property compliant with the current requirements in the national Minimum Energy 

Efficiency Standards (MEES) regulations. The regulations currently require that: 

 

8041
7584

7234

6564
6011

5721

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Page 65



34 
 

 From April 2018, landlords must ensure that any vacant property that will be let in 

future must have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of band E or above.  

 From 1 April 2023, landlords must not continue letting a non-domestic property which is 

already let if it has an EPC rating below band E. 

The Government consulted in early 2020 on raising the minimum requirement in the MEES 

regulations. The outcome is a proposal that all commercial property should achieve an 

EPC rating of B rating by 2030. This may be phased over the next 10 years but this is 

subject to further consultation. 

As shown by Figure 11 below, data from properties where an EPC has been carried out 

shows that 96% of the Council’s commercial property floorspace was above the MEES 

standards in 2020, with the majority having a C rating (49.1%) or D rating (23%).  

 

Figure 11 - EPC rating of total commercial property floorspace in Sept 2020  

 

As part of the Energy Efficiency Plan, we have carried out draft EPCs for those properties 

that did not have them and implemented energy efficiency improvements and EV charging 

points at a number of buildings. In recent years, most new strategic purchases of 

commercial property have had EPC ratings of C or above. 

 

The Council will also be undertaking a redevelopment programme for some of its 

commercial property portfolio over the next 10 years.  This will see many older, poorly 

performing properties replaced with modern equivalents or differing uses.  The 

environmental implications will be assessed on a scheme by scheme basis, but it is likely 

that redevelopments will have significant positive environmental impacts as new buildings 

replace much older, poorly performing buildings. An agreed standard (with the aim to 

achieve as close to net zero carbon as possible) will be set out for each scheme. 

 

2.8%

7.0%

49.1%

26.3%

10.9%

0.5%
3.5%

A B

C D

E F

G

Page 66



35 
 

Consideration will be given to using green leases with tenants so that tenant fit out 

supports the agreed environmental performance target. For example, these have been 

used at the retail units at the Virido development. 

 

As part of the Climate Change Strategy, we will identify and assess: 

 

 Improvements to the 8 commercial properties where the Council is responsible for the 

energy bills for communal spaces (such as reception areas and stairwells).  

 The improvements possible to the remaining existing commercial properties (that will 

not be redeveloped as part of the commercial property redevelopment programme) to 

achieve net zero carbon, and obtain costs estimates for the improvement works.  

 The performance standards required to achieve net zero carbon for any new 

commercial buildings or redevelopment of existing buildings.  

 

 

Procurement 

 

The Council can show community leadership on climate change through its procurement 

policies and practice. When procuring goods and services, Council services currently use 

the Social Value Act to require contractors to provide environmental sustainability benefits 

and commitments, where these are appropriate and achievable. When tenders are 

evaluated, on average 5% of marks are awarded on the basis of Social Value criteria. 

There is an aim to build a library of questions that can be used in tender processes with 

model answers and ongoing monitoring suggestions.  

 

As part of this strategy, the Council will take the following steps to help ensure that its 

procurement policies and practice help to mitigate climate change: 

 

 Review standard tender packs to include the Councils expectations around climate 

change. 

 Provide written guidance for contract managers on climate change measures that could 

be included in contracts and include this information in procurement and contract 

management training for staff. This will include considering how the commitments 

made in the tender process are captured as developed as the contract progresses. 

 Explore the potential for a review of climate change and sustainability commitments by 

the Council’s existing suppliers, and work with these suppliers to improve their 

performance. 

 

 

Pensions 

 

Page 67



36 
 

Cambridge City Council’s pension funds are held in The Cambridgeshire Pension Fund, 

governed by the Pensions Committee and administered by Northamptonshire County 

Council.  The proportion of the fund in fossil fuel holdings reduced from 5.2% in March 

2018 to just 1.7% of the fund in June 2020. Cambridge City Councillors on the Pension 

Board will continue to press for further reductions in this holding. 

 

The Fund adopts a policy of active share ownership and engagement rather than 

disinvestment or exclusion. Individual investment selections are made by professional 

external fund managers appointed by the Fund, in accordance with an overall asset 

allocation strategy set by the Pensions Committee of the Fund.  

 

The Pensions Committee have a responsibility to maximise investment returns while 

taking an appropriate level of risk and in doing so minimise pension costs to hundreds of 

participating scheme employers and approximately 30,400 active scheme members.  

 

The Committee considers that the financial impact arising from Environmental, Social and 

Governance (“ESG”) risks to be an integral part of the risk assessment made by its 

investment managers in selecting any investment. The Committee instructs external 

investment managers to engage with the companies in which the assets of the Fund are 

invested. This engagement is on a range of issues from executive remuneration to health 

and safety and environmental impact. 

  

The Committee also recognises that effective management of “Sustainable Responsible 

Investment” (“SRI”) issues can enhance long-term financial performance of investments. 

The Fund has been reviewing its Sustainable Responsible Investment Policy, receiving a 

number of committee reports and information workshops focussing on climate change risk.  

 

The Fund has recently consulted with all key stakeholders, including Local Pension Board 

members, on their investment beliefs with the intension to formally update the Funds 

Investment Strategy Statement.51 The Fund has agreed to: 

 

 Establish Responsible Investments Beliefs Statement reflecting stakeholder feedback 

and align other governance documents with the statement. 

 Establish processes that ensure investment decisions refer back to the relevant belief. 

 Integrate ESG into investment decisions, including manager selection and strategic 

portfolio construction decisions. 

 

The Fund is currently working with its investment consultants to explore how to improve 

ESG reporting, monitoring and engagement to a standard that would meet Stewardship 

Code requirements. 

                                            
51 The Cambridgeshire Pensions Fund Investment Strategy Statement: https://tinyurl.com/yb4yqm2v 
 

Page 68

https://tinyurl.com/yb4yqm2v


37 
 

Objective 2 - Reducing energy consumption and emissions from homes and 

buildings in Cambridge  

The national Climate Change Committee has identified homes and buildings as one of the 

key sectors which will need to be decarbonised if the UK is to reach net zero carbon 

emissions52. In this chapter, we outline how homes and institutional, industrial and 

commercial buildings in Cambridge could be decarbonised. 

 

Opportunities for reducing carbon emissions from homes in Cambridge 

As noted above, homes in Cambridge account for around 31% of total carbon emissions 

from the city53, primarily from energy used in heating, lighting and domestic appliances. 

The data from ClimateView suggests that there are a range of solutions that could 

potentially help reduce carbon emissions from homes in the city, including: 

 

 Improving the energy efficiency of existing homes (8% of total carbon emissions) 

 Installing alternatives to gas heating in existing homes, including heat pumps, biofuels, 

hydrogen, and district heating schemes (15% of total carbon emissions) 

 Installing solar PV on existing roof space (12% of total carbon emissions54) 

 Construction of zero carbon new homes (4% of total carbon emissions) 

 

The Council’s role in reducing carbon emissions from homes in Cambridge 

 

The Council can show community leadership in reducing carbon emissions by: 

 

 Making energy efficiency improvements to existing Council homes. 

 Building new council homes to ambitious environmental standards. 

 Supporting homeowners and landlords to “retrofit” energy efficiency and renewable 

energy measures to their homes. 

 Using the Council’s planning policy and building control powers to require high 

environmental standards in new private housing (as far as national policy allows). 

 

Council properties - Reducing carbon emissions from existing Council homes 

The Council owns 7,106 homes55, which represents 13.9% of the 51,240 homes in 

Cambridge56. Available data suggests that Council homes (71.9) have a significantly 

                                            
52 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p14 
53 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and regional 
carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2018 
54 N.B. this figure represents the total carbon emissions reduction from homes and non-residential buildings 
combined   
55 Cambridge City Council Orchard data, April 2020 
56 Cambridgeshire Insight, 2015, Local population and dwelling stock  estimates & forecasts: 
https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/population-estimates-old/ 

Page 69

https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/population-estimates-old/


38 
 

higher average SAP rating (a measure of energy efficiency) than private rented homes 

(55.0), owner-occupied homes (57.0) and housing association homes (62.0)57.  

 

Over the period of the Council’s previous climate change strategies, we invested £4.3 

million in energy efficiency improvements to Council homes, focussing on bringing the 

lowest rated properties up to an EPC rating of C. This included replacing 1,543 older 

boilers with more energy efficient condensing boilers, installing external wall insultation, 

and insulating the loft and cavity walls of more than 600 properties. From 2020/21 to 

2022/23, we have committed to investing a further £2.5 million to improve the energy 

efficiency of the remaining Council homes with EPC ratings of D to G, with the aim of 

bringing these up to a C rating or above where feasible. This includes installing measures 

such as external wall insulation and solar PV panels. 

 

However, we recognise that we will need to do much more if we are to decarbonise  

existing Council homes, and we are exploring options for achieving this. We have 

commissioned a company to carry out a high-level study by April 2021 to establish how 

existing Council homes could be retrofitted to meet three different carbon emissions 

standards (Local Plan Plus, Passivhaus, and net zero carbon).  

 

The report will focus on different property archetypes within the Council’s housing stock 

and identify how they could be improved to reach these standards. The study will help 

quantify the costs of reaching different standards, in terms of initial capital investment and 

ongoing maintenance costs for the Council, and running costs for Council tenants, and will 

inform the Council’s future approach. 

 

Council-owned properties - Reducing carbon emissions from new Council homes 

While strong economic growth in Cambridge has brought investment into the area and 

created employment, it has also created a high demand for houses, leading to high 

housing costs. The Centre for Cities found that in 2018 Cambridge had the third most 

unaffordable housing of any city after Oxford and London. Housing is particularly 

unaffordable for people on lower incomes in Cambridge; lower quartile house prices in 

Cambridge were 16.3 times lower quartile earnings in March 2018. 

 

The Council is building new homes for rent to help address the housing affordability crisis 

in the city. We are building 500 new Council homes for rent, using £70m Government 

funding via the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Devolution Deal. All of the homes in this 

programme are being built to carbon emissions standards set out in the 2017 Cambridge 

Sustainable Housing Design Guide (SHDG), which stated a target of a 19% reduction on 

carbon emissions compared to standards required in the 2013 national building 

                                            
 
57 Source: Cambridge Private Sector House Condition Survey, 2014 (for private homes) and Energy 
Performance Certificate data (for 2,200 out of 7,106 Council homes) 

Page 70



39 
 

regulations. In practice an average of 8 out of 10 schemes in the programme are expected 

to attain carbon emissions standards of 35% below those required by building regulations. 

Some developments under construction as part of the programme are gas free and use air 

source heat pumps for heating. 

Following the current new homes programme, the Council has an ambition to develop a 

further 1000 net additional council homes. During 2020, the Council commissioned a study 

by Buro Happold, which assessed the implications of building the new programme to 

higher sustainability standards to reduce carbon emissions. The study considered: initial 

capital costs and maintenance costs for the Council, running costs for tenants, and carbon 

emissions reductions.   

 

In January 202158, the Council committed to build homes in this new 1000 homes 

programme to Passivhaus standards, where technically feasible and subject to funding. 

The Council will target net zero carbon standards for Council homes built from 2030 

onwards. This approach will make the Council’s new housebuilding programme amongst 

the most sustainable in the country – few – if any - other local authorities in the UK that are 

building new homes to this scale are building to comparable carbon emissions standards.  

 

The Cambridge SHDG will be updated to reflect the carbon emissions standards agreed 

for the 1000 homes programme. The guide will also include updated targets for electric 

vehicle charging, car parking spaces, water efficiency, overheating, and biodiversity. It will 

also require a Sustainability Options appraisal to be produced for every development, to 

include details of future proofing all schemes to net zero carbon, where technically feasible 

and when funds permit. 

 

Partnership working and communities – reducing carbon emissions from existing  

private homes 

Reducing carbon emissions from private homes in Cambridge represents the biggest 

challenge. There are currently more than 44,000 homes that are owned by residents, 

private landlords and housing associations. Considerable investment will be needed to 

decarbonise private homes in the city, as they currently have an average EPC rating of D, 

and very few properties in the city are close to reaching net zero carbon standards.   

 

The Council has successfully secured funding from Government to support retrofit activity 

in the past. Over the period of the Council’s previous climate change strategies, we have: 

 

 Delivered 1402 insulation measures through a combination of the national CERT 

scheme and the Council-funded Cambridge Home Insulation Scheme 

                                            
58 For further information, see the report to the Council’s Environment and Community Services Committee: 
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s54468/HSC%20new%20programme%20update%20report
%20Jan%2021i.pdf 

Page 71

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s54468/HSC%20new%20programme%20update%20report%20Jan%2021i.pdf
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s54468/HSC%20new%20programme%20update%20report%20Jan%2021i.pdf


40 
 

 Retrofitted 433 homes in Cambridge with loft, cavity wall and/or solid wall insulation 

using £2million from the national Green Deal for Communities programme from 2014-

2016. This programme was part of a wider £7.8 million Cambridgeshire-wide 

partnership programme called Action on Energy, which was one of the most successful 

Green Deal delivery programmes in the country. 

 Funded Cambridge Carbon Footprint through the Council’s Sustainable City Grants to 

run annual Open Eco Homes events, which provide opportunities to attend energy 

efficiency workshops and visit low carbon homes in Cambridge. In 2020, 517 residents 

attended Open Eco Homes events. 

 

Over the next 5 years, the Council will seek opportunities to support homeowners and 

landlords to reduce carbon emissions from private homes, including:  

 

 Commissioning a retrofit study to identify what energy efficiency and renewable 

energy measures would need to be installed for different property archetypes in 

Cambridge to reach different carbon emissions standards. The study would provide an 

evidence base for bids for Government funding and would provide guidance for 

residents on what measures would be most effective in their property. We will also 

explore the scope for utilising satellite and drone thermal imaging techniques being 

developed by researchers at the University of Cambridge. 

 Bidding for funding available to retrofit private homes. In December 2020, we led a 

successful £2 million Cambridgeshire-wide partnership bid to the first round of the 

Government’s new Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (LAD) scheme. 

The grant award will part fund improvements to 278 properties, including: external wall 

insulation and solar PV to 66 Council homes, energy efficiency improvements to 62 

housing association homes, and external wall insulation to 150 private homes. 

 Promoting group-buying schemes, such as the Cambridgeshire-wide Solar Together 

scheme. This enables residents to purchase solar PV panels and battery storage at 

significant discounts. In autumn 2020, 999 Cambridge residents registered for the first 

round of the scheme, of which 293 accepted offers for solar PV and/or battery storage.  

 Taking enforcement action against landlords and property managers whose 

properties do not meet the national Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) for 

privately rented homes. From April 2021, the standards require a minimum EPC rating 

of E, but Government is considering increasing these standards over time. We will work 

with other local authorities to lobby for a more rapid increase in standards and greater 

enforcement powers for councils. 

 

While the Council can take some steps to support retrofit activity in Cambridge, fully 

decarbonising homes will require huge investment by homeowners and landlords that can 

afford to invest in properties, or through Government-funded energy efficiency 

programmes. 

 

National funding to date has primarily focussed on energy efficiency measures such as 

Page 72



41 
 

loft, cavity and external wall insulation. For many properties in Cambridge these measures 

are still needed, but to fully decarbonise existing homes it will be necessary to: replace gas 

heating with low carbon heating such as Ground Source or Air Source Heat Pumps; install 

solar PV panels and battery storage to provide on-site renewable electricity; and install 

mechanical ventilation with heat recovery (MHVR) systems.   

 

Estimates of the average investment needed to fully decarbonise each home in the UK 

range from £10,00059 to £35,00060 per home. It would therefore cost in the order of £440 

million to £1.75 billion to retrofit all 44,000 private properties in Cambridge to a net zero 

carbon standard. 

 

The UK Climate Change Committee recommends that a 30-year national investment 

programme is needed to fully decarbonise the UK’s homes, but in autumn 2020 the 

Government only made available £2 billion nationally through the Green Homes Grant 

scheme, of which local authorities will be able to bid for a total of £500m for improvements 

to the least energy efficient homes (with an EPC rating below D). As part of this strategy, 

the Council will bid for retrofit funding that is available in future, while working with other 

Councils to lobby Government for increased funding for domestic retrofit 

 

The UK Climate Change Committee estimates that a national retrofit programme could 

create 200,000 additional construction jobs, but the existing construction workforce lacks 

the necessary skills, and the national construction supply chain is not yet ready for zero 

carbon retrofit. The Government is providing funding for companies to train staff to meet 

the PAS2035 certification standards, which require a whole-house retrofit approach, but 

there may be a role for the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority to 

promote local skills development in this area.  

 

Regulatory powers – Reducing carbon emissions from new private homes  

 

Over the past 50 years, Cambridge has experienced strong economic growth, driven by its 

world-renowned Universities and a globally significant cluster of hi-tech and bio-technology 

businesses. Research shows that the ‘Cambridge phenomenon’ has been driven by 

companies locating in the city due to high skill levels in the local workforce and access to 

University research expertise. In the wider Greater Cambridge61 sub-region, there are 

currently over 5,000 knowledge intensive companies with a combined revenue of over 

£15.5bn.62 The associated employment growth in Cambridge has led to house affordability 

issues and significant levels of commuting into the city.  

                                            
59 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, the Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p23 
60 Green Alliance, 2020, Reinventing Retrofit: how to scale up home energy efficiency in the UK, page 15 
https://www.green-alliance.org.uk/resources/reinventing_retrofit.pdf – the report notes that costs of the 
Energie Sprong whole-house retrofit approach could reduce to £35,000 per home by 2025 
61 The Greater Cambridge sub-region includes the districts of Cambridge City and South Cambridgeshire 
62 University of Cambridge, September 2019, Cambridge Innovation in Numbers  

Page 73

https://www.green-alliance.org.uk/resources/reinventing_retrofit.pdf


42 
 

Local Plans are prepared by Local Planning authorities to set out a vision and a framework 

for the future development of an area. They establish the number of new homes and jobs 

that should be planned for in the local area, where this development should take place, 

and the services, facilities and infrastructure that should accompany development. 

Following extensive public engagement and participation, they are tested as part of the 

public examination of the Local Plan by an independent planning inspector.  

The current Cambridge Local Plan sets out the number of new homes and jobs that should 

be planned for based in the current period from 2011 to 2031. This local Plan is currently 

under review. The Council is working jointly with South Cambridgeshire District Council to 

prepare a Greater Cambridge Local Plan. The new Local Plan will set policies for new 

development from the date of adoption to 2041.  

Through Local Plan policies on new homes, the Council is seeking to reduce pressure on 

housing costs and commuting into the area, whilst seeking to ensure that development is 

environmentally sustainable. In a number of recent developments, the Council was able to 

require new housing developments to meet high environmental sustainability standards set 

out in the national Code for Sustainable Homes (CfSH). For example, the Eddington 

development in North West Cambridge was built to CfSH Level 5, Trumpington Meadows 

was built to CfSH Level 4 and homes at Clay Farm were built to a mixture of CfSH Levels 

3, 4 or 5. These standards, along with local planning authorities ability to set construction 

standards for new homes, were abolished by Government in 2015. 

The current Cambridge Local Plan, adopted in 2018, includes a number of policies that are 

designed to limit carbon emissions from new housing developments in the city, including:   

 

 A 44% reduction in on-site carbon emissions (relative to 2006 building regulations). 

 A requirement to prepare sustainability statements as part of planning applications, 

which set out how developers will achieve carbon reductions through reducing energy 

demand, energy efficiency measures and on-site renewable energy generation, as well 

as integrating measures into developments to enable them to adapt to our changing 

climate and water efficiency measures.  

 Support for the provision of renewable and/or low carbon energy generation, including 

community energy networks, district heating schemes and solar energy. 

 A policy on “consequential improvements”, which requires any planning applications for 

extensions to existing homes (or the conversion of ancillary residential floor space to 

living accommodation) to include energy efficiency improvements to the existing home 

(where these have not already been installed). 

 

                                            
https://www.cam.ac.uk/sites/www.cam.ac.uk/files/inner-
images/innovation_in_numbers_sep_2019.pdf?ucam-flow=business-and-enterprise  

Page 74

https://www.cam.ac.uk/sites/www.cam.ac.uk/files/inner-images/innovation_in_numbers_sep_2019.pdf?ucam-flow=business-and-enterprise
https://www.cam.ac.uk/sites/www.cam.ac.uk/files/inner-images/innovation_in_numbers_sep_2019.pdf?ucam-flow=business-and-enterprise


43 
 

The current Local Plan also supports the use of standards such as Passivhaus and 

encourages proposals to exceed existing policy requirements.  The Greater Cambridge 

Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out 

more detailed guidance on issues such as renewable energy, and encourages developers 

to switch to electric heating ahead of government proposals to ban gas boilers in new 

homes from 2025.  In response to Local Plan policy and the SPD guidance, we are already 

seeing a switch to technologies such as ground source heat pumps and air source heat 

pumps in new housing developments.   

One of the overarching themes proposed for the new Greater Cambridge Local Plan is: 

“Climate change – how the plan should contribute to achieving net zero carbon, and the 

mitigation and adaptation measures that should be required through developments.” 

As part of the evidence base for the new Local Plan, the Shared Planning Service has 

commissioned Bioregional and Etude to carry out an innovative net zero carbon study, 

which is considering the planning policies and targets that would be needed to achieve net 

zero carbon homes and buildings (subject to the constraints of the national planning policy 

framework). In addition to energy usage, the study will also consider transport emissions 

from new development and “embodied carbon” from the construction of new buildings, as 

well as wider policies related to climate change. 

As part of this work, a comparative carbon assessment of the possible locations for growth 

has identified that, if ambitious zero carbon policies are brought in, very limited carbon 

emissions would be produced by the energy used in new homes, and less than one tonne 

of carbon dioxide would be generated in constructing each home. However, the transport-

related carbon emissions from development are likely to be far more significant.  

 

The level of transport-related carbon emissions is likely to vary considerably depending on 

the location of development, with development in the existing urban area of Cambridge 

likely to generate the lowest levels emissions, because people would be closer to existing 

public transport and active travel infrastructure.  

 

Influencing institutions and businesses to reduce carbon emissions from buildings 

 

As shown by Figure 3 above, carbon emissions estimates produced by BEIS suggest that 

the industrial and commercial sector is responsible for 49% of emissions63. As shown by 

the more detailed sub-sectoral analysis provided by the SCATTER tool in Figure 4, the 

majority of these emissions come from non-residential buildings. 23% of emissions come 

from institutional buildings (including the Universities, hospitals, local authorities, 

museums, and other public organisations) and 22% of emissions come from industrial and 

commercial buildings. 

                                            
63 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and regional 
carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2018 

Page 75



44 
 

If Cambridge is to reach net zero carbon emissions, it is vital for institutions and 

businesses in the city to reduce carbon emissions from their buildings. The ClimateView 

systems suggests that the following interventions could potentially significantly reduce 

emissions from institutional, industrial and commercial buildings in the city: 

 

 Energy efficient non-residential buildings (5% of total carbon emissions) 

 Low carbon heating of non-residential buildings, including district heating schemes, 

heat pumps, hydrogen, biogas, or biofuels (18% of total carbon emissions) 

 Solar PV on roof-space (12% of total carbon emissions for homes and non-

residential buildings combined). 

  

The Council is taking a range of steps to encourage institutions and businesses to reduce 

their carbon emissions from buildings, including: 

 

 Using planning policy to ensure high standards in on new non-residential buildings in 

Cambridge. The current Local Plan requires all new non-residential development to 

meet the BREEAM Excellent standard. As part of the developing Greater Cambridge 

Local Plan, the Shared Planning Service is exploring the policies needed to achieve net 

zero carbon non-residential buildings in future. 

 Hosting workshops to support SMEs to reduce their energy use. For example, we have 

hosted workshops delivered by Peterborough Environment City Trust (PECT) in 2018 

and the Carbon Trust and the Business Energy Efficiency Cambridge and 

Peterborough (BEECP) programme in 2019. Both sessions advised SMEs on energy 

efficiency measures and opportunities to apply for energy-related grant funding. 

 Targeting communications to businesses. For example, in 2020 and 2021 we sent a 

flyer to over 4,000 businesses (alongside requests for Council Tax payment) 

highlighting the key steps they can take to reduce their carbon footprint, including 

energy efficiency and renewables in buildings. 

 Commissioning Cambridge Carbon Footprint to produce the Climate Change Charter, 

which enables businesses and institutions to commit to reduce their carbon emissions .  

 Convening meetings of the City Leaders Climate Change Group, which has been 

attended by major institutions and businesses, including Cambridgeshire County 

Council, the University of Cambridge, Anglia Ruskin University, Cambridge University 

Hospitals Trust, Arm, Astra Zeneca, Hill, RG Carter and Stagecoach. 

 Setting up a new destination management organisation (DMO), using the existing 

name Visit Cambridge and Beyond. The immediate focus of the DMO will be on the 

recovery of the tourism sector in Cambridge, which has been heavily impacted by 

Covid-19 lockdowns, but the new business plan will also focus on sustainable tourism. 

The Council is keen to work with institutions and businesses in future, including exploring 

the potential for city-wide sustainability partnerships and collaborative projects. 

Page 76



45 
 

Objective 3 - Reducing carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge 

The national Climate Change Committee has transport as one of the key sectors which will 

need to be decarbonised if the UK is to reach net zero carbon emissions64. In this chapter 

we outline how the Council will work with key partners to help reduce carbon emissions 

from transport in Cambridge. 

 

Opportunities for reducing carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge 

As shown by Figure 3 above, transport accounted for 20% of carbon emissions in 

Cambridge in 201865. This includes carbon emissions from cars and other private vehicles, 

but also goods traffic and public transport. This is a smaller proportion than for the country 

as a whole, but given the air quality dimension too, it remains a high priority for 

Cambridge. 

 

The data from ClimateView suggests that there are a range of solutions that could help 

reduce carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge, including: 

 

 Shifting personal petrol and diesel vehicles to electric vehicles (6% of total carbon 

emissions) 

 Shifting to alternative fuels for goods vehicles, including electric light trucks, and 

hydrogen, biofuel or electric powered heavy goods vehicles (4% of total carbon 

emissions) 

 Increasing the proportion of travel by walking, cycling and public transport (4% of total 

carbon emissions) 

 Increasing remote working (2% of total carbon emissions) 

 Changing logistics for goods vehicles, including improved load factors, route 

optimisation and eco driving of trucks (2% of total carbon emissions) 

 Improvements in vehicle and engine technology in personal and goods vehicles (1% of 

total carbon emissions) 

 

Policy and regulatory powers and partnership working – Electric vehicle 

infrastructure 

 

The national Climate Change Committee suggests that shifting petrol and diesel vehicles 

to electric vehicles will make significant contribution to decarbonising transport. This is 

because electric vehicles are more energy efficient and electric power is increasingly being 

generated from renewable sources. The ClimateView model suggests that promoting a 

                                            
64 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p14 
65 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2020, UK local authority and regional 
carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2018 

Page 77



46 
 

shift from petrol and diesel vehicles to electric vehicles could reduce total carbon 

emissions in Cambridge by 6%.  

 

An increasing number of car manufacturers are producing electric and hybrid vehicles, the 

findings of public consultation on this strategy and consultation by the Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Climate Commission show that factors such as higher prices, limited range 

and the limited availability of electric vehicle charging points currently constrain take-up in 

Cambridge and the wider region. 

 

Central government recently announced that all new vehicles in the UK will be electric 

from 2030 onwards, and it is currently providing subsidies of up to 75% of the cost of 

installing off-street EV charging points. However, there is also a clear role for the Council 

in helping to accelerate the installation of electric vehicle infrastructure in Cambridge, as 

this will increase the viability of electric vehicles for residents and businesses.  

 

The Council produced an Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy in October 2019, 

which identifies how the Council and its partners can help to increase the number of 

electric charging points available within the city. Council activity to date has included: 

 

 Installing 18 rapid and 3 fast electric charge points for taxis in Cambridge by 2021, 

with  funding from Government (£426,000), the Council (£100,000) and the Greater 

Cambridge Partnership (£100,000). 

 Introducing regulations requiring all new taxis to be Ultra Low Emission Vehicles 

(ULEVs) or zero emissions vehicles from 2020, and all taxis to be ULEVs or zero 

emissions vehicles by 2028. This has led to a significant increase in the number of 

electric taxis, with 35 electric and 66 hybrid taxis licenced in the city in 2020. 

 including electric charging points in existing car parks and in the plans for the 

redevelopment of Park Street Car Park. 

 The Council’s Environmental Health policies and guidance in the Sustainable Design 

and Construction Supplementary Planning Document to require provision of electric 

vehicle charging points in new housing and non-residential developments. 

 working with Cambridgeshire County Council to jointly procure a new 5-year car club 

contract to provide vehicles for use by residents and businesses in Cambridge. 75% of 

the car club vehicles provided by Enterprise are currently ultra-low emissions hybrid 

vehicles, and Enterprise will establish an electric vehicle charging steering group with 

the aim of providing the infrastructure required to achieve a 100% electric vehicle car 

club fleet in the future.  

The Council is currently revising its Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy to reflect 

new opportunities and developments in technology. Future actions are likely to include: 

 

Page 78



47 
 

 Procuring a commercial partner by 2022 to deliver new electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure in Council car parks and other Council-owned land and sites. 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and UK Power Networks to facilitate on-

street residential electric charge points where there is no scope for off-street 

charging. 3 initial pilot schemes for ‘charging collectives’ will be procured during 2021. 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and the CPCA on a wider electric 

vehicle charging strategy. 

 

Partnership-working and influencing – walking, cycling and use of public transport 

 

Cambridge has an existing trend towards sustainable transport, particularly cycling. The  

2011 Census highlighted that about 33 per cent of residents in the city cycle to work, the 

highest proportion in the United Kingdom. However, to reduce carbon emissions from 

transport in Cambridge, we need significantly more people to travel by public transport, 

cycling and walking, and significantly fewer people to travel by car.  

 

Public transport journeys need to be competitive, sustainable and reliable and active travel 

alternatives need to be safe and easy to encourage people to move away from cars. The 

impact of coronavirus on the public’s willingness to use shared transport modes may make 

this more challenging in the short-medium term. 

 

The Council is taking a number of actions directly to help increase walking, cycling and 

use of public transport, including: 

 

 Appointing a new Active Travel Officer to develop and undertake a programme of 

activities in the city to promote walking, cycling and the use of public transport across a 

range of settings including schools, colleges, workplaces and communities from 2021. 

 Increasing cycle parking provision at Council car parks. 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council to provide 30 electric cargo bikes for 

use by residents and businesses in Cambridge using Government funding. 

 Developing a Local Lettings Plan framework for new Council housing developments, 

which will give priority to people working within an agreed geographical radius of the 

development. This measure is intended to help reduce commuting by car by tenants. . 

 Building new Council housing developments in Cambridge with less than one car 

parking space per home to encourage travel by walking, cycling or public transport.  

 Policies in the current Local Plan to support housing and non-residential 

development which prioritises access by walking, cycling and public transport66. 

                                            
66 Policy 80: Supporting Sustainable Access to Development in the Cambridge Local Plan – October 2018 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/6890/local-plan-2018.pdf  

Page 79

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/6890/local-plan-2018.pdf


48 
 

 Encouraging attendees and contractors at the Cambridge Folk Festival and Corn 

Exchange to consider more sustainable transport options when travelling to events 

and working with the County Council transport team to ensure the city evening 

economy is served by sufficient bus transport taking people to surrounding towns and 

villages. 

 Working with the Active Lifestyles team to promote healthy walking and cycling 

activities and promotion of safer routes to schools. 

 

While the Council is taking the above actions, there are a number of local government 

bodies which have a much greater role in relation to walking, cycling and public transport 

infrastructure. The Council works as part of a partnership with these organisations and 

influence their decision-making to ensure that transport schemes in Cambridge contribute 

to a reduction in carbon emissions from the city: 

 

 The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) develops the 

Local Transport Plan for the wider Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area and is 

responsible for passenger transport services. 

 Cambridgeshire County Council is responsible for maintaining highways in the 

Cambridgeshire area. 

 The Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP) is the delivery body for the Greater 

Cambridge City Deal, which is providing up to £500 million funding from Government 

for transport, skills and housing.  

 

The Council is one of the key partners in the GCP, alongside Cambridgeshire County 

Council, South Cambridgeshire District Council and business. The GCP is delivering a 

comprehensive programme of sustainable transport initiatives, working with local authority 

partners to create a world-class transport network that can meet the needs of the area now 

and into the future. Improvements to key routes into and across Cambridge include:  

 

 Four corridor schemes (Cambourne to Cambridge, Waterbeach to Cambridge, 

Cambridge Eastern Access and Cambridge South East) will offer better public transport 

and active travel routes to link growing communities to the north, south east, east and 

west. 

 A network of 12 Greenways will create safe and easy cycling, walking and equestrian 

routes into the city.  

 Several inner-city active travel schemes are already underway. The Cross City 

Cycling scheme has delivered improvements to 5 key cycle routes across the city 

(Arbury Road, Ditton Lane, Fulbourn Road, Hills Road, and links to Cambridge North 

Station and Cambridge Science Park).The Chisholm Trail will provide a mostly off-

road cycling and walking route between Cambridge Station and Cambridge North 

Station, with a new bridge across the River Cam connecting Abbey and Chesterton.  

Page 80



49 
 

 Further improvement schemes at Milton Road and Histon Road will lead to faster and 

more reliable public transport journeys and better walking and cycling links into the city. 

 Enhancing Travel Hub capacity on routes into the city, connecting park and ride 

facilities with bus, walking and cycling networks so people can easily switch to 

sustainable transport. New facilities will be equipped with charging points for electric 

vehicles and future-proofed to evolve over time as technology changes how we travel. 

 Investment in zero emission buses. As part of a pilot funded by the GCP, two zero-

emission buses, have been operating on the 6 bus route serving the city centre, Girton 

and Oakington. GCP’s Future Investment Strategy has prioritised allocations to further 

zero emission buses.  

 As part of a digital wayfinding project, updated wayfinding signage and a new map 

identifying walking routes to the city centre via either Station Road or Mill Road have 

been installed. 

 

Alongside these infrastructure programmes, the GCP’s City Access project is promoting 

measures to encourage commuters away from cars, reduce city centre congestion, and 

improve access by sustainable transport to the city centre and key employment sites. 

Current projects include trials to restrict traffic through trips and a scheme to better 

manage goods vehicle deliveries. The GCP have developed a Future Bus Network 

concept which demonstrates their vision for a competitive, reliable future network. 

 

The GCP is also working to address local energy grid capacity constraints. This work will 

address electricity distribution capacity and remove a barrier to take-up of electric vehicles 

and other renewable technologies. This will help facilitate the electrification (and thereby 

decarbonisation) of heat and transport in the city and surrounding area. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 81



50 
 

Objective 4 – Reducing consumption of resources, reducing waste, and increasing 

recycling in Cambridge 

 

The national Climate Change Committee identifies that management of waste directly 

accounts for 6% of total UK greenhouse gas emissions67. As shown by the SCATTER data 

in Figure 4 above, solid waste disposal accounts for 3.7% of carbon emissions in 

Cambridge. However, the carbon emissions associated with waste are much higher if the 

carbon emissions associated with producing and transporting goods are taken into 

account, a significant proportion of which are ultimately thrown away. 

 

In this chapter, we outline how the Council will work with residents, communities, 

businesses and other organisations to reduce consumption of goods, reduce waste and 

increase recycling rates. 

 

Opportunities to reduce waste and carbon emissions 

 

Waste and carbon emissions can be significantly reduced through adoption of a circular 

economy approach. As shown by the diagram below, the circular economy approach 

involves a system where goods are constantly in circulation. It involves reducing the 

consumption of finite resources and increasing the use of renewable materials through 

reuse, repair and recycling. A shift to a circular economy needs a combination of 

consumer awareness and action, national policy changes, and new business models.  

 

Figure 12 – The Circular Economy 

 

                                            
67 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p30 
 

Page 82



51 
 

Council services and communities – Increasing recycling rates 

 

We can reduce waste and greenhouse gas emissions by recycling materials. Recycling 

waste diverts it from landfill, where organic material decomposes and releases methane, a 

powerful greenhouse gas. Recycling waste materials also reduces the need for 

manufacture of virgin materials to produce new goods.  

 

The UK Climate Change Committee recommends that national recycling rates should be 

increased to 70% by 2030 if the UK is to reach net zero carbon emissions. This is 

significantly above the recycling rate Greater Cambridge, which was 51% in 2019. The 

Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service collected 102,474 tonnes of waste from 

households in the Greater Cambridge area in 2019, 52,253 tonnes of which was dry mixed 

recycling and organic waste for composting. 

 

Figure 13 – Waste materials in general waste bins in Greater Cambridge in 2019 

 
 

There is potentially scope to increase recycling rates in Greater Cambridge, but this would 

require significant buy-in from residents. As shown by Figure 13 above, recent analysis by 

the Shared Waste Service shows that 34.2% of waste in household general waste bins in 

2019 was food waste, which could be recycled. A further 33% of material in general waste 

bins was material that potentially could have been recycled, including paper (12.6%), 

plastic film (8.9%), garden and organic waste (5.3%), textiles (3.6%) and glass (2.6%). 

 

During 2020 the Shared Waste Service has carried out trials of separate food waste 

collections from selected households and is considering extending the trials to more 

households. These trials have shown that separating food waste can help increase 

recycling rates (by removing food waste from residual waste collections) and reduce waste 

Page 83



52 
 

(by showing people how much food they are throwing away, how much food they could 

have eaten, and how much food they didn’t need to buy in the first place).  

 

The forthcoming Environment Bill and the Government’s related new National Strategy on 

Recycling and Waste are likely to set out a more standardised approach for Councils to 

collecting waste in future. It is likely that all Councils will be required to collect food waste 

separately from 2023 onwards, and Government may provide funding to support this. To 

encourage more recycling, Councils may also need to consider separate collections for 

different materials and potentially restrictions on residual waste (through either smaller 

bins or less frequent collections).  

 

The Shared Waste service will also continue communications campaigns to raise 

awareness and encourage residents to recycle more, using communications channels 

such as events, social media, leaflets and residents’ magazines. The service has delivered 

campaigns on a regular basis using the national “Love Food Hate Waste” campaign. The 

latest 3 stage campaign is “Keep Crushing Food Waste”, “Wasting Food: It’s Out of Date” 

and, most importantly National Food Waste Action Week in March 2021, which is the first 

campaign specifically designed to highlight the link between food waste and climate 

change.   

 

Some of these campaigns have been delivered in partnership with local voluntary and 

community groups such as Cambridge Sustainable Food. Other campaigns have focussed 

on increasing the quality of recycling collected by reducing the amount of food waste and 

other non-recyclable materials in recycling bins, which compromises the ability to recycle  

everything that is collected. 

 

Partnership working – Encouraging institutions and businesses to reduce waste 

and increase recycling 

 

The Shared Waste Service also provides waste collection services on a commercial basis 

for over 3,000 institutions and businesses in the Greater Cambridge area. The remaining 

businesses in the area use private waste collection companies to collect their waste. The 

recycling rate amongst businesses served by the Shared Waste Service tends to be 

between 24% and 26%, which is comparable to the amount of mixed recycling collected 

from households. The majority of commercial recycling collected is mixed dry recycling, 

with a significant proportion being organic material such as paper and card. The service 

also operates a food waste service, although no garden waste service is provided. 

  

The Shared Waste Service is encouraging businesses to take up recycling collections, and 

currently charges less for recycling collections to increase take-up. Most commercial waste 

tends to be packaging and food waste, so the Shared Waste Service is working with 

Cambridge Sustainable Food on schemes to recycle and re-use food waste. 

 

Page 84



53 
 

Businesses - Reducing packaging and make products more recyclable  

 

Reducing waste and increasing recycling will require significant action by business. 

Manufacturers will need to design products so that they user fewer materials and 

components and are easier to re-use and recycle as a result. The National Waste strategy 

is likely to incentivise this by producers have to pay for waste resulting from their products. 

 

The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste service will work with businesses to reduce 

packaging and make products more re-useable and recyclable. The Shared Waste Service 

is a member of Recoup, the industry body working with businesses on these issues, and 

the Service has also recently had meetings with a number of leading manufacturers about 

making specific products and packaging more recyclable. 

 

Communities – Reducing consumption and re-using and repairing goods 

 

We can reduce waste and carbon emissions by reducing the amount of new products and 

virgin materials that we purchase and use. This can be achieved by reducing the number 

of non-essential new products that we purchase, and by making full use of the products 

that we do buy. A good example of this is food: 70% of the 6.6 million tonnes of food that 

was thrown away in the UK in 2018 could have been eaten.68 This could be reduced if we 

only purchased what we needed, and used all the food that we do purchase. 

 

We can also reduce waste by re-using or repairing products rather than disposing of them. 

For example, doubling the number of times that a garment is worn can reduce its carbon 

footprint by 44%69. This could be achieved by wearing clothes for longer, repairing clothes, 

or swapping or buying clothes second hand.   

 

For many years the Council has organised Community Actions Days that actively 

encourage re-homing and reuse of household items within neighbourhoods. As part of our 

previous climate change strategies, the Council has also worked with local community 

groups to encourage residents to reduce consumption, and re-use or repair existing 

goods. For example, through its Sustainable City Grants fund, the Council has funded 

Cambridge Carbon Footprint to a series of events as part of their Circular Cambridge 

project, including: 

 

 The world’s largest repair café in 2017, which was attended by 550 people. There 

were a record-breaking 232 successful repairs of household items at the event.  

                                            
68 WRAP, 2020, Food surplus and waste in the UK - key facts, page 13 
https://wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Food-surplus-and-waste-in-the-UK-key-facts-Jan-2020.pdf  
69 Ellen McArthur Foundation, 2019, Completing the Picture: How the Circular Economy Tackles Climate 
Change, page 23 

Page 85

https://wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Food-surplus-and-waste-in-the-UK-key-facts-Jan-2020.pdf


54 
 

 Cambridge’s first sustainable fashion festival in November 2018, which was 

attended by 850 people and included a sewing repair café, a clothes swap, upcycling 

workshops and a pop-up clothes market. 

 Further engagement activities in 2019/20 including stalls at local festivals, repair 

cafes and clothes swaps at Cambridge University events, and upcycled art displays. 

 

The Council also delivered or funded a number of activities in to encourage staff, residents 

and businesses to reduce consumption of single-use plastics, including: 

 

 Supporting the national Refill campaign by promoting over 100 free drinking water 

taps in Cambridge, including drinking taps and fountains provided by the Council. 

 Regulations requiring that all Cambridge Market traders use cardboard or paper 

cups, trays, dishes or other biodegradable/re-usable packaging for their products. 

 Reducing plastics usage at Cambridge Folk Festival by using reusable polycarbonate 

glasses at the festival’s bars, requiring traders to use bio-degradable cutlery, cups, and 

straws, and not to offer plastic bags and single serve condiments to customers.  

 Reducing plastics usage at the Big Weekend event by: providing drinking water stand 

pipes; provided free refillable water bottles in partnership with Cambridge Water; using 

returnable pint cups and a deposit scheme at the onsite bar; and a marketing campaign 

to encourage people to use re-useable water bottles and coffee cups. 

 Funding Cambridge Eco-Living Initiative through the Council’s Sustainable City Fund 

to deliver an event at the Judge Business School to help SMEs to reduce plastic waste. 

 

Over the next five years, the Council will continue to work with community groups to help 

reduce consumption and increase the repairing and re-use of goods and materials.  

 

 

 

  

Page 86



55 
 

Objective 5 – Promoting sustainable food 

The national Climate Change Committee identifies that agriculture was responsible for 

10% of UK carbon emissions in 2019.70 The Committee has highlighted agriculture as one 

of the key sectors which will need to be decarbonised if the UK is to reach net zero carbon 

emissions.71 In particular, it identifies the need for a reduction in meat and dairy farming 

and an accelerated shift in diets away from meat and dairy products as key to reaching net 

zero carbon emissions72. This could facilitate a change in land use and reforestation of 

parts of the UK. 

 

If a wider food systems approach is taken, it is clear that the production, transportation, 

storage and retail of food makes a much greater contribution to climate change than 

agriculture alone. The United Nations’ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 

estimated that in 2019 food systems accounted for between 21% and 37% of total global 

greenhouse gas emissions.73  

  

As part of its community leadership role, the Council aims to work to promote sustainable 

food in Cambridge as part of its efforts to address climate change. The Council also 

recognises the key role that food can play in dealing with other pressing issues in the city, 

such as biodiversity loss, food poverty, and diet related ill-health. 

  

Council services and policies – promoting sustainable food 

 

The Council has limited direct powers and responsibilities in relation to food. The Council’s 

statutory responsibilities in relation to food primarily relate to food hygiene and food safety, 

and through its mainstream activities, the Council seeks to promote public health and 

healthy lifestyles. As a district Council, we procure limited amounts of food (principally in 

sheltered housing schemes, and some community centres and leisure centres). 

 

However, the Council published a Sustainable Food Policy statement74 in June 2018, 

setting out the steps it will take to help promote sustainable food in Cambridge. The 

council has also set out a number of actions in its Anti-Poverty Strategy and previous 

Climate Change Strategies that make a contribution to food health and sustainability 

issues. Some of the key actions that the Council is taking to deliver the commitments in 

these policies and strategies include: 

                                            
70 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p30 
71 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p14 
72 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p14 
73 IPCC, 2019, Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate 

change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas 
fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems  
74 Cambridge City Council, 2018, Sustainable Food Policy statement 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/6869/sustainable-food-policy-statement.pdf  

Page 87

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/6869/sustainable-food-policy-statement.pdf


56 
 

 Incorporating sustainable food principles in council catering contracts and food 

procurement where possible. 

 Encouraging providers at events in Cambridge, where we have an influence, to use 

sustainable food practice, where appropriate. The Cambridge Folk Festival has won 

the Green Festival award, and the Council has reviewed its approach to sustainability 

at the Big Weekend and Corn Exchange events.  

 Maintaining occupancy rates at the 120 existing allotments at 8 managed by the 

Council. There are a further 14 sites managed by allotment societies. The Council also 

supports meanwhile growing spaces at Queen Edith’s and Cherry Hinton allotments 

and take-up of new allotments and community gardens in new housing developments 

to encourage residents to grow their own food.  

 Using guidance in the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) to encourage developers to incorporate food growing in new housing 

and non-residential development (e.g. providing fruit trees, roof top gardens and 

growing space as part of landscape design). 

 Encouraging residents to choose sustainable, local food and to reduce meat 

consumption through corporate communications messages.  

 Supporting the Cambridgeshire Healthier Options75 awards initiative, which promotes 

healthy produce to small and medium food businesses. The Council engages 

businesses during routine food hygiene inspections to gauge interest, supports them in 

applying and undertakes assessment visits. There are currently 6 businesses in 

Cambridge that have achieved the award. 

 Working in partnership with local voluntary and community groups to address food 

poverty, including working with Cambridge Food Poverty Alliance and Cambridge 

Sustainable Food to develop a food re-distribution hub. 

 Working in partnership with communities and the voluntary sector to develop long term, 

sustainable food solutions that help to tackle food poverty and food waste. In 2020, 120 

tonnes of food was redistributed to residents affected by the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 Working with local churches and community organisations to provide free lunches for 

families during the school holidays. Wherever possible the holiday lunches group has 

sought to reduce use of meat and dairy products, minimise journey miles for lunch 

ingredients, and minimise food waste.  

 

Partnership working – promoting sustainable food 

In addition to the direct activity outlined above, the Council is keen to work with partners 

across the public, private and voluntary and community sectors who are already taking 

                                            
75 For more information on Cambridgeshire Healthier Options visit: http://www.healthier-options.org.uk/about/  

Page 88

http://www.healthier-options.org.uk/about/


57 
 

forward many valuable food initiatives in the city.  

The Council has been an active member of the Cambridge Sustainable Food Network. We 

have supported the successful efforts of partners in the network to secure Bronze Award 

status for the city under the framework provided by the national Sustainable Food Cities 

Network and their award scheme. The partnership is currently aiming to achieve the Sliver 

Award during 2021, which has more challenging targets for local partners to achieve, and 

ultimately hopes to pursue the Gold Award in future.  

The Council has also recognised local voluntary group Cambridge Sustainable Food 

(CSF) as the lead organisation on sustainable food issues (a requirement of the Bronze 

Award), and has provided grant funding to CSF from its Sustainable City Grants and 

Community Grants for a number of projects since 2017, including:   

 Organising a Summer Vegetable Festival in July 2019, which was attended by 3,365 

people and involved 41 partners delivering 13 events. 

 Running an annual Cambridge Pumpkin Festival from 2014 to 2017. The Festival has 

grown in popularity each year, reaching 3,700 attendances in 2017. The 10-day 

programme of festival events has included a ‘Meet the Suppliers’ pop-up farmers’ 

market event, which proved particularly popular. 

 A World War 2 rationing challenge in 2017, which 90 residents participated in. 

 Holding community engagement stalls providing advice on food footprints at events 

such as Arbury Carnival, Chesterton Festival, Abbey Big Lunch and Council-organised 

Community Action Days. 

 Developing community fridges to redistribute surplus food from local small and 

medium-sized food businesses. 

 Providing a programme of more than 100 cookery sessions in areas of deprivation over 

3 years, helping participants to prepare healthy, low cost meals. 

 Developing and promoting a Sustainable Food Pledge and supporting 26 businesses to 

work towards the award from 2015/16 to 2017/18.   

 Engaging with businesses to encourage them to reduce food waste, including media 

activity, developing online resources and working directly with 10 businesses, 6 of 

which implemented food waste reduction policies. 

 

  

Page 89



58 
 

Objective 6 - Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the 

impacts of climate change 

 

The Council has an important role to play in managing the risks associated with climate 

change and preparing for and adapting to the impacts of severe weather. Climate change 

will increasingly impact on Cambridge residents, particularly those who are most 

vulnerable, and businesses.  It will also affect council services, from the buildings that we 

manage through to open spaces and our role in emergency planning. 

 

Action to develop climate resilience can also deliver wider environmental benefits, 

including protecting and enhancing landscapes and biodiversity and providing open space, 

which can support the delivery of health and wellbeing objectives.   

 

Global and national climate change risks  

  

At a global level, projected global temperature increases over the next 80 years would lead 

to mass species extinctions, food and water insecurity, further increases in extreme 

weather events, flooding of coastal cities as a result of sea levels rising, and health 

impacts such as increasing prevalence of malaria. Even if the Paris agreement goals are 

delivered in full and global temperature rise is limited to 1.5°C, there will be further impacts 

from climate change beyond those already occurring today.76 

 

The most recent UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) CCRA77 produced in 2017 

identifies six priority risk areas for the UK: 

 

 flooding and coastal change 

 to health and well-being from high temperatures 

 water shortages 

 to natural capital 

 to food production and trade 

 from pests and diseases and invasive non-native species 

 

Climate change risks in Cambridge 

 

While it is difficult to accurately project exactly how the climate in Cambridge will change, 

in 2009 the UK Climate Projections programme (UKCP09) provided projections of how the 

climate will change in the East of England, based on different carbon emissions scenarios. 

The three most likely effects of climate change for the East of England include:78  

                                            
76 UK Climate Change Committee, 2020, The Sixth Carbon Budget: the UK’s path to Net Zero, p16 
77 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), 2017, UK Climate Change Risk 
Assessment https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-2017  
78 Climate UK, 2012, A Summary of Climate Change Risks for East England: to coincide with the publication 

of the UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA),  

Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-2017


59 
 

 Higher winter rainfall and increases in intense rainfall, leading to increased risk of 

flooding from rivers and watercourses or surface water flooding.79  

 Drier summers, leading to water shortages and droughts.  

 Increased summer temperatures, leading to overheating. For example, Cambridge 

experiencing the highest temperature ever recorded in the UK of 38.7°C in July 2019. 

 

The likely impacts of these changes include: decreases in human and non-human health 

and wellbeing; damage to built and green infrastructure: and increased demand and costs 

for public services. 

 

Policy and regulatory powers – Existing Local Plan policies on adaptation 

 

The national Climate Change Committee identified adaptation as one of the areas where 

local authorities have scope to influence by: 

 

 using planning policies to ensure that development is located in low flood risk areas. 

 using planning policies to ensure that new buildings and infrastructure are resilient to 

heat stress; and  

 managing natural resources to promote biodiversity and reduce the risk of flooding. 

 

The Council has used policies in the current Local Plan, which was adopted in 2018, to 

ensure that new housing and non-residential developments in Cambridge include 

measures to manage climate change risks. Key policies in the Local Plan include:   

 

 A requirement for major developers of new properties and redevelopment of existing 

floorspace to prepare a sustainability statement which includes a focus on climate 

change adaptation. This includes focus on efficient water use, water re-use and 

recycling, and water management and conservation. Further guidance on climate 

change adaptation is included in the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and 

Construction SPD. 

 A water efficiency policy requiring new housing developments to meet a standard of 

110 litres/person/day or lower. Some developments are going beyond this standard 

utilising rainwater harvesting systems to further reduce potable water use..  

 Policies on flood risk to ensure that new developments are not at risk from flooding, 

and that they do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere 

 Policies on surface water management to reduce flood risk from new developments. 

This includes requirements for measures such as Sustainable Drainage Systems 

(SuDs), permeable paving and surfaces, and green and brown roofs on all flat roofs, 

which can help slow down surface water run-off and reduce the risk of flooding. There 

                                            
79 Cambridgeshire Flood Risk Partnership 19, 2011, Cambridge and Milton Surface Water Management Plan 
(2011), and Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, 2010 

Page 91



60 
 

are many examples where these policies have been implemented, including new 

Council housing at the Ironworks on Mill Road and the Nine Wells private housing 

development includes. 

 Policies on paving over front gardens, which permit paving only where there will be 

no adverse impact on surface water run-off, particularly for those areas of the city with 

high risk of surface water flooding 

 

Policy and regulatory powers – new Local Plan policies on adaptation 

 

It is anticipated that, subject to the outcomes of the current national consultation on 

planning reforms, the new Greater Cambridge Local Plan will also include policies on 

climate change adaptation. This could include: water efficiency policies to help reduce 

water consumption and manage water resources; Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDs) 

measures to help reduce flood risk; designing buildings that are simple to keep cool; and 

the role of cool building materials and green infrastructure. 

 

As part of the evidence base for the new Greater Cambridge Local Plan, the Greater 

Cambridge Shared Planning Service has commissioned an Integrated Water Management 

Study.80 The initial findings of this work have found that in relation to water supply, the 

current level of water abstraction is unsustainable and needs to be significantly reduced to 

safeguard natural river flow. Depending on the level of future housing growth in Greater 

Cambridge, potential interventions range from greater water efficiency levels in new 

developments and existing housing, to a need for longer-term investment in new regional 

scale infrastructure, such as water supply reservoirs and transfer schemes.  

Council services, businesses and residents – managing climate change risks 

 

In addition to planning policies, we are taking a range of other steps to help Council 

services, residents and businesses to adapt to the impacts of climate change, including: 

  

 Developing an Environmental Management System (EMS) for Environmental Services 

activity and seek ISO40001 accreditation. This will include a focus on reducing water 

consumption, potentially through reduce plant watering and sourcing water through 

rainwater harvesting systems for plant watering and public toilets. 

 Moving to perennial plants which require less watering on Council-owned and 

maintained parks and open spaces. 

 Measures to increase water efficiency (including the potential use of communal 

rainwater harvesting/reuse schemes) and reduce overheating in the Cambridge 

                                            
80 Stantec, 2020, Greater Cambridge Local Plan Strategic Options assessment: Integrated Water 
Management Assessment 

Page 92



61 
 

Sustainable Housing Design Guide, which sets standards for new Council homes and 

is promoted to private developers 

 Working with Cambridge Water to promote water saving messages to residents and 

businesses. 

 Encouraging low income residents to switch to water meters (where this will achieve a 

bill saving) and promoting water saving measures to vulnerable and low income 

residents. 

 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and other partners in the Cambridgeshire 

Flood Risk Management Partnership to manage climate change-related flood risks. 

 Retrofitting flood measures at some vulnerable privately-owned homes.  

 Providing advice to vulnerable residents on how to reduce health risks during 

heatwaves on the Council website and in Cambridge Matters (the Council residents 

magazine) and Open Door (the Council’s magazine for its housing tenants). 

 

Council land, residents, businesses and institutions – increasing tree canopy cover 

 

As well as helping to absorb carbon emissions, trees can help reduce climate change 

impacts, such as overheating (by providing shade and cooling and reducing the Urban 

Heat Island effect) and flooding (by slowing surface water run-off). The Council is helping 

to enhance tree canopy cover and other “green infrastructure” in Cambridge by:  

 

 Implementing the Council’s tree strategy81, which focuses on managing over 30,000 

trees on Council land sustainably and protecting and enhancing the 210,000 trees that 

exist on land owned by universities, hospitals, institutions, businesses, individual 

householders and other landowners. The strategy sets out 56 actions relating to the 

protection, management and enhancement of the urban forest 

 Increasing the number of trees in Cambridge through tree planting activities. In 2019/20 

the Council planted 500 trees and gave away a further 350 trees to residents as part of 

the ‘Free Trees for Babies’ scheme. 

 Launching a major Cambridge Canopy Project82 which aims to significantly increase 

the tree canopy in Cambridge from 17% to 19% of the area of the city (the average 

canopy cover in England is 16%). 

 

Council land, residents, businesses and institutions – increasing biodiversity 

 

Climate change is contributing to extinction of species and loss of biodiversity at a global 

level. As well as the huge environmental impacts, biodiversity loss due to climate change 

                                            
81 Cambridge City Council, 2015, Tree Strategy 2016-2026 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/tree-strategy  
82 For more information on the Cambridge Canopy Project see: https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/cambridge-
canopy-project  

Page 93

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/tree-strategy
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/cambridge-canopy-project
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/cambridge-canopy-project


62 
 

is predicted to impact on food security and the health, incomes and well being of millions 

of people across the world. 

 

At a local level, the Council has taken a range of action over the past 5 years to promote 

biodiversity, and helping to the local environment to respond to climate change: 

 

 Designating and managing 12 Local Nature Reserves to protect the best wildlife 

habitats in the city. We have delivered a number of projects to improve these reserves 

in recent years. For example, in autumn 2020 we worked with the newly formed 

Friends group to consult on proposals to double the area of Logan’s Meadow Local 

Nature Reserve (LNR). This would include the creation of new fen and floodplain 

habitats, including wet woodland, grassland, reedbeds and scrapes. 

 New back water habitats have been created along the River Cam at Trumpington 

Meadows, Paradise Local Nature Reserve (LNR) and Logan’s Meadow LNR and 

natural bypass channels allowing fish passage at Byron’s Pool LNR and Sheep’s 

Green and Coe Fen LNR.   Additional water course related projects are being 

developed at Jesus Green and Logan’s Meadow LNR. 

 Ceasing use of herbicides in maintenance of Council-owned parks and green spaces. 

 Creating long grass and meadow areas across 15 acres of formal parks to create 

habitats for insects and predators and connect with other habitats. 

 Using a new “cut and collect” machine to maintain road verges, which will reduce 

cuttings left on verges and improve the fertility of the soil for wildlife (subject to BSR) 

 Watercourse restoration projects to improve their flow and storage capacity and deliver 

wider biodiversity benefits, including work at Cherry Hinton Brook and Sheep’s Green 

Nature Reserve. 

 

The Council declared a Biodiversity Emergency in May 201983 and is currently developing 

a new Biodiversity Strategy for 2021 to 2030 (to replace its existing Nature Conservation 

Strategy84 for 2006-2026). The Strategy will focus on: 

 

 Commissioning a biodiversity audit for the city to provide a baseline for measurement 

of future increases in biodiversity.  

 Delivering a measurable biodiversity net gain on the City Council’s. This will be 

achieved through enhanced management of Council-owned land to make it more 

hospitable to wildlife, including existing designated Local Nature Reserves and parks, 

open spaces, road verges and incidental spaces.  

                                            
83 For more information the Council’s Biodiversity declaration see: 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/biodiversity-emergency  
84 Cambridge City Council, 2006, Nature Conservation Strategy  
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/nature-conservation-strategy  

Page 94

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/biodiversity-emergency
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/nature-conservation-strategy


63 
 

 Engaging and influencing individuals, institutions and businesses to implement similar 

measures on their land to create a citywide network around the core LNRs. 

 

The Greater Cambridge Chalk Stream project will be a key focus of the new strategy. 

Cambridge and the surrounding area has internationally rare chalk stream habitats, but 

these are affected by water extraction from the aquifers to provide drinking water for 

homes and other properties in the city. The Council and Cambridge Water has undertaken 

an assessment of the pressures facing our chalk streams and prioritised action for 

investment and community involvement. The Council will initially be focussing on making 

improvements to Cherry Hinton Brook, Vicars Brook at Coe Fen, and Coldhams Brook on 

Stourbridge Common. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 95



64 
 

Glossary  

 

Term Meaning 

BREEAM BREEAM is an international sustainability scheme that provides 

independent third-party certification of the assessment of the 

sustainability performance of individual buildings and 

infrastructure projects. The BREEAM rating benchmark levels 

enables stakeholders to compare an individual building’s 

performance with other BREEAM-rated buildings and the typical 

sustainability performance of new non-domestic buildings in the 

UK. 

Building Energy 

Management System 

(BEMS) 

Building Energy Management Systems (BEMS) are integrated, 

computerised systems for monitoring and controlling energy-

related building services plant and equipment such as heating, 

ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems. 

Cambridge 

Sustainable Housing 

Design Guide 

The 2017 Cambridge Sustainable Housing Design Guide set out 

key design principles for the development of council owned land 

and new social housing delivered by/for the Greater Cambridge 

Housing Development Agency (HDA) in Cambridge.  For some 

areas, such as energy, water and space, the Guide includes 

performance specifications and minimum requirements. The 

Guide is currently being updated to reflect the standards agreed 

for new City Council homes to be built from 2021 onwards. 

Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough 

Combined Authority 

(CPCA) 

The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority was 

established in 2017. It is made up of a directly elected Mayor, 

seven local authorities and the Business Board (Local 

Enterprise Partnership).The Combined Authority works with 

local councils, the Business Board, local public services, 

Government departments and agencies, universities and 

businesses to grow the local and national economy.  

City Deal (Greater 

Cambridge) 

The Greater Cambridge City Deal is a deal between central 

Government and local authorities in the Greater Cambridge 

areas which is providing up to £500 million funding over 15 

years for transport, jobs, skills and homes.  

Code for Sustainable 

Homes (CfSH) 

The Code for Sustainable Homes (the Code) was an 

environmental assessment method for rating and certifying the 

performance of new homes. It was a national standard for use in 

the design and construction of new homes with a view to 

encouraging continuous improvement in sustainable home 

building. It was launched in December 2006 and withdrawn by 

Government in 2015. 

Combined Heat and 

Power plant (CHP) 

Combined heat and power (CHP) is a highly efficient process 

that captures and utilises the heat that is a by-product of the 

Page 96



65 
 

Term Meaning 

electricity generation process. By generating heat and power 

simultaneously, CHP can reduce carbon emissions by up to 

30% compared to the separate means of conventional 

generation via a boiler and power station. 

Energie Sprong Energiesprong is a whole-house approach to retrofitting homes 

developed initially in the Netherlands, and currently being 

introduced to other European countries including the UK. 

Energiesprong aims to achieve net zero energy in homes, by 

generating the total amount of energy required for its heating, 

hot water and electrical appliances onsite. This is achieved by 

using new technologies such as prefabricated facades, insulated 

rooftops with solar panels, and smart low-carbon heating and 

ventilation and cooling installations. 

Energy Performance 

Certificate (EPC) 

An Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rates the energy 

efficiency and environmental impact of a property. It is rated on 

a scale from A to G (where A is the most efficient and G the 

least efficient).  

Greater Cambridge 

Partnership (GCP) 

The Greater Cambridge Partnership is the delivery body for the 

Greater Cambridge City Deal. The 4 partners are Cambridge 

City Council, Cambridgeshire County Council, South 

Cambridgeshire District Council and the University of 

Cambridge. 

Greater Cambridge 

Shared Planning 

Service 

The Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Service is the joint 

planning service for Cambridge City Council and South 

Cambridgeshire District Council. The service is currently 

developing a new Local Plan for the Greater Cambridge area 

and the North East Cambridge Area Action Plan. 

Greater Cambridge 

Shared Waste 

Service 

The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service is a joint service 

responsible for waste collection from domestic properties for 

Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District 

Council. It also provides a commercial waste collection service 

for businesses and institutions in the Greater Cambridge area. 

Green Deal The Green Deal was a government scheme that provided loans 

to households to finance energy-efficiency improvements. The 

loan was designed to be paid back through the savings made on 

energy bills. The original scheme ran from 2013 to July 2015, 

when the government stopped supporting the Green Deal 

Finance Company. 

Green Homes Grant The Green Homes Grant is a government scheme which 

provides funding up to £5,000 (or £10,000 for low-income 

homes) to homeowners for energy efficiency improvements to 

their homes, including the installation of heat pumps and new 

Page 97



66 
 

Term Meaning 

insulation. The scheme was launched in 2020, with total funding 

of £2 billion made available, including £500 million for the Green 

Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (LAD) scheme, which 

provides funding for local authorities to improve the poorest 

performing properties. 

Heat Pumps – 

Ground Source Heat 

Pumps (GSHP) and 

Air Source Heat 

Pumps (ASHP) 

Heat pumps are a form of electric heating where energy is 

extracted from the environment in order to provide space or 

water heating at a high efficiency. They operate via a cycle of 

vaporization and subsequent condensation of a refrigerant and 

typically transfer an amount of heat energy 3-4 times larger than 

the electrical energy used. Air source heat pumps (ASHP) 

extract heat from the outside air, while ground source heat 

pumps (GSHP) use heat from the soil or ground water. 

LED A light-emitting diode (LED) is a semiconductor light source that 

emits light when current flows through it. LED lighting products 

produce light up to 90% more efficiently than traditional 

incandescent light bulbs. 

Local Plan Local Plans are prepared by Local Planning authorities to set 

out a vision and a framework for the future development of an 

area. They establish the number of new homes and jobs that 

should be planned for in the local area, where this development 

should take place, and the services, facilities and infrastructure 

that should accompany development.  

Passivhaus Passivhaus is a voluntary standard of energy efficiency in 

homes and other buildings. It focusses on a fabric-first approach 

to minimising energy consumption from space heating and 

cooling. Passivhaus buildings are well constructed, insulated 

and ventilated, so that they retain heat from the sun and the 

activities of occupants, requiring very little additional heating or 

cooling. 

SAP rating A SAP rating is a way of comparing energy performance of 

different homes – it results in a figure between 1 and 100. The 

higher the SAP rating, the lower the fuel costs and the lower the 

carbon emissions. 

SCATTER The SCATTER tool generates a local greenhouse gas 

emissions inventory following the Global Protocol for City-wide 

Greenhouse Gas emissions. It was developed by BEIS, 

Nottingham City Council, the Greater Manchester Combined 

Authority and the Tyndall Centre for Climate Research at the 

University of Manchester and Anthesis Group. For more 

information see: https://scattercities.com/   

Page 98

https://scattercities.com/


67 
 

Term Meaning 

SMEs Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) are companies 

with 250 employees or less.  

Solar PV Solar electricity panels, also known as photovoltaics (PV), 

capture the sun’s energy and convert it into electricity for use. 

Solar thermal Solar water heating (also known as solar thermal), is the 

process of capturing energy from the sun via the use of solar 

panels, to heat water for use. 

Ultra Low Emission 

Vehicles (ULEVs) 

Plug-in hybrid vehicles (PHEV) or extended range electric 

vehicles (E-Rev) with carbon dioxide emissions less than 75g 

per km 

Variable Speed 

Drives 

A device that can vary the speed of a fixed speed motor or 

pump. 

Voltage optimisation Voltage management devices that reduce energy consumption 

by regulating incoming electricity supplies 

Zero-emission 

vehicles 

Vehicles those that emit no emissions during their operation. 

These include battery electric vehicles, hydrogen fuel cell 

vehicles, and electric vehicles 

 

 

  

Page 99



68 
 

Appendix A – Potential future reductions in City Council carbon emissions 

 

The chart below seeks to provide an indicative illustration of what the impact on the 

Council’s carbon emissions could be, if we were able to implement all the potential carbon 

reduction measures identified by Bouygues, and assuming that these have the impact 

suggested by the modelling in the high-level study. The chart also provides an indication of 

how these reductions could compare with the carbon emissions pathway proposed by the 

Tyndall Centre above.  

 

 
 

The chart takes the Council’s total direct carbon emissions in 2014/15 (which were 8,041 

tC02e) as the starting point. The lines on the chart represent: 

 

 Orange - shows what the 5-year percentage reductions in carbon emissions in the 

Tyndall Centre pathway for Cambridge would look like if they were applied to the 

Council’s total direct carbon emissions from a 2014/15 staring point.  

 Grey - shows the Council’s actual total direct carbon emissions for the period from 

2014/15 to 2019/20, and then what the Council’s emissions would look like if the 

average rate of reduction for this period was sustained to 2030.  

 Blue - shows the total carbon emissions from the 29 buildings included in the net zero 

carbon study (a subset of the Council’s total direct carbon emissions) and Bouygues 

estimates of how these could be reduced if the measures identified in the study were 

implemented. 

 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

2
0

1
9

/2
0

2
0

2
0

/2
1

2
0

2
1

/2
2

2
0

2
2

/2
3

2
0

2
3

/2
4

2
0

2
4

/2
5

2
0

2
5

/2
6

2
0

2
6

/2
7

2
0

2
7

/2
8

2
0

2
8

/2
9

2
0

2
9

/3
0

2
0

3
0

/3
1

2
0

3
1

/3
2

2
0

3
2

/3
3

2
0

3
3

/3
4

2
0

3
4

/3
5

2
0

3
5

/3
6

2
0

3
6

/3
7

2
0

3
7

/3
8

2
0

3
8

/3
9

2
0

3
9

/4
0

2
0

4
0

/4
1

2
0

4
1

/4
2

2
0

4
2

/4
3

2
0

4
3

/4
4

2
0

4
4

/4
5

2
0

4
5

/4
6

2
0

4
6

/4
7

2
0

4
7

/4
8

2
0

4
8

/4
9

2
0

4
9

/5
0

Bouygues net zero carbon buildings findings

Tyndall Centre model applied to City Council emissions

Current rate of reduction of City Council emission

Page 100



69 
 

Appendix B – Doughnut Economics model 
 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

 

Climate Change Strategy Action Plan - 2021-2026 

 

Objective 1 – Reducing emissions from City Council buildings, land, vehicles and services 

  

 Action Service Date 

1.1 Deliver energy efficiency and renewable energy projects identified in the 

Council’s Carbon Management Plan for 2021-2026 to reduce carbon 

emissions from corporate buildings (including swimming pools, sheltered 

and temporary housing, administrative buildings, car parks, community 

centres, the Corn Exchange and the crematorium).  

Estates and Facilities, 

Corporate Strategy, with 

input from asset managers 

in other services 

March 2026 

1.2 Bid for future central government funding and other green energy funding 

available for investments in energy efficiency and decarbonisation 

measures in the Council’s corporate buildings 

Various Council Services Ongoing to 

March 2026 

1.3 Review the Council’s Office Accommodation Strategy, including an 

assessment of whether existing office buildings should be retained or 

rationalised 

Property Services and 

Estates and Facilities 

July 2021 

1.4 Purchase Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) when replacing vans and 

trucks in the Council’s fleet (where there is a suitable ULEV alternative 

and the infrastructure allows) 

Commercial Services Annually to 

2028 

1.5 Purchase ultra-low emission vehicles (electric or hydrogen) when 

replacing refuse lorries  

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Waste Service 

Annually to 

2028 

P
age 103



 Action Service Date 

1.6 Identify and assess the required improvements possible to remaining 

existing commercial properties (that will not be redeveloped as part of the 

commercial property redevelopment programme) to achieve net zero 

carbon, and obtain costs estimates for the improvement works 

Property Services and 

Estates and Facilities 

 

1.7 Identify and assess the performance standards to achieve net zero 

carbon for any new commercial buildings or redevelopment of existing 

buildings 

Property Services  

1.8 Identify a percentage of the Council’s reserves to invest in innovative 

“green investments” to facilitate measures to offset climate change.  

Finance Service March 2022 

1.9 Review standard tender packs to include the Councils expectations 

around climate change. 

Commercial Services, 

Corporate Strategy 

September 

2021 and then 

reviewed 

annually 

1.10 Provide written guidance for contract managers on climate change 

measures that could be included in contracts and include this information 

in procurement and contract management training for staff. 

Commercial Services, 

Corporate Strategy 

November 

2021 and then 

reviewed 

annually 

1.11 Explore the potential for a review of climate change and sustainability 

commitments by the Council’s existing suppliers, and work with these 

suppliers to improve their performance.  

Commercial Services, 

Corporate Strategy 

Starting July 

and working 

through a 

programme  

1.12 Revise and update the existing Climate Change Assessment tool to 

include net zero carbon considerations and use this to assess the climate 

Corporate Strategy March 2022 

P
age 104



 Action Service Date 

change impacts of budget bids, business cases for capital projects and 

committee reports 

 

Objective 2. Reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions from homes and buildings in Cambridge 

 

Action Service Date 

2.1 Investing £2.5 million in energy efficiency improvements to Council homes 

with poor energy efficiency ratings (predominantly Energy Performance 

Certificate D to G rated stock) from 2020/21 to 2022/23. 

Estates and Facilities March 2023 

2.2 Building 1000 new homes to Passivhaus standards (where technically 

feasible and subject to funding) and targeting net zero carbon standards 

for Council homes built from 2030 onwards. 

Housing Development 

Agency 

2021 onwards 

2.3 Promoting group-buying schemes, including working with Cambridgeshire 

County Council to promote the Solar Together collective scheme to 

homeowners, which provides residents with solar PV and battery storage 

installations at a significantly reduced cost 

Environmental Services Ongoing to 

March 2026 

2.4 Commissioning a study to identify measures needed to retrofit different 

archetypes of homes in Cambridge to Local Plan Plus, Passivhaus and 

net zero carbon standards and producing detailed guidance for 

homeowners and landlords 

Environmental Services, 

Corporate Strategy 

December 2021 

2.5 Bidding for central government funding available for retrofitting energy 

efficiency measures to private homes, including future rounds of the 

Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (LAD) scheme 

Environmental Services Annually as 

opportunities 

arise 

P
age 105



Action Service Date 

2.6 Taking enforcement action against private landlords if their properties do 
not meet the national Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (EPC F and 
G rated stock) 

Environmental Services Ongoing to 
March 2026 

2.7 Developing new policies requiring high standards on carbon emissions 

reduction and environmental sustainability for new homes and non-

residential developments as part of the new Greater Cambridge Local 

Plan, taking into account the outcomes of the net zero evidence base 

study and other evidence informing the plan, as well as the national 

planning policy framework  

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Planning Service 

Submission of 

Local Plan for 

examination in 

Autumn 

2023/Spring 

2024 

 

Objective 3 - Reducing emissions from transport by promoting active travel and public transport, and encouraging a shift 

to electric vehicles and other alternative fuel sources 

 

Action Service Date 

3.1 Supporting the Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP) to deliver a range 

of walking, cycling and bus improvements on key routes into and across 

Cambridge, including: 

 The Chisolm Trail cycling route connecting Cambridge and 

Cambridge North Stations 

 12 Greenways, providing radial cycling and walking routes 

connecting Cambridge and surrounding settlements and employment 

sites. 

 Bus, cycling and waling priority schemes on Histon Road and Milton 

Road 

All services Ongoing to 

March 2026 

P
age 106



Action Service Date 

 Public transport corridor schemes to connect growing communities to 

employment hubs 

3.2 Implementing the Local Lettings Plan framework for new Council 

housing developments, which will give priority to people working within 

an agreed geographical radius of the development. This measure is 

intended to help reduce commuting by car from tenants of new Council 

housing developments 

Housing Services  

3.4 Building new Council housing developments in Cambridge with a target 

of less than one car parking space per home to encourage travel by 

walking, cycling or public transport, subject to individual development 

requirements  

Housing Development 

Agency 

Ongoing 

3.5 Promote sustainable modes of transport through the planning system by: 

 Applying policies in the current Local Plan to support housing and 

non-residential development which prioritises access by walking, 

cycling and public transport. 

 Develop new policies related to promoting sustainable transport and 

ensure that the accessibility of new development sites to sustainable 

transport infrastructure is a key aspect in decision making in 

preparing the Greater Cambridge Local Plan. 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Planning Service 

Ongoing with 

submission of 

new Local Plan 

for examination 

in Autumn 

2023/Spring 

2024 

 

3.6 Developing and undertaking a programme of activities in the city to 

promote walking, cycling and the use of public transport across a range 

of settings including schools, colleges, workplaces, open spaces and 

communities (through the Active Travel Officer and Active Lifestyles 

Team) 

Environmental Services and 

Community Services 

From 2021 

onwards 

P
age 107



Action Service Date 

3.7 Encouraging attendees and contractors at Council run events, including 

the Cambridge Folk Festival and Corn Exchange, to consider more 

sustainable transport options when travelling to events, and working with 

the County Council transport team to ensure the city evening economy is 

served by sufficient bus transport taking people back out to outlying 

towns and villages. 

Community Service Ongoing to 

March 2026 

3.8 Completing installation of 18 rapid and 3 fast electric charge points for 

taxis in Cambridge by 2021 

Environmental Services December 2021 

3.9 Requiring all new taxis registered in Cambridge to be Ultra Low 

Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) or zero emissions vehicles from 2020, and 

all taxis to be ULEVs or zero emissions vehicles by 2028 

Environmental Services 2028 

3.10 Using policies in the Sustainable Design and Construction 

Supplementary Planning Document to require provision of electric 

vehicle charging points in future new housing and non-residential 

developments and consider the need for new policies in the Greater 

Cambridge Local Plan to support the electrification of transport. 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Planning Service 

Ongoing 

3.11 Procuring a commercial partner by 2022 to deliver electric vehicle 

charging infrastructure in Council car parks and other Council-owned 

land and sites. 

Commercial Services December 2022 

3.12 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and UK Power Networks 

to facilitate on-street residential electric charge points where there is no 

scope for off-street charging. 3 initial pilot schemes for ‘charging 

collectives’ will be procured during 2021. 

Environmental Services April 2022 

P
age 108



Action Service Date 

3.13 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and the CPCA on a wider 

electric vehicle charging strategy. 

Environmental Services Ongoing 

3.14 Working with GCP and bus operators to explore opportunities for further 

investment in electric buses. 

Environmental Services Ongoing 

 

Objective 4 - Reducing consumption of resources and waste, and increasing repair, re-use and recycling of goods and 

materials 

 

Action Service Date 

4.1 Funding activities through the Council’s Sustainable City Grants by 

voluntary and community groups to reduce consumption and increase 

repair, re-use and recycling 

Corporate Strategy Annually 

4.2 Supporting the national Refill campaign by promoting over 100 free 

drinking water taps in Cambridge, including a number of drinking taps 

and fountains provided by the Council. 

Corporate Strategy, 

Environmental Services 

Ongoing 

4.3 Reducing plastics usage at Council-run events such as Cambridge Folk 

Festival and the Big Weekend 

Community Services Ongoing 

4.4 Extending trials of separate collections of food waste to more households 

(evidence to date suggests this increases recycling of food waste and 

ultimately reduces the amount of household food waste). 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Waste Service 

May 2021 

4.5 Continue communications campaigns to raise awareness and encourage 

residents to recycle more, using communications channels such as 

events, social media, leaflets and residents’ magazines 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Waste Service 

Ongoing 

P
age 109



Action Service Date 

4.6 Encouraging businesses to take-up recycling and food-waste collections 

provided by the Council on a commercial basis 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Waste Service 

Ongoing 

4.7 Working with leading businesses and manufacturers to reduce packaging 

and make products more re-useable and recyclable 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Waste Service 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

Objective 5 – Promoting sustainable and local food sources 

 

Action Service  Date 

5.1 Incorporating sustainable food principles in council catering and at 

Council-run events where possible 

All services Ongoing 

5.2 Work in partnership with local voluntary and community groups to 

address food poverty, including working with Cambridge Food Poverty 

Alliance and Cambridge Sustainable Food to develop a food re-

distribution hub 

Community Services Ongoing 

5.3 Supporting the work of local Community Food Hubs to provide free, 

sustainable food to residents affected by the Covid-19 pandemic 

Community Services 2021 

5.4 Continuing to work with the Cambridge Sustainable Food network 

towards achieving the Sustainable Food Cities Network Silver Award for 

Cambridge, and exploring opportunities to apply for the Gold Award  

Corporate Strategy 2021 (for Silver 

Award 

submission) 

5.5 Encouraging residents to choose sustainable, local food and to reduce 

meat consumption through corporate communications messages 

Corporate Strategy Ongoing 

P
age 110



Action Service  Date 

5.6 Maintaining the current level of occupancy rates at existing allotments 

and supporting take-up of new community gardens and allotments in 

growth sites to encourage residents to grow their own food  

Environmental Services Ongoing 

5.7  Using guidance in the Sustainable Design and Construction 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to encourage developers to 
incorporate food growing in new housing and non-residential 
development (e.g. providing fruit trees, roof top gardens and growing 
space as part of landscape design) 

Greater Cambridge Shared 
Planning Service 

Ongoing 

5.8 Working with local voluntary and community groups and other partners to 

promote sustainable food practices to local businesses 

Corporate Strategy Ongoing (annually 

through 

Sustainable City 

Grants) 

 

Objective 6 - Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the impacts of climate change 

 

Action Service Date 

6.1 Developing an Environmental Management System (EMS) for 

Environmental Services activity and seek ISO40001 accreditation. This 

will include a focus on reducing water consumption, potentially through 

reduce plant watering and sourcing water through rainwater harvesting 

systems for plant watering and public toilets. 

Environmental Services  

6.2 Working with Cambridge Water to promote water saving messages to 

residents and businesses  

Corporate Strategy, 

Environmental Services 

Ongoing 

6.3 Promoting the use of council pools/ paddling pools/ splash pads in the 

event of hosepipe bans in conjunction with the local water company, to 

Community Services Ongoing 

P
age 111



Action Service Date 

encourage residents to utilise council facilities instead of using water to 

fill up garden paddling pools etc. 

6.4 Requiring new housing to meet the water efficiency standards in the 

current Local Plan (maximum of 110 litres/person/day) and explore 

where higher standards may be needed in the new Local Plan. 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Planning Service 

Ongoing 

6.5 Exploring opportunities to manage climate risks through policies in the 

new Local Plan, subject to the outcomes of the current national 

consultation on planning reforms. This could include: water efficiency 

policies to help reduce water consumption and manage water resources; 

designing buildings that are simple to keep cool; and Sustainable Urban 

Drainage (SUDs) measures to help reduce flood risk. 

Greater Cambridge Shared 

Planning Service 

Submission of 

Local Plan for 

examination in 

Autumn 

2023/Spring 2024 

 

6.6 Increasing the tree canopy cover through tree planting and protection on 

public and private land, and using parks, open spaces and other green 

infrastructure in the city to help regulate temperatures. 

Environmental Services Ongoing 

6.7 Providing advice to residents on how to reduce health risks during 

heatwaves  

Corporate Strategy Ongoing 

6.8 Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and other partners in the 

Cambridgeshire Flood Risk Management Partnership to manage climate 

change-related flood risks. 

Environmental Services Ongoing 

6.9 Delivering a measurable biodiversity net gain on the City Council’s 

estate through enhanced management of existing Local Nature 

Reserves and making parks and housing open spaces more hospitable 

to wildlife through creation of meadows, scrub and woodland. 

Environmental Services Ongoing 

P
age 112



Action Service Date 

6.10 Engaging and influencing individuals, institutions and businesses to take 

steps to make their land more hospitable and permeable to wildlife and 

help create a citywide network of sites. 

Environmental Services Ongoing 

6.11 Implementing projects to manage water courses and improve 

biodiversity, including a project to improve rare chalk stream habitats in 

Cambridge. Initial work will focus on Cherry Hinton Brook, Vicars Brook 

at Coe Fen, and Coldhams Brook on Stourbridge Common.  

Environmental Services Ongoing 

6.12 Move to cease the use of herbicide on grass road verges and trial using 

a new grass cutting and collecting machine, which will reduce cuttings 

left on verges, improve the fertility of the soil for wildlife and support 

biodiversity. 

Environmental Services March 2022 

 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX 4 

Cambridge City Council - Carbon Management Plan 2021-2026 

1. Introduction 

The Council is committed to reducing the carbon emissions from its buildings and 

fleet and has previously implemented two Carbon Management Plans over the last 

ten years, which have helped to reduce its emissions by 28.9% from a 2014/15 

baseline.  

One of the six objectives of the Council’s new Climate Change Strategy 2021-26 is 

“Reducing emissions from City Council buildings, land, vehicles and services”. We 

have developed this Carbon Management Plan to help deliver this objective. The 

Plan sets out how the Council will continue to reduce carbon emissions from its 

buildings and fleet, which in 2019/20 was responsible for 1.1% of the city’s 

emissions. 

Over the next five years, the Council will continue to act to reduce the carbon 

emissions from the sources that it controls directly and has the greatest influence 

over. These include Council buildings and land (where the Council owns the building 

or land and pays the energy bills), Council fleet vehicles and business travel (travel 

by staff in their own vehicles for business purposes).  

In the new Climate Change Strategy, we have set a target to reduce the Council’s 

direct carbon emissions to net zero by 2030. This Plan identifies a prioritised list of 

carbon reduction projects for the next five years and sets out a broad approach to 

reduce the Council’s emissions to net zero by 2030. This will primarily be achieved 

through moving from gas heating to low carbon heating in our buildings, and the 

commitment to purchase ultra-low emission vehicles (vans, trucks and refuse 

collection vehicles) when they are due for replacement (where viable). 

2. Progress to date 

In March 2016, we set a target to reduce the Council’s direct emissions by 15-20% 

between 2014/15 and 2020/21 in the Carbon Management Plan for 2016-2021. As 

shown by Figure 1, the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions reduced by 28.9% from 

2014/15 to 2019/20. Total gross emissions reduced by 2,320 tCO2e, from 8,041 

tCO2e in 2014/15 to 5,721 tCO2e in 2019/20. Over the past 6 years, the Council’s 

carbon emissions have reduced by an average of 387 tCO2e per year. 

 

 

 

Page 115



2 
 

Figure 1. Cambridge City Council Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tCO2) 

 
 

The reduction in the Council’s emissions from 2014/15 to 2019/20 is partly due to 

steps that the Council has taken, including rationalising its office accommodation, 

investing in energy efficiency and installing renewable energy measures in its 

corporate buildings, and reducing carbon emissions from its fleet vehicles.  

 

As a result, the Council’s electricity usage has significantly reduced over the past 6 

years as shown in the chart below.  

 

Figure 2. Total Electricity Consumption (Scopes 2 +3) 

 
 

The reduction in the Council’s emissions has also been partly due to the 

decarbonisation of the electricity supply at the national level in recent years, which 

8,041
7,584

7,234

6,564
6,011

5,721

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

to
n

n
e

s 
C

O
2

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

9,000,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

kW
h

Page 116



3 
 

meant that the electricity used by the Council has become steadily more low carbon, 

as shown in Figure 3.  

 

Figure 3. Total Electricity Emissions (Scopes 2 + 3)  

 
 

Last year (2020) was the greenest year on record for Britain’s electricity system, with 

average carbon intensity (the measure of carbon dioxide emissions per unit of 

electricity consumed) reaching a new low (46 gCO2/kWh on 24 May 2020). The year 

saw the highest ever share of wind power of the electricity mix (59.9% on 26 

August) and solar power (34% on 30 May). This follows a trend that has seen the 

electricity system decarbonise by 66% in the last seven years and progress towards 

a national target of a carbon-free system by 20251.   
 

Since 2016 the Council has procured electricity for the Council’s buildings on a green 

tariff since which comes from 100% renewable sources, including solar, wind and 

hydro/wave. The Council will benefit from electricity matched to Renewable Energy 

Guarantees of Origin (REGOs). REGOs provide transparency on the proportion of 

energy coming from renewable sources and means that the Council can record the 

electricity purchased on this tariff as an emission reduction against its gross 

emissions in its annual Greenhouse Gas report (as net emissions).  

 

However, as shown by Figures 4 and 5, we have not reduced our gas consumption, 

or the carbon emissions associated with gas consumption, very significantly to date. 

This is despite the installation of projects that will reduce the gas consumption of 

buildings, such as more efficient boilers and insulation.   

 

Achieving the carbon emissions reduction target for the Council’s corporate 

buildings, fleet vehicles and business travel will require the Council’s direct carbon 

                                            
1 https://www.nationalgrid.com/stories/journey-to-net-zero-stories/2020-greenest-year-record-britain  

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

t 
C

O
2

Page 117

https://www.nationalgrid.com/stories/journey-to-net-zero-stories/2020-greenest-year-record-britain


4 
 

emissions to reduce at a more rapid rate. For the reasons outlined above, reducing 

our gas usage from buildings (for heat) will be the major part of the challenge of 

reducing our emissions to net zero carbon.  

 

Figure 4. Total Gas Consumption (Scopes 1 + 3) 

 
 

Figure 5. Total Gas Emissions (Scopes 1 + 2)  

 
 

 

3. Measurement of Emissions   

The Council has measured and published its greenhouse gas (GHG) report detailing 

the total gross greenhouse gas emissions from the Council’s estate and operations, 

on an annual basis since 2014/15. We have used HM Government’s Environmental 

0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

12,000,000

14,000,000

16,000,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

kW
h

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

t 
C

O
2

Page 118



5 
 

Reporting Guidelines2, a document designed to help all organisations with voluntary 

GHG emissions reporting, and advice from the then Department of Energy and 

Climate Change, to determine the relevant energy sources that the Council is 

responsible for and should include in its carbon emissions baseline calculated in 

2014/15.  

The quantities of energy consumed in Council buildings and the fuel consumed and 

miles travelled in Council fleet and staff vehicles are collated for the financial year. 

The relevant carbon emission factors3, provided annually by the Department for 

Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, are then applied to each type of energy to 

calculate the carbon emissions. The Council’s emissions are grouped under three 

different scopes as per the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (Corporate Standard)4 

methodology and latest UK Government Guidelines: 

 Scope 1: These are direct emissions and include emissions from activities 

owned or controlled by the Council that release emissions into the atmosphere. 

Included in Scope 1 are the emissions from the combustion of gas in boilers in 

buildings owned or controlled by the Council and emissions from the combustion 

of diesel and petrol in fleet vehicles owned or controlled by the Council.   

 Scope 2: These include emissions released into the atmosphere associated with 

the Council’s consumption of purchased electricity. These are indirect emissions 

that are a consequence of the Council’s activities. Scope 2 includes electricity 

consumed in buildings owned or controlled by the Council. It also includes the 

limited streetlighting owned by the Council, including “landlord lighting” provided 

in the communal areas of commercial properties, sheltered housing and other 

housing properties (external lighting and staircase lighting in flats). 

 Scope 3: These are the emissions that are a consequence of the Council’s 

actions, which occur at sources which the Council does not own or control and 

which are not classed as Scope 2 emissions. Included in Scope 3 emissions are 

business travel by means not owned or controlled by the Council (business 

mileage) and the emissions from outsourced services. The gas and electricity 

used at the sites managed by the Council’s outsourced leisure contractor is 

therefore included in Scope 3. Also included in Scope 3 is the transmission and 

distribution losses (T&D losses) for the electricity used by the Council’s buildings 

in both Scope 2 and 3. T&D losses is the power lost in the transmission of (high-

voltage) electricity from power generators to distributors and in the distribution of 

(medium- and low-voltage) electricity from distributors to end-users. 

                                            
2 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85
0130/Env-reporting-guidance_inc_SECR_31March.pdf  
3 www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019  
4 https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard  

Page 119

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/850130/Env-reporting-guidance_inc_SECR_31March.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/850130/Env-reporting-guidance_inc_SECR_31March.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard


6 
 

According to the Greenhouse Gas Accounting Tool5 (which is being developed by 

Local Partnerships, working with the Local Government Association), sources 

considered ‘out of scope’ and not to be included in local authority greenhouse gas 

emissions calculations include: 

 commercial property (where control is given to the tenants through the lease 

agreement or the tenants are responsible),  

 authority housing (except for communal areas for which the Council is 

responsible)  

 private housing (not under the authority’s control or influence).  

 

The Council’s approach to calculating its carbon emissions is aligned with the above 

guidance. The table at Figure 6 details all the sources of the Council’s energy 

included in the Council’s reported greenhouse gas emissions under each scope. 

Figure 6. Emission sources included in the Council’s greenhouse gas 

emissions report, by scope. 

Scope Type of Emissions 
 

Source of 
Emissions 

Sources of Energy/ Fuel Consumption included 

Scope 
1 

Direct 
Emissions 

Emissions 
created 
within the 
city  

Gas 
Consumption 

Council buildings (not outsourced leisure sites 
managed by GLL) 

Communal areas in Council managed 
properties (sheltered housing and commercial 
properties) 

Fleet Fuel 
Use (Diesel, 
Petrol, Gas 
Oil) 

Council fleet vehicles  

Waste fleet vehicles 

Diesel use by generators used by Cambridge 
Live at events 

Scope 
2  

Indirect 
Emissions 

Emissions 
created 
outside the 
city 

Electricity 
Consumption 

Council buildings (not outsourced leisure sites 
managed by GLL) 

Landlord/ communal lighting of areas in Council 
managed properties (sheltered housing, 
housing blocks and commercial properties) 

Streetlighting 

Scope 
3 

Other 
Indirect/ 
Outsourced 
Emissions 

Emissions 
created 
within the 
city, not in 
direct 
control of 
the 
Council 

Business 
Travel 

Staff mileage 

Councillors mileage 

Car Club use by staff 

Gas 
Consumption 

Outsourced (GLL) Leisure Sites 

Emissions 
created 
outside the 
city 

Electricity 
Consumption 

Outsourced (GLL) Leisure Sites 

Transmission 
& Distribution 
Losses 

Council buildings and communal areas in 
Council managed properties (not outsourced 
leisure sites) 

Outsourced (GLL) Leisure Sites 

                                            
5 www.local.gov.uk/greenhouse-gas-accounting-tool  

Page 120

http://www.local.gov.uk/greenhouse-gas-accounting-tool


7 
 

The table at Figure 7 details the total emissions reported for each scope for the past 

6 years. 

Figure 7. Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Scope – 2014-2020. 

 GHG Emissions (tonnes CO2e) 

Scopes 2014/15 
(baseline 
year) 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Scope 1  

Gas Consumption 1,540 1,637 1,544 1,303 1,347 1,478 

Owned Transport (fleet 
and waste vehicle fleet) 

1,209 1,004 1,275 1,315 1,379 1,341 

Total Scope 1  2,749 2,641 2,819 2,618 2,727 2,819 

Scope 2     

Purchased Electricity  2,975 2,597 2,080 1,678 1,254 1,256 

Total Scope 2 2,975 2,597 2,080 1,678 1,254 1,256 

Scope 3       

Business Travel 52 57 59 62 61 64 

Outsourced Activities 
Gas & Electricity 

1,904 2,001 2,012 1,985  1,819 1,449 

Transmission and 
distribution (T&D) losses 

361 288 264 221 150 132 

Total Scope 3  2,317 2,346 2,335 2,268 2,030 1,646 

Total Gross Emissions 8,041  7,584 7,234 6,564   6,011 5,721 

 

4. Aims 

We know that we will need to reduce the Council’s carbon emissions from our 

corporate buildings and fleet vehicles rapidly over the next 5 years if we are to reach 

net zero carbon by 2030. We have therefore targeted the carbon reduction projects, 

detailed in this plan, to address the largest sources of the Council’s emissions to 

achieve the greatest savings, as quickly as possible.  

 

The greatest source of the Council’s emissions is from the consumption of gas to 

heat buildings, followed by electricity, as shown in Figure 8. Emissions from the 

Council’s fleet is also significant as being the source of nearly a quarter of the 

Council’s emissions.  

Page 121



8 
 

Figure 8. 2019/20 Total Council Carbon Emissions (tCO2) 

 

Figure 9 shows how the greening of the electricity grid, along with electricity saving 

measures the Council has installed, has rapidly reduced the emissions from the 

Council’s use of electricity to below that of gas over 5 years since 2014/15. 

 

Figure 9. Total Carbon Emissions 

 
 

We have also targeted carbon reduction projects at the areas of the Council’s activity 

which contribute most to the Council’s emissions. The largest consumers of gas and 

the largest source of the Council’s emissions, are the 5 leisure centres and 

swimming pools, followed by sheltered housing and then the Council’s administration 

buildings as shown in Figure 10. 

  

Gas Emissions 
46%

Electricity 
Emissions 

30%

Fleet
23%

Business Travel
1%

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

to
n

n
es

 C
O

2

Gas Emissions Electricity Emissions Fleet Business Travel

Page 122



9 
 

Figure 10. Carbon emissions from gas consumption (tCO2) 2019/20

 

As shown in Figure 11, the largest source of all emissions in 2019/20 were the 

Council’s 5 leisure facilities which includes 4 swimming pools, accounting for 26% of 

the Council’s emissions. The next largest source of emissions is the Council’s 

vehicle fleet (23%), followed by sheltered housing communal areas (13%), 

administrative buildings (9%), and car parks (8%). We also have a listed 1930s 

Guildhall, and we operate the Corn Exchange concert venue, a listed Victorian 

building. These buildings are likely to be the most technically challenging and 

expensive to retrofit to net zero standard.   

 

Figure 11. Percentage of total City Council Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions from 

different asset groups 2019/20 

 

 
 

 

1,145.7

534.5

272.5

219.8

150.3

145.6

85.0 70.0
Leisure Centres & Pools

Sheltered Housing Communal Areas

Administration Buildings

Crematorium

Community Centres

Corn Exchange

Commercial Property Landlord
Heating & Lighting

Page 123



10 
 

It is therefore clear from the above charts that the priority areas of focus of the 

Council’s carbon reduction activity should be the leisure centres and pools, sheltered 

housing communal areas, administration buildings and fleet vehicles. However, we 

will also develop and implement carbon reduction projects for other significant 

sources of emissions, including the Council’s car parks, the Corn Exchange, 

crematorium and community centres. 

 

 

5. Carbon Reduction Projects 

 

Carbon reduction projects completed 2016-2021 

 

The Council has produced two previous Carbon Management Plans, covering the 

periods from 2012-2016 and 2016-2021. Through these plans, the Council has 

implemented 66 carbon reduction projects on its own corporate buildings and vehicle 

fleet to date, including a range of different energy efficiency, fuel efficiency and 

renewable energy projects. 

These projects have been funded through a total of over £1.4m in contributions from 

the Council’s dedicated Climate Change Fund since 2008/09, as well as further 

investment from planned maintenance and service budgets.   

As described in more detail in Appendix A, the 66 Carbon Management Plan projects 

implemented to date have included: 

 Solar photovoltaic (PV)6 installations at 11 buildings (Guildhall, Mandela 

House, Waterbeach Depot, Parkside Pool, Abbey Pool, Kings Hedges Learner 

Pool, Crematorium, Buchan Street Neighbourhood Centre, Brandon Court, 

Whitefriars, and New Street Hostel). 

 A solar thermal system7 at Abbey Pool, which heats water for the swimming 

pools, showers and other facilities. 

 LED8 lighting at 10 buildings and sites (Guildhall, Mandela House, Grand 

Arcade car park, Grafton East car park, the Corn Exchange, Abbey astroturf 

pitches, Stanton House, School Court, Rawlyn Court and Whitefriars). Motion 

sensors were also installed at many of these sites. 

 Voltage optimisation at 4 sites (the Guildhall, Mandela House, Abbey Pools and 

Grafton East car park). 

                                            
6 Solar electricity panels, also known as photovoltaics (PV), capture the sun’s energy and convert it 
into electricity for use. 
7 Solar water heating (also known as solar thermal), is the process of capturing energy from the sun 
via the use of solar panels, to heat water for use. 
8 A light-emitting diode (LED) is a semiconductor light source that emits light when current flows 
through it. LED lighting products produce light up to 90% more efficiently than incandescent light 
bulbs. 

Page 124



11 
 

 Comprehensive energy efficiency works at the Guildhall, including a Combined 

Heat and Power plant (CHP)9, new Building Energy Management System10 

(BEMS), mechanical works to improve the efficiency of the heating and hot water 

system, roof insulation and secondary glazing. 

 A range of different energy efficiency improvements at different swimming 

pools including pool covers; BEMS, Variable Speed Drives, heat pump, and 

refurbishment of an existing CHP. 

 Upgrading boilers at Mandela House, Abbey Pools, Cherry Hinton Village 

Centre, the Meadows Community Centre and Ross Street Community Centre to 

condensing boilers. 

 Replacing existing fleet vehicles with more fuel-efficient Euro 6 vehicles at the 

end of their life span and introducing 12 electric vans to the Council’s fleet which 

are used by Streets & Open Spaces and Estates & Facilities teams. The Greater 

Cambridge Shared Waste service also purchased one of the first electric refuse 

lorries in the country.  

 Using software solutions to reduce fleet mileage and associated fuel 

consumption and carbon emissions. The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste 

Service has used software to implement more efficient waste collection routes, 

the Council’s Streets and Open Spaces teams have used software to schedule 

tasks in sequence and reduce vehicle routes, and the Environmental Health team 

has used a database to facilitate more mobile working and reduce travel to and 

from offices.  

 Taking steps to reduce carbon emissions from business travel by Council staff, 

including improving the condition of 22 existing pool bikes, purchasing 4 electric 

pool bikes and installing electric vehicle charge points at Waterbeach depot for 

use by staff.  

 

Carbon reduction projects to be delivered or investigated 2021-26 

 

We have identified a range of carbon reduction projects for the next 5 years and 

have targeted them at the main areas of activity which contribute most to the 

Council’s emissions, as highlighted by the charts in section 3. These are the leisure 

sites, the Council’s vehicle fleet, sheltered housing communal areas and 

administrative buildings.  

                                            
9 Combined heat and power (CHP) is a highly efficient process that captures and utilises the heat that 
is a by-product of the electricity generation process. By generating heat and power simultaneously, 
CHP can reduce carbon emissions by up to 30% compared to the separate means of conventional 
generation via a boiler and power station. At the Guildhall, gas is used by the CHP to generate 
electricity and the resultant heat is also used in the building. 
10 Building Energy Management Systems (BEMS) are integrated, computerised systems for 
monitoring and controlling energy-related building services plant and equipment such as heating, 
ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems. 

Page 125



12 
 

Several projects, detailed below, and listed at Appendix B, have been developed, 

funding secured and are planned to be implemented during 2021/22. Further 

projects to target the key assets as identified in section 3 are under investigation for 

possible installation during the Carbon Management Plan period. Possible projects 

that have been identified to date are detailed in Appendix C.  

 

The Council will determine the technical and financial viability of such projects and 

seek to identify ways in which they could be brought forward, and funding secured in 

order to deliver them.  

 

There may be further opportunities for the Council to bid for external funding 

(Government and other sources) to finance some of the necessary carbon reduction 

projects. Additional projects will continue to be investigated and developed over the 

next 5 years and beyond. 

 

Any further rationalisation of the Council’s office estate as part of the Office 

Accommodation Strategy would also contribute to future reductions in carbon 

emissions. It is likely to require bold thinking about our office estate to enable the 

Council to get to net zero. The recent changes for staff to work more flexibly and 

from home have demonstrated that further rationalisation should be achievable. Not 

only should this reduce emissions from buildings due to reduced space, it should 

also result in reductions in transport emissions in the city due to reduced 

commuting. However, these potential reductions could be counterbalanced by any 

additional assets or services that the Council choses to provide in future.  The 

Council will also need to give careful consideration to potential future uses of any 

buildings it decides to vacate. 

 

Leisure Centres and Pools 

 

Bouygues (the Council’s Energy Performance contractor) have developed a project 

to significantly reduce gas usage and increase the supply of renewable electricity at 

Parkside and Abbey Pools, the Council’s two largest swimming pools. Leisure sites 

are responsible for more than a quarter of the Council’s total emissions, the largest 

source of emissions, with Parkside Pool the greatest emitter of emissions.  

Investment has been made in energy saving measures at the pools over the years, 

as detailed at Appendix A. Large scale investment in new heating technologies is 

now required in order to decarbonise the pools.  

 

The Council made two successful applications to the Government’s Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) in December 2020 totaling £1.7m to fund energy 

saving measures at the two leisure sites. The Council will deliver the projects 

Page 126



13 
 

through Bouygues Energies & Services via the REFIT 3 Energy Performance 

Contract,11 which means the estimated energy savings are guaranteed. 

The measures that are planned for Parkside Pool include: 

 2 air source heat pumps12 (ASHP) (subject to planning permission), additional 

solar PV, an LED lighting upgrade, BEMS and pipework insulation. The ASHPs 

will work with the existing CHP unit to provide heat to the air plant and domestic 

hot water services at the pool. Improved controls will further reduce energy 

consumption.  

 The current, aged boilers in the main plantroom will be replaced with new, 

smaller condensing gas boilers which will be much more energy efficient. These 

will serve as backup boilers for the ASHP to be used when demand is high. It is 

not possible to install a large enough ASHP, in the space available, to provide 

100% of the building’s required heating load. The replacement will be funded by a 

capital bid (subject to approval).  

Currently there is a CHP unit and boiler plant on site which supplies heat (and 

electricity) to the building. The ASHPs have been designed to supply 100% of the 

site’s domestic hot water requirements and most of the remaining boiler heating 

load. This will allow the CHP to continue to offer low carbon heating and electricity 

(currently generated at a lower carbon factor than from the grid, which can be used 

on site to power the ASHP which requires electricity to run) until the end of its 

serviceable lifetime when it can be replaced by a renewable heating solution (such 

as connection to a GSHP district heating network) to fully decarbonise the building’s 

remaining heat demand (subject to funding being available and any necessary 

permissions).   

 

All the measures listed above for Parkside Pool will reduce the gas consumption of 

Parkside Pool by 42.6%, reducing emissions by approximately 368.3 tonnes of CO2, 

which will reduce the Council’s total carbon emissions by approximately 6.4%. 

Subject to planning permission for the ASHPs being granted, the project at Parkside 

Pool is planned to be completed by September 2021. 

 

The following measures will be installed at Abbey Pool: 

                                            
11 https://localpartnerships.org.uk/our-expertise/re-fit/  
12 Heat pumps are a form of electric heating where energy is extracted from the air (ASHP) or the 
ground (GSHP) in order to provide space or water heating at a high efficiency. Installing a heat pump 
significantly reduces the requirement for gas for heating (which generates high levels of carbon 
emissions) as they use electricity, which will progressively be decarbonised at a national level through 
renewable energy supplying the national grid.  
 

Page 127

https://localpartnerships.org.uk/our-expertise/re-fit/


14 
 

 A ground source heat pump (GSHP), BEMS and pipework insulation, which will 

reduce the centre’s gas consumption by 45.1%, reduce carbon emissions by 

approximately 107 tonnes of CO2, and reduce the Council’s total carbon 

emissions by approximately 1.9%. 

 Currently there is a condensing gas boiler plant on site which supplies heat to the 

building. The GSHP will satisfy a large proportion of the sites heating demand. 

Once the boilers have reached the end of their serviceable lifetime then a 

renewable solution can be identified to satisfy the remainder of the sites load. If 

the PSDS application for Abbey is successful, the project will be completed by 

June 2021.  

There are several projects planned to expand the leisure facilities at Abbey, Cherry 

Hinton and Jesus Green after October 2023. These additional facilities will be 

supplied with low carbon and renewable energy from ASHPs and solar PV to reduce 

the energy consumption of the new buildings and the impact on the Council’s carbon 

emissions.   

The potential for a new, green energy centre to supply energy to Parkside Pool and 

Queen Anne Terrace car park and Kelsey Kerridge Sports Centre from low carbon 

and renewable energy will be investigated, including additional solar PV and ASHP. 

 

Fleet Vehicles 

 

The Council has carried out a review of our fleet vehicles and committed to 

progressively replacing its vehicle fleet (approximately 100 vans and trucks) with 

electric models. The Council will procure Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) when 

replacing vans and trucks in the Council’s fleet (where there is a suitable ULEV 

alternative and the infrastructure allows). This commitment could lead to a fully 

electric van and truck fleet by 2028 and would significantly reduce emissions from 

the Council’s fleet, which is currently the second largest source of our emissions at 

23% (See Figure 11).  

 

The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service will seek to replace all Refuse 

Collection Vehicles (RCVs) with low carbon alternatives (electric or hydrogen) at the 

point when they are due for replacement, and the whole fleet should have moved to 

low carbon alternatives by 2028  The service has purchased one of the first 

electric Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) in the country and is planning to 

purchase 5 further electric Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCV) for use across the 

service in 2021/22.  

 

Progressively replacing existing fleet vehicles with electric vehicles (particularly 

electric RCVs) will require a higher initial capital investment compared to purchasing 

replacement diesel, but it is anticipated that the “whole life” costs for electric vehicles 

Page 128



15 
 

are likely to be comparable to diesel vehicles, due to lower running costs for electric 

vehicles.  

 

Sheltered Housing 

 

Stanton House sheltered housing scheme’s 25 flats have shared gas boilers and a 

planned project will install new, energy efficient heating systems to the flats and the 

communal areas. Low carbon options are being considered such as ASHP, 

insulation and replacement windows.  

 

Car Parks 

 

The LED lighting in the lower (basement) levels of the Grand Arcade car park was 

installed around 10 years ago and is due for replacement soon, which will result in 

the installation of newer, more energy efficient lighting. A new motor and control 

panel will reduce energy consumption from the Air Handling Unit at Grand Arcade 

Annex car park. 

 

The Park Street Car Park redevelopment is part of a wider scheme including a new 

car park and hotel.  The re-provided car park will see a reduction in spaces from 390 

to 225 and with improved cycle parking including provision for cargo and non-

standard format bikes. The scheme is being constructed to BREEAM Excellent. 

Since the original planning consent, further improvements have been made through 

the removal of gas and design development of the facade to improve insulation and 

reduce embedded CO2 in materials used, increasing the reduction of carbon 

emission over original planning scheme to 46.4% from 16.7%. Energy saving 

measures include: LED lighting, ASHPs for heating and hot water and all car parking 

spaces will have electric vehicle charging point infrastructure with 10% available for 

use on day one. 

 

Crematorium 

 

Various measures to reduce the crematorium’s gas and electricity consumption are 

currently being considered including the possible installation of heating and 

ventilation improvements including installing a BEMS, and an LED lighting upgrade.  

An upgrade of the ornamental lighting in the main chapel of the Crematorium to low 

energy LED lighting is planned. 

 

Corn Exchange 

 

Measures that are planned for the building include: the replacement of the current 

gas boilers, which requires immediate action to remain operational; a new air 

handling system and insulation to pipework; a BEMS to maximise the efficiency of 

mechanical plant and ventilation systems (including modification of the heating 

Page 129



16 
 

distribution system in the building), and LED lighting upgrade and insulation. The 

measures will save approximately 43 tonnes CO2 and reduce the Council’s total 

carbon emissions by approximately 0.8%. 

 

Temporary Housing 

 

It is planned to install external wall insulation to New Street Hostel and lighting 

improvements to replace communal lighting with low energy LED lighting and motion 

sensor controls to further reduce electricity consumption from the lighting. 

 

Community Centres  

 

A review of the existing community centres will include the potential for installing 

ASHP, additional solar PV, insulation, upgrades to the HVAC, lighting and the 

installation of BEMS.  

 

New community centres are being built to BREEAM13 Excellent14 or Very Good15 

standard to replace existing community centres. BREEAM is an international 

sustainability scheme that provides independent third-party certification of the 

assessment of the sustainability performance of individual buildings, communities 

and infrastructure projects. 

 

Figure 12. Building standards for new community centres in development 

Development BREEAM Heating Other 

Mill Rd Excellent ASHP PV on flats above 

Cromwell Rd Very Good CHP (Gas)  

Campkin Very Good ASHP PV on flats above 

Akeman Very Good Gas Boiler  

Meadows Excellent ASHP PV and Battery TBC 

 

The current Meadows Centre and Buchan Street Neighbourhood Centre will be 

replaced with a single new community centre (Meadows) built to BREEAM Excellent 

standards which will mean that the community centre will be in the top 10% of 

sustainable buildings in the UK and so will be a more sustainable building compared 

to the previous centres, with a much lower carbon footprint. The heating will be 

provided by an ASHP.  

 

An existing building is currently being used as a temporary community centre at 

Akeman Street which will be replaced by a purpose-built centre in 2021. Additional 

                                            
13 The BREEAM rating benchmark levels enable a client or other stakeholder to compare an individual 
building’s performance with other BREEAM rated buildings and the typical sustainability performance 
of new non-domestic buildings in the UK. 
14 Top 10% of UK new non-domestic buildings (best practice) 
15 Top 25% of UK new non-domestic buildings (advanced good practice) 

Page 130



17 
 

new community facilities planned at Mill Road, Campkin Road and Cromwell Road 

will add to the Council’s current carbon emissions but are designed to be energy 

efficient with a significantly lower carbon footprint. 

 

Pavilions & Toilets 

 

A review of the pavilions that provide facilities for outdoor sport will include the 

potential for installing ASHP, solar PV, upgrading insulation and upgrades to the 

HVAC and lighting at all sites.  

 

Landlord Lighting in Authority Owned Housing 

 

Where not already upgraded, the Council’s communal lights (up to 3000 in total 

including emergency lights) within blocks of flats on housing estates will be replaced 

with LED lamps and appropriate controls to further reduce electricity consumption.  

 

Streetlighting 

 

The housing estate street lighting project will involve the replacement of 

approximately 400 streetlights owned by the Council with low energy LED light 

fittings with dimmable capability, which will further reduce energy consumption. 

Approximately 400 of the Council’s 650 lighting columns, which have not already 

been upgraded to LED lighting, will be replaced across the Council’s estate saving 

approximately 97,925 kWh of electricity. 

 

Waterbeach Depot (office accommodation) 

 

The depot building, used by the Greater Cambridge Shared Waste service, uses 

electricity for both heating and lighting. It has an ASHP for heating and the lighting 

was upgraded to LED lighting in 2020, which will reduce electricity consumption by 

8,363 kWh and save 2.6 tonnes of CO2.  

 

In 2019 a solar PV system was installed (jointly owned by South Cambridgeshire 

District Council and Cambridge City Council) which reduces the amount of electricity 

required from the national grid. The councils are exploring ways to source as much 

renewable energy as possible to cover the site’s current and forecast usage, which 

will include the charging of electric RCVs (refuse collection vehicle). 

 

All sites  

 

Building Manager Energy training: When Covid-19 restrictions are lifted, a training 

session will be delivered to all building managers to raise their awareness of where 

energy can be saved and to ensure heating is set correctly and not left on 

unnecessarily. 

Page 131



18 
 

 

Monitoring and targeting (M&T): The Council created a new role in 2020 of 

Corporate Energy Manager to allow further capacity to deliver energy efficiency 

projects and to manage energy data. Part of this role will be to carry out monitoring 

and targeting of energy data and to identify further areas of potential energy and 

carbon reduction and to ensure projects deliver their objectives. 

 

6. Approach to achieving net zero carbon emissions across the Council’s 

corporate buildings.  

As part of the development of the new Carbon Management Plan, we commissioned 

Bouygues to produce a high-level study to identify the measures needed for the 

Council to reduce its direct emissions from corporate buildings to net zero carbon 

and what level of capital investment would be required.  

 

The report focussed on the 29 corporate buildings which have the highest carbon 

emissions within the Council’s estate of more than 200 buildings. Total carbon 

emissions from these 29 buildings in 2019/20 were 3,607 tonnes of CO2. This 

represents 83.6% of total carbon emissions from the Council’s corporate buildings, 

and 63% of the Council’s total carbon emissions (including emissions from fleet 

vehicles and business mileage). 

 

Potential carbon reduction projects 

 

The Bouygues report identifies a range of potential carbon reduction projects across 

the Council’s corporate buildings (summarised at Appendix D). The projects would 

primarily involve installing ASHPs and GSHPs where feasible, with additional LEDs, 

solar PV, BEMS and other measures at some sites. The focus on heat pumps would 

help switch energy consumption from gas (which generates high levels of carbon 

emissions) to electricity (which will progressively be decarbonised at a national level 

through renewable energy).  

 

While the study suggests that it would potentially be possible to reduce emissions 

from many of the buildings within the scope of the study to close to zero carbon, the 

study identifies three buildings that will be much more challenging to improve to a net 

zero standard: Guildhall, Corn Exchange and the Crematorium. 

 

Guildhall 

 

The Council has already installed a package of measures at the Guildhall including a 

BEMS, LED lighting throughout the building, solar PV, CHP, additional roof 

insulation, insulation of pipework, and secondary glazing. However, the Guildhall 

Page 132



19 
 

presents a significant challenge for decarbonisation due to its location, status and 

the fabric of the building.  

 

The Guildhall has some significant spatial constraints which limit renewable heating 

options significantly. Other than Market Square, the Guildhall is surrounded by 

historically significant buildings with very little in the way of open space, which 

means that a GSHP would not be viable. There are spatial constraints surrounding 

the building and on the roof, which would prevent the Council from being able to 

install an ASHP. Finally, the grade II listing of the building and the fact that it sits 

within a conservation area means that a dedicated renewable heating solution for the 

Guildhall is considered not to be feasible.  

 

The location of the Guildhall and the proximity of a number of other major energy 

consumers (including the Corn Exchange, Grand Arcade shopping centre, University 

sites and many other nearby commercial properties) may provide an opportunity for 

the Council to explore the potential for a community district heating scheme with 

partners in future. 

  

Corn Exchange 

 

The Corn Exchange has similar challenges to the Guildhall in that the building is 

grade II listed and is located within a conservation area. The building is extremely 

thermally inefficient, with single-skin brick walls with no insulation, single glazing and 

issues relating to the roof. It also has an ineffective heat distribution system within 

the building and issues with the ventilation system. As a result, the building has a 

very high energy demand. 

 

A GSHP would not be viable because there is not sufficient space around the 

building. Bouygues have advised that ASHPs would not currently be able to satisfy a 

meaningful proportion of the high heating demand in the building. As an interim 

solution, they have recommended replacing the existing obsolete boilers, which are 

at risk of failing, with more energy efficient gas boilers. This would reduce carbon 

emissions from the building by circa 40 tonnes per annum (17% of carbon emissions 

from the building in 2019/20). There are also opportunities to improve the efficiency 

of the building in its current state, including a new BEMS to maximise the efficiency 

of mechanical plant and ventilation systems, and the installation of LED lighting. 

These measures are listed in the 2021/22 table at Appendix B. 

 

Bouygues have recommended that the Council develops a longer-term investment 

plan to address fundamental issues with the thermal efficiency of the building, 

including the walls, windows and roof. This work would also provide an opportunity to 

improve the heating distribution system in the building and replace the existing air 

handling system. Once these longer-term measures are taken, the heating demand 

Page 133



20 
 

from the building may be reduced to a point where an ASHP could meet a much 

greater proportion of the heating requirements. 

Crematorium 

 

The Crematorium poses a unique decarbonisation challenge, as a renewable 

solution to the cremators will be necessary to fully decarbonise the building. The 

current cremators are currently gas-powered and no viable low carbon alternative 

has been developed for cremators by manufacturers.  

 

There are opportunities in the short term for controls improvements and mechanical 

modifications to ensure the existing heat recovery unit operates efficiently. The 

proposed BEMS installation will be able to work in conjunction with the heat recovery 

unit to maximise the energy savings. Bouygues have also recommended installation 

of an ASHP to provide heating to the building in the absence of heat recovery.  

Estimated reduction in carbon emissions 

 

As shown by Figure 13 below, the findings of this study suggest that it is potentially 

possible for the Council to significantly reduce its carbon emissions from its buildings 

significantly closer to zero carbon by around 2030. The study identified potential 

carbon reduction measures which could reduce carbon emissions from the 29 

buildings within the scope of the study by 69% by 2030 and 87% by 2050. 

 

Figure 13 – Bouygues estimates of potential carbon emissions reduction from 

City Council corporate buildings (compared against current baseline position) 

 
 

The study suggests that, while the majority of the Council’s current carbon emissions 

can be removed, it will be challenging to reach absolute zero carbon emissions 

across all the buildings in the scope of the study. This is primarily because, as 

Page 134



21 
 

outlined above, the site, structure and listed status of the Guildhall and Corn 

Exchange mean that low-carbon heating solutions are not currently viable at these 

buildings, and there is likely to be residual gas consumption at the Crematorium from 

the gas-powered cremators until viable, low carbon alternatives become available in 

the market. We will explore more innovative solutions with local partners for these 

hard-to-treat buildings, including exploring the potential for district heating schemes 

incorporating the Guildhall and Corn Exchange.   

 

The study also suggests that, while over the next 10 years the national electricity grid 

will be decarbonised to a very significant extent through the replacement of fossil-

fuels with renewable energy generation, it is unlikely that electricity generation will be 

fully decarbonised within this timeframe. It is likely therefore, that there will be some 

limited, residual carbon emissions associated with the electricity from the national 

grid used by the Council. 

 

The Council has made considerable progress in reducing its carbon emissions by 

achieving a 28.9% reduction in 2019/20 from a 2014/15 baseline, and we will actively 

pursue all feasible opportunities to decarbonise our buildings over the next 10 years.  

 

However, it is likely that the remaining carbon emissions identified through the study 

will need to be addressed through credible carbon offsetting or carbon sequestration 

measures in order for the Council to reach net zero carbon by 2030. The Bouygues 

study and other advice received by the Council identifies a range of potential carbon 

off-setting approaches, which we will explore in more detail as part of the new 

Climate Change Strategy.  

 

Estimated costs of carbon reduction projects 

 

The Council has already invested in many of the simpler, more cost-effective 

solutions (e.g. insulation, LED lighting, solar PV) to reduce emissions from its 

buildings. The capital cost of the schemes to date listed in Appendix A were ‘paid 

back’ by the energy savings generated through the schemes, usually within a ten-

year period. Projects that the Council will need to invest in to reduce its emissions in 

the future will have a much higher capital cost (potentially up to several million 

pounds per scheme for the larger and more complex schemes), and the net savings 

on energy costs will not always cover the capital costs of some of the works.  

 

The study carried out by Bouygues found it would cost in the region of £10.5m over 

the next 10 years to implement the carbon reduction projects needed for the Council 

to achieve the total reduction in carbon emissions identified above for the 29 

buildings within the scope of the study.  Once the running costs and maintenance 

costs of these schemes are included, Bouygues estimate that the total cumulative 

additional costs of the carbon reduction measures will broadly be around £38.4m 

between 2021 and 2050. This is because the ongoing maintenance costs and 

Page 135



22 
 

electricity costs to run the pumps are higher than the maintenance and running costs 

of gas boilers.  

 

The Council’s planned investment in electric vehicles is more likely to “pay back” 

over time. For example, the initial purchase cost of electric refuse lorries is currently 

significantly higher than for the diesel lorries, but modelling suggest that the whole 

life costs for electric refuse lorries are potentially no more than for diesel lorries. 

The Council will put the plans and required budget in place to fund the most suitable 

projects that will enable us to significantly reduce the Council’s carbon emissions. 

We will continue to bid for Government funding and other sources, when available, to 

fund developed projects.  

 

As highlighted above, the Council has applied for £1,706,547 from the Government’s 

Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) for a range of measures at Parkside 

and Abbey Pools, including GSHP and ASHP and additional solar PV installations, 

which will very significantly reduce the Council’s carbon emissions. 

 

  

Page 136



23 
 

7. Appendices 

Appendix A: Completed Projects 2016-2021 

 
Project Cost Climate 

Change Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

2016-17 

Car Parks 

Grand Arcade Main Car Park:                                   

Replace existing lighting with 
LED. 

£189,227 £189,227 - 304,937 165 £27,307 6.9 

Grafton East Car Park:  

Replace existing lighting with 
LED. 

£131,771 £131,771 - 212,125 116 £18,856 7.0 

Crematorium 

Crematorium:                   

Upgrade loft insulation. 
£1,478 £1,478 - 3,218 0.6 £100 14.8 

Administration Buildings 

North Area Housing Office: 

Fully programmable heating 
control system installed. 

£786 - £786 6,436 1.2 £200 3.9 

Commercial Properties 

Barnwell House:         

Communal Lighting - LED 
upgrade in corridors and toilets 
(x4 1200/600 panels replaced) 

£1,518 - 1,518 3,504 0.1 £420 3.6 

Fleet Vehicles 

Council fleet:                            

7 diesel vehicles replaced with 
electric vans procured and 
added to fleet (9 now on fleet in 
total). 2 more fuel efficient diesel 
vans added to fleet. Others not 
yet delivered due to type 
approval problems with Euro 6 
compliant legislation 

£420,000 - £420,000 N/A 11.7 £4,332 96.9 

2017-18 

Leisure Sites 

Abbey Leisure Complex:                  

Upgrade and replacement of air 
handling unit with a new air plant 
circulation system and heat 
recovery technology. 

£48,700  £40,000 
 

£8,700 114,938 21.2 £4,597 10.6 

Abbey Leisure Complex:                  

Upgrade and replacement of air 
handling unit with a new air plant 
circulation system and heat 
recovery technology. 

£78,377  £78,377 737,071 148.4 £25,208 3.1 

Sheltered Housing 

Ditton Court:                        

Heating and hot water boilers 
fitted in each of the 27 flats 
replacing the communal system. 
Each have their own gas meter 
fitted for their individual gas 
consumption and the tenants 
are now responsible to pay for 
their gas usage directly. The 
Council are now only 
responsible for the gas 
consumption of 2 communal 
domestic boilers serving all the 
communal areas. 

£56,400 - £56,400 250,000 46.0 £10,000 5.6 

Page 137



24 
 

Project Cost Climate 
Change Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

School Court:                          

Replacement of individual flat 
system (boilers) by a communal 
system with a more energy 
efficient boiler.  

£397,943 - £397,943 25,000 4.6 £1,000 397.9 

2018-19 

Leisure Sites 

Abbey Leisure Complex: 

Replacement of astroturf 
floodlights with energy efficient 
LED lighting, new control gear 
and timers. 

£65,560 - £65,560 42,672 15.0 £4,690 14.0 

Abbey Leisure Complex: 

30kW Solar PV Array 
£47,374 £47,374 - 25,661 7.9 £4,293 11.0  

Parkside Pool:                     

50kW Solar PV Array  
£74,450 £74,450 - 47,314 14.5 £6,676 11.2  

Kings Hedges Pool:           

11kW Solar PV Array 
£16,902 £16,902 - 7,762 2.4 £1,279 13.2  

Crematorium 

Crematorium:                     

11kW Solar PV Array 
£17,983 £17,983 - 7,229 2.2 £1,209 14.9  

Administration Buildings 

Mandela House:                            

Replacement of existing lighting 
with low energy LED light fittings 
and combined motion/light 
sensors. 

£150,000 £54,544 100,000 52,359 24.2 £5,000 30.0 

Mandela House:                            

Upgrade to condensing boiler 
and pipework and valve 
insulation. 

£60,000 £9,000 £51,000 82,604 15.4 £2,500 24 

Mandela House:                

30kW Solar PV Array 
£46,708 £46,708 - 28,571 8.8 £4,779 9.8  

Guildhall:                                 

Secondary glazing installed 
£29,337 - £29,337 5,658 1.0 £170 172.6 

Guildhall:                                         

Install 30kW solar photovoltaic 
system 

£33,180 £33,180 - 24,450 7.5 £4,257 7.8  

Sheltered Housing 

Whitefriars Court:              

20kW Solar PV Array 
£31,295 £31,295 - 15,048 4.6 £2,630 11.9  

Fleet Vehicles 

Vehicle fleet:                              

Replacement of fleet vehicles 
with electric vans and fuel-
efficient vans and trucks. 19 
panel vans were replaced in 
Estates & Facilities. 1 of these 
was electric. The other 18 Euro 
4 vehicles were replaced with 
Euro 6 emissions compliant 
vehicles. 9 refuse trucks were 
replaced in Shared Waste 
Service (Euro 6). 2 caged 
tippers were replaced in Streets 
& Open Spaces. 

£2,436,0
00 

- £2,436,000 N/A 30 
 

TBC TBC 

2019-20 

Administration Buildings 

Guildhall:                                         

Building automation. 
Implementation of several 
measures to increase the level 
of control over the heating 

£37,785 £37,785 - 174,497 32.5 £5,196 7.3 

Page 138



25 
 

Project Cost Climate 
Change Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

systems, including installing a 
BEMS. 

Guildhall:                               

Replacement of roofing and 
additional insulation 

£100,502 - £100,502 60,980 11.2 £1,765 57.0 

Guildhall:                                      

Replace more than 670 existing 
light fittings with low energy LED 
light fittings and automation. 

£76,731 £76,731 - 76,528 29.4 £8,081 9.5 

Guildhall:                                         

Mechanical works improve the 
energy efficiency of the heating 
and hot water systems. 

£46,945 £46,945 - 89,659 16.5 £2,496 18.8 

Guildhall:                                   

Insulation of pipework and 
valves in plant rooms. 

£7,778 £7,778 - 24,597 4.5 £712 10.9 

Guildhall:                                   

Installation of a CHP unit.  
£64,779 £64,779 - -23,944 14.7 £6,631 9.8 

Mandela House Ground Floor: 

LED lighting upgrade  
£29,505 - - 15,339 5.8 £1,687 17.5 

Sheltered Housing 

Whitefriars Sheltered 
Housing: Replace communal 

lighting with LED equivalent 

£13,753 - - 13,602 5.2 £1,496 9.2 

Rawlyn Court Sheltered 
Housing:                          

Replace communal lighting with 
LED equivalent 

£15,468 - - 9,399 3.6 £1,033 15 

Fleet Vehicles 

Fleet Vehicles:                   
8 vehicles in Estates & Facilities 
were replaced with x7 Euro 6 
emissions compliant vehicles 
(which are more fuel efficient) 
and x1 electric vehicle. x3 
vehicles in Streets & Open 
Spaces were replaced and x1 
truck and x1 van were replaced 
in Shared Waste.  

£647,000 - -     

2020/21 

Leisure Sites 

Parkside Pool: Pool covers £7,400  - £14,800 
(GLL) 

200,000 36.8 £4,000 3.7 

Parkside Pool: LED lighting 

replacement 
£8,500  - £8,500 

(GLL) 
18,000 5 £2,150 4 

  

Page 139



26 
 

Appendix B: Projects Planned for Implementation during 2021/22 

Project Cost Climate 
Change Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

% of  
2019/20 
emissions 

2021/22  

Leisure Sites  

Parkside Pool:                       

Installation of 2 
ASHP, additional 
solar PV, LED 
lighting, BEMS 
and pipework 
insulation. 

£988,946 - £988,946 
PSDS 
application 

1,739,437 336 £27,689 35.7 5.9% 

Parkside Pool:       

Replacement 
boilers 

£227,370 - £227,370 
Capital 

175,674 32.3 £4,392 51.8 0.6% 

Abbey Leisure 
Complex:       

Installation of a 
GSHP, BEMS and 
pipework 
insulation. 

£717,601 - £717,601 
PSDS 
application 

524,949 107 £4,619 155.4 1.9% 

Corn Exchange  

Corn Exchange:                 

New heating 
boilers, HVAC 
and insulation of 
pipework, BEMS 
and LED lighting. 

£186,570 - £186,570 
Capital 

208,534 43 £7,074 26.4 0.8% 

Crematorium  

Crematorium:                   

HVAC 
improvements, 
BEMS, LED 
lighting, 
insulation.  

TBC - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC  

Streetlighting  

Streetlighting:             

Replacement of 
remaining HRA 
street lamp 
columns and 
lanterns with LED 
units. Estimated 
63% reduction on 
the baseline. 

£1,013,2
05  

- £1,013,205  97,925 
kWh 

27.2 TBC TBC 0.5% 

Sheltered Housing  

Stanton House:        

Replacement of 
existing heating 
system (gas 
boilers supplying 
4 properties) with 
separate 
communal and flat 
heating systems.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Estimate
d: 
£850,000
. 

- Estimated: 
£850,000 

TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC 

Page 140



27 
 

Project Cost Climate 
Change Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

% of  
2019/20 
emissions 

Landlord Lighting in Authority Owned Housing    

Communal 
Lighting in 
blocks of flats:                            

Replacement of 
communal lights 
within blocks of 
flats on housing 
estates with LED 
lamps and 
appropriate 
controls. 

£56,000 - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC  

Fleet  

Shared Waste 
Service: 

Purchase of 5 
further electric 
Refuse Collection 
Vehicles (RCV) 
for use across the 
service. 

TBC - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC  

 

Appendix C: Future projects under investigation and possible implementation 

during 2022-2026 

2022-2026 

Site Project Detail 

Leisure Sites 

Abbey Sports Complex:   

Expansion of facilities  
New green energy provision to be investigated for possible additional facilities. Additional 
facilities may be built at Abbey Sports Complex as part of the OPE development in East 
Barnwell including: a new pavilion with multipurpose spaces to support new lawn bowls, 
floodlit tennis and MUGA. There is an ambition to also invest in an indoor sports hall space in 
the locality of the pool building in the overflow car park. The new buildings would provide roof 
space for additional PV and energy will be provided by ASHP.  

Cherry Hinton Village Centre: 

Expansion of facilities. 
New green energy provision to be investigated for possible additional facilities. New sports 
gym / multi-purpose rooms on the side or front of the site over two storey extension. New 
meeting room and office spaces. Extension to solar PV, ASHP, BEMS and improved HVAC. 
Due to commence after October 2023.  

Jesus Green Lido: 

Refurbishment & New Buildings  
New green energy provision to be investigated for the outdoor lido. Options to be investigated 
to determine if it is possible to renovate the pool’s plant room and provide energy from low 
carbon sources such as hydroelectric power from the nearby weir or ASHP or GSHP to heat 
the pool from a low carbon source and solar PV to provide the electricity. Will also include the 
installation of pool covers and thermal lining of the pool tank to retain the heat and allow the 
pool to be used all year round. New building for plantroom. New building for entrance, pool 
changing, WCs and showers, reception & foyer, Café community rooms. Due to commence 
after October 2023. 

Queen Anne Car Park Roof: 

Energy Centre to provide energy 
to leisure centres.  

Possible new green energy centre to be investigated for the roof of Queen Anne Terrace Car 
Park (QAT) & Kelsey Kerridge Sports Centre. Additional ASHP to Kelsey Kerridge (KK) 
linked to ASHP and controls at Parkside Pools. Extension of roof space for PV on KK roof. 
Solar PV carport roof. Modular relocatable energy centre plantrooms. Supply of energy to 
Parkside Pools, QAT and KK centres. Estimated cost of over £2million. 

Community Centres: 

Community Centres:            

Green Energy Schemes 
Review of community centres to determine the potential for ASHP, additional solar PV, 
insulation and heating and ventilation (HVAC) system upgrades, LED lighting and BEMS 
controls. Estimated cost of up to £400,000. 

Pavilions & Toilets: 

Pavilions & Toilets:                 

Green Energy Provision 
Review of the pavilions supporting outdoor sports for the potential for ASHP, solar PV, 
insulation, HVAC system upgrades and LED lighting replacements. Estimated cost is up to 
£150,000. 
 

Page 141



28 
 

2022-2026 

Site Project Detail 

Temporary Housing: 

New Street Hostel Installation of external wall insulation. 

Lighting improvements to be reassessed and completed as part of planned works including: 
replacing communal lighting with LED equivalent at New Street hostel, installing PIR motion 
sensor controls to hallway lighting at New Street hostel, replacing kitchen lighting with LED 
equivalent at 116 Chesterton Road. 

Car Parks: 

Park Street Car Park:                      

New building 
Complete redevelopment of the Park Street Car park. The building is being constructed to 
BREEAM Excellent. Includes LED lighting, ASHP and all car parking spaces will have electric 
vehicle charging point infrastructure with 10% available for use on day 1. Expected to be 
complete by January 2023. 

Grand Arcade Annex:               

Air Handling Unit replacement:                    
A new motor and control panel will reduce energy consumption from the AHU. 

Grand Arcade:              

Basement lighting replacement  
LED lighting upgrade in the lower (basement) levels of the Grand Arcade car park. 

Crematorium: 

Crematorium Upgrade of ornamental lighting in the main chapel to low energy LED lighting.  

Fleet: 

Council vehicles The remainder of the light commercial fleet will start to be replaced with EVs following the roll 
out of EV charging infrastructure in 2021/22. 

All Sites: 

 Building manager energy efficiency training. To be delivered when Covid restrictions have 
been lifted. 

 

Appendix D: Bouygues table 

Building Potential measures recommended by Bouygues 

Parkside Pool  ASHPs (for heating and hot water) 

 Back up boiler 

 Fan replacements for air handling units (AHUs) 

 New BEMS 

 Additional solar PV array 

 GSHPs (once existing CHP reaches the end of its life) 

Guildhall  Explore with owners of surrounding major buildings and energy users 
the potential for a joint district heat network solution 

 Upgrade the existing BEMS (when the technology has advanced to a 
point where further efficiencies can be achieved through the system) 

Abbey Pools  GSHP (for heating and hot water) 

 New BEMS 

 Fan replacements for air handling units (AHUs) 

Corn Exchange  New BEMS 

 LED lighting upgrade 

 Replacement of air handling units (AHUs) 

 Modification to the heating distribution system 

 Explore with owners of surrounding major buildings and energy users 
the potential for a joint district heat network solution 

Crematorium  New BEMS 

 Improvements to the heat recovery unit 

 Identification of a renewable energy technology for the cremators 

 Installation of an ASHP in the absence of heat recovery 

City Homes Office  New BEMS 

 LED lighting upgrade 

 Solar PV 

 ASHP to provide heating 

Page 142



29 
 

Stanton House  LED lighting upgrade 

 Solar PV 

 ASHPs for each flat 

Mandela House  Replacement of a small number of LED fittings 

 Upgrade the existing BEMS (when the technology has advanced to a 
point where further efficiencies can be achieved through the system) 

 ASHP 

 Explore with owners of surrounding major buildings and energy users 
the potential for a joint district heat network solution 

Ditton Court  New BEMS 

 Solar PV 

 ASHP 

Ditchburn Place  New BEMS 

 LED lighting upgrade 

 Solar PV 

 ASHP 

Elizabeth Way  LED lighting upgrade 

 Cavity wall and loft insulation 

 Solar PV 

 ASHP 

Mansel Court  New BEMS 

 ASHP 

New Street  LED lighting upgrade 

 Cavity wall/ loft insulation 

 Additional solar PV array 

 ASHP 

Rawlyn Court  ASHP 

Whitefriars  ASHP 

School Court  Solar PV 

 New BEMS 

 LED lighting upgrade 

 ASHP 

Orwell House  LED lighting upgrade 

 New BEMS 

 Solar PV 

 ASHP 

 Explore with owners of surrounding major buildings and energy users 
the potential for a joint district heat network solution 

Brandon Court  New BEMS 

 LED lighting upgrade 

 ASHP 

 Explore with owners of surrounding major buildings and energy users 
the potential for a joint district heat network solution 

Barnwell House  New BEMS 

 ASHP 

 Solar PV 

Brown’s Field  Solar PV 

 LED lighting upgrade 

 GSHP 

Talbot House  Solar PV 

 ASHP 

116 Chesterton Road  LED lighting upgrade 

 Cavity wall/ loft insulation 

Page 143



30 
 

 Solar PV  

 ASHP 

Grand Arcade Car Park  Fan replacements for air handling units (AHUs) 

Jesus Green Outdoor Pool  GSHP or ASHP (if required to heat the pool) 

 

 

 

Page 144



 

 Report page no. 1       Agenda page no. 

 

Item 

CORN EXCHANGE HEATING SYSTEM 

 

 
Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 
This is a report on the heating system replacement for Cambridge Corn 
Exchange. It summarises why an interim gas-based solution is necessary. 

2. Recommendations 
The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
Note the report 

3. Background 
(a) Cambridge Corn Exchange, which was opened in 1874, is a 147-year-old 

Grade II listed building in the historic centre of Cambridge. It is owned and 

operated by Cambridge City Council and is one of the region's largest indoor 

performance venues. 

(b) The Council’s most recent carbon emissions data shows that in 2019/20 the 

Corn Exchange accounted for 4% of the Council's carbon emissions. Total 

emissions in 19/20 attributed to the Corn Exchange were 231.8 tonnes CO2. 

(c) As part of its 2 previous Carbon Management Plans, covering the period 

from 2012-2016 and 2016-2021, the Council has delivered 66 projects to 

date to reduce carbon emissions from its corporate buildings and vehicle 

To:  
Councillor Anna Smith, Executive Councillor for Communities 
Environment & Community Scrutiny Committee     25/03/2021 

Report by:  

Jane Wilson, Culture and Community Manager  

Tel: 01223 - 457860  Email: jane.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

Page 145

Agenda Item 7



 Report page no. 2       Agenda page no. 

 

 

fleet. Through both previous Carbon Management Plans, the Council has 

prioritised investment in carbon reduction projects at the biggest sources of 

emissions in its estate, with a view to reducing the Council’s total carbon 

emissions as rapidly as possible. In 2019/20 the biggest sources of 

emissions were: swimming pools and leisure centres (26%), vehicle fleet 

(23%), sheltered housing communal areas (13%), offices and administrative 

buildings (9%) and car parks (8%). A range of different measures have been 

implemented across these sites. 

(d) Along with LED (light emitting diode) lighting installation at 9 other corporate 

buildings, the main theatre lighting at the Corn Exchange was replaced with 

more efficient LED lighting, with the aim of reducing carbon emissions 

associated with electricity consumption at the building. The Corn Exchange 

was also considered for a solar PV (photovoltaic) installation as part of a 

wider programme of PV installations at 8 corporate buildings in 2019, but 

Bouygues (the Council’s Energy Performance Contractors) advised that the 

Corn Exchange  was not suitable for PV, due to the construction of the roof, 

the listed building status of the building, and significant challenges 

associated with accessibility and fall-prevention, so this was not taken 

forward.  

(e) As outlined in the report from Bouygues, along with the Guildhall and the 

Crematorium, for the following reasons the Corn Exchange building is one of 

the Council's most challenging assets from a decarbonisation perspective, 

particularly in relation to its gas usage for heating: 

i. The building is extremely thermally inefficient, with single-skin brick 

walls with no insulation, single glazing and issues relating to the roof 

insulation. 

ii. The heat distribution system is ineffective. 

iii. The building energy management system is dated and basic and does 

not allow heat use to be managed effectively across the building 

iv. The existing gas boilers are beyond their expected lifespan and are 

obsolescent technology. They are no longer manufactured, and 

replacement parts are increasingly difficult to source  

(f) Advice from Bouygues (see Appendix A) concludes that Ground Source 

Heat Pumps (GSHP) would not be viable for heating the Corn Exchange, 

because there is insufficient open space near to the building for this solution. 

Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) technology is not currently viable for the 

building because the current thermal inefficiency means that heat pump 

technology, which operates most efficiently at lower temperatures, would not 

be able to effectively heat the building 

(g) Although it would be possible to site some ASHPs either on part of the roof 

of the Corn Exchange, or on the upper level of the Grand Arcade car park 

and pipe the heat across, this is not recommended by Bouygues on the 

grounds that an ASHP would not be able to satisfy a meaningful proportion 

of the building's heating demand, because of the thermal inefficiency. In 

Page 146



 Report page no. 3       Agenda page no. 

 

 

other words, gas boilers would still be required to meet the remaining heat 

demands. 

(h) Bouygues have indicated that a longer-term scheme aligning the heating 

system with work on the roof and windows, so that the thermal inefficiency 

can be improved, the heating demand from the building can be reduced and 

the poor layout of the ventilation system can be addressed, would enable a 

reconsideration of on-site renewable heat generation.  

(i) The timescale to fully develop a scheme will be significant and will need to 

be aligned with other Council policies and priorities. The most recent 

building condition survey indicated that work on the roof and windows would 

need to be carried out by 2030, but we would aim to complete this work and 

any subsequent low carbon heating installation before this date, so as to be 

consistent with the net zero carbon target for the Council’s direct carbon 

emissions set out in the Council’s revised Climate Change Strategy and 

Carbon Management Plan 2021-2026. However, it is important to recognise 

that, due to the challenging nature of the building, Bouygues have indicated 

that it may not be possible to reduce carbon emissions at the Corn 

Exchange to zero carbon, so an element of offsetting may ultimately be 

required for this building, once all decarbonisation options have been 

exhausted. 

(j) In the interim, Bouygues have indicated that an annual carbon saving 

estimated at c.40 tonnes per annum (c 17% of total carbon emissions from 

the building) will be achieved by upgrading the building energy management 

system and installing modern gas boilers. The upgraded BEMS would be 

retained in the longer-term improvement and decarbonisation scheme, with 

the gas boilers either retained for back up or re-used elsewhere.  

(k) Ensuring that the building has a functional heating system in the near term 

will provide the time necessary to fully develop the longer-term scheme, 

reduce the current carbon emissions, and also remove the immediate risks 

linked to a heating system failure, which are: 

i. Closure of the venue and loss of the programme, with associated 

reputational and financial damage  

ii. Damage to the fabric of the building 

iii. Need for emergency heating replacement 

 

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
The indicative budget for the works outlined above is £130,000 funded from 
Capital Reserves.  

b) Staffing Implications 
None – The installation project will be overseen by Community Services 

Managers.  

Page 147



 Report page no. 4       Agenda page no. 

 

 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
An EQIA has not been carried out as there is no planned change to the 
service provided. 

d) Environmental Implications 
The project has been rated medium positive, because of the immediate 
reduction of carbon emissions attributable to the Corn Exchange. 

e) Procurement Implications 
This work will be carried out as part of the Re-Fit 3 contract 

f) Community Safety Implications 
There are no community safety implications 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 
There are no plans to consult further on this matter. 

6. Background papers 

No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 

 

7. Appendices 
 
Corn Exchange Decarbonisation – prepared by Bouygues 

8. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact Jane Wilson, Culture and Community Manager, tel: 01223 - 457860, 
email: jane.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 148



MARCH 2, 2021 

David Kidston 

Dear David, 

As per our conversation I’ve detailed the rationale behind our recommendations not to replace the gas boiler plant 

at the Corn Exchange with an Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP).  

The Corn Exchange currently is one of the Council’s most challenging assets from a decarbonisation perspective 

due to both a lack of available space and a number of existing issues with both the building itself and the heating 

distribution system. The lack of open space means we cannot consider a Ground Source Heat Pump as an option, 

the only open space nearby would be Market Square but is unlikely to receive approval from Heritage and would 

likely prove cost prohibitive.  Similarly, a lack of space either on the roof or around the building mean that larger, 

commercial ASHPs are also not viable at this stage. Both the roof and high-level glazing at the Corn exchange are 

shortly due for replacement and are thermally inefficient. This twinned with a flawed heating distribution layout 

and Air Handling Units (AHUs) at the end of their operating life means that the building requires high temperatures 

to be able to satisfy the heating demands. Typically heat pumps operate most efficiently at temperatures below 

50DegC, the building is currently operating with an 80DegC flow temperature with very little opportunity to reduce 

this.  

The current roof and glazing system are thermally extremely inefficient and result in significant heat loss. When 

these are replaced, the thermal performance of the building will improve dramatically. This will also give the council 

a rare opportunity to make sweeping alterations to the ventilation layout and replace the existing aged air handling 

units with ones capable of operating at lower temperatures. The improved thermal performance of the building 

twinned with the upgraded heating distribution system will then give the Council the opportunity to consider on site 

renewable heat generation that would be able to satisfy most, if not all, of the sites heating demand. Due to the 

historical importance of the Corn Exchange, proposals will take time to fully develop and cost, then once finalised 

will need to pass through Listed Buildings Consent before implementation. It is likely that implementing such 

changes could take up to three years from conception through to delivery which would leave the building in a 

precarious situation with aged, inefficient boiler plant. 

Whilst the installation of ASHPs either on the small flat roof area at the Corn exchange or on the Grand Arcade Car 

Park both could be considered we would advise against them at this stage. While a full structural and spatial 

assessment of the existing space will confirm exactly what capacity could be installed on site, without making the 

aforementioned alterations to the building envelope and heating distribution system an ASHP would be unable to 

satisfy a meaningful proportion of the buildings heating demand. A commercial ASHP on the Grand arcade roof may 

Bouygues Energies & Services FM UK Ltd 

Future Business Centre – Cambridge - CB4 2HY 

01223 781 380 

www.bouygues-es.co.uk 

 

 
 

Page 149

http://www.bouygues-es.co.uk/


Page 2 

be able to satisfy the sites heating requirements at current design conditions but the costs associated with 

distribution pipework and trenching across Corn Exchange street will make any potential project commercially 

unviable. It is then likely that once the upgrades to the building envelope and heating systems have been made 

the heat pump at the Grand Arcade would be oversized to match the remaining load. 

I’m happy to go through this in greater detail should anybody have any queries. 

Warm regards, 

WINGATE, Alex 

ENERGY ENGINEER 

Page 150



 

 Report page no. 1       Agenda page no. 

 

Item 

Storey’s Field Centre Contract  

for Services Extension  

 

 
 

 
Non-Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The Storey’s Field Centre, on the Eddington Development in the North 

West of the City, opened to the public in February 2018 and has been 

managed under a contract for services with the Storey’s Field Centre 

Trust ( SFCT) by the City Council since July 2016 when the Centre 

manager was appointed .  

1.2 The initial contract was for a 5-year period which comes to an end on 

30 June 2021. The SFCT has recommended an 18-month extension to 

the existing contract whilst it considers recommendations made during 

a recent review of the Centre and its operations. 

1.3  The City Council has considered this option and recommends approval 

of this extension to ensure continuity for the Centre and staff during this 

To:  
Cllr. Anna Smith, Executive Cllr for Environment and Communities  
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee     25 March 2021  

Report by:  

Sally Roden, Neighbourhood Community Development Manager   

Tel: 01223 457861 Email: sally.roden@cambridge.gov.uk  

Wards affected:  

Newnham, Castle  

Page 151

Agenda Item 8

mailto:sally.roden@cambridge.gov.uk


 Report page no. 2       Agenda page no. 

 

 

period whilst changes are considered. It is the officers’ view that an 18-

month extension is an appropriate length of time for the Trust to make 

any necessary decisions.  

1.4 The previous contract was approved by Committee in 2015 and any 

further decisions after the 5-year period of the contract (which expires 

on 30 June 2021) requires approval by the Executive Councillor. 

2. Recommendations 
 
The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
 
2.1 Approve the extension to the existing contract for services for the Storey’s 
Field Centre for a further 18 months from 1st July 2021 – 31 December 2022. 
 
2.2 Delegate any further decisions in respect of the Council’s commitments to 
the implementation of the contract until 31 December 2022 to the Director of 
Communities.  
 

3. Background 
Page: 2 

  

3.1 The Storey’s Field Centre is located on the new district of Eddington in 
North West Cambridge and serves the new and existing communities in 
Newnham and Castle wards plus areas in South Cambs District Council  as 
well as citywide audiences for some of its programme . The Centre is 
overseen by a joint venture between the University and the City Council 
known as the Storey’s Field Centre Trust. The University and City Council 
both have a 50% stake in the company and nominate 3 representatives each 
to sit on the Trust. Under the section 106 agreement for the site the 
University is responsible for the full cost of the Joint Venture operations for 
the first 12 years, after which the City Council will be responsible for 50% of 
the costs. The 12-year period has only just commenced following the signing 
of the lease for the Centre and the land surrounding the Centre.   
 
3.2 Prior to the Centre opening the Trust appointed the City Council to 
manage the staff and oversee the day to day running of the Centre on its 
behalf. This was agreed by the Executive Cllr for Communities in October 
2015. The existing contract for services began in July 2016 when the Centre 
manager was appointed. The Centre did not open until February 2018 due to 
delays on site. The current contract ends on June 30, 2021. All staffing and 
management costs are reimbursed to the Council as part of the contract. 
There are separate contracts with the Trust for cleaning and maintenance 

Page 152



 Report page no. 3       Agenda page no. 

 

 

services. Any income raised through hire charges goes directly to the 
Storey’s Field Centre Trust.  
 
3.3   Since opening, the Centre has developed a programme of activity in line 
with the Centre business plan which includes community activity, arts and 
cultural events promoted by different organisations and commercial activity 
including weddings and conferences. In the second year of operation the 
Centre attracted 40,000 visits and generated over £106,000 in income from 
hire charges.  
 
3.4 The 3rd year of operation (20-21) has been significantly impacted due to 
the COVID 19 pandemic when the Centre has been closed for significant 
periods in line with government guidance.   
 
3.5 In the meantime the Trust has reviewed various aspects of the Centre’s 
operations and the Trust’s legal framework with consultants to determine the 
most effective structure and management arrangements going forward. This 
work will continue over the next year and councillors and officers will be 
working with Trustees and the University on these plans.  
 
3.6 Whilst the Trust undertakes the work outlined in 3.5 it has formally 
requested an extension to the current contract for services for an 18-month 
period. The officers consider this timeframe a suitable period to enable the 
Trust to carry out the review process and put in place any new arrangements 
for the management of the Centre going forward. It will also ensure continuity 
for the Centre, the community and staff during the ongoing pandemic and 
associated restrictions.  
 
3.7 The contract for services will include: 
Full cost recovery for the Council.  A contractual relationship between the 
Trust and the Council. The contract will be subject to VAT. The Council will 
continue to employ and manage all staff under the contract and be 
responsible for staffing matters, but not have any responsibility for any deficit 
during the first 12 years as outlined in the S106 agreement. 
 
  
 

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
There are no financial implications for the Council as all staff and 
management costs are paid by the Trust to the Council as part of the 
Contract for services. See section 3.7  

Page 153



 Report page no. 4       Agenda page no. 

 

 

b) Staffing Implications 
There are no staffing implications as all current staff will continue in post.  

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
N/A no change to current contract.  

d) Environmental Implications 
There are no environmental implications.  

e) Procurement Implications 
There are no procurement implications 

f) Community Safety Implications 
There are no community safety implications  

5. Consultation and communication considerations 
The recommendations in this report have been made following discussions 
with Trustees who include University and Council representatives.  
 

6. Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

Agenda for Community Services Scrutiny Committee on Thursday, 8th 
October, 2015, 2.30 pm - Cambridge Council 
 

7. Appendices 
N/ A 

8. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact Sally Roden , Neighbourhood Community Development Manager , 
tel:01223 457861 , email: sally.roden@cambridge.gov.uk . 

Page 154

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=176&MID=2791#AI14788
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=176&MID=2791#AI14788
mailto:sally.roden@cambridge.gov.uk

	Agenda
	6 Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management Plan 2021-2026
	Appendix 2 Climate Change Strategy
	Appendix 3 Action Plan
	Appendix 4 Carbon Management Plan

	7 Cambridge Corn Exchange Heating System
	Corn Exchange Decarbonisation

	8 Storey's Field Centre Future Management Arrangements

